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III
PREFACE

THIS THESIS is an attempt to examine and correlate the voyages

of the french in the Pacific Ocean during the latter part of the
eighteenth century. So far, no study of this kind has been
attempted, most recent research work in France and Australia

being directed towards problems of colonisation and administration.
Existing modern works on eighteenth-century French voyages are
very sparse, usually limited to broad accounts of indivihdual
voyages or to biographies, with little recourse to umpublished
sources. Lven studies of importance, such as the Swedish historian
Dahlgren's work on trading voyages, remain little known: it is
still customary, for instance, to refer to Bougainville as the
first French captain to complete a circumnavigation, whereas in
fact he was the eleventh.

To set this study within the proper historical perspective, it
has been necessary to give a brief summary $of early western attit-
udes of mind bowards the problem of the Pacific, to summarise
contemporary knowledge of the Pacific, particularly that of the
French, and to review those factors - often overlooked or neglected
- which contributed to the developing awareness of the Pacific among
the French in the late seventeenth and early eighteenth centuries :
the activities of buccaneers, adventurers, traders and scientists.
French eighteenth-century policy towards Pacific problems has been
eéxamined in detail by Dahlgren, but his work did not go beyond 1715;

French archives, especially those of the Ministry of Foreign
Affairs, remain largely untouched, but anything more detailedy
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than the introductory chapters of this thesis, which comprise
ol pages, would have led to unwieldiness or to a lack of
balance, and the political background has been only lightly
touched on.

The voyages are examined according to the following pattern:
their origin and their political or economic background, the
plans and instructions, the main participants, and a narrative
of the voyage itself, Discoveries and landfalls are discussed,
and the geographic, political and personal consequences of each

expedition bring the various chapters to an end.

A short survey of post-Napoleonic voyages conclude& the thesis i

and links it to existing studies of the colonial period,
The preparation of this thesis has been complicated by the
paucity of documents available in New Zealand, It seems to be

indeed the first time that any study of a major French political

or historical problem has been made in this country., In carrying

it out », a preliminary survey of sources available in New Zegland 1

was followed by two years’ full-time, and another two years' part-
time study. ©Not all printed works, and only a small proportion
of the relevant manuscripts on mierofilm, were available in this
country; it was obviously necessary to obtain many more on
microfilm, A few documents were to come from England, some from
French proVincial towns, the great bulk from Paris, This
necessitated lengthy and protracted correspondence with
government and municipal officials in France on whose goodwill
success depended, In spite of these difficulties, a great deal

was achieved, though after long delsys. In some cases, journals
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or documents known to have existed were found to have been
mislaid or misfiled; in others, the absence of correct
informétion as to their location hés hampered a search, A
scheme to obtain microfilms through the New Zealand Embassy
in Paris, using funds placed at its disposal by the N, Z.
Government for this purpose, failed through the inexperience
of the officials involved and their frequent reposting to other
countries, Nevertheless, this failure is not so serious as
might st first appear; for, when a microfilm was eventually
received, it proved to duplicate to a considerable extent
material already received through other channels, Documents
not used in this thesis will inevitably come to light, but it
is doubtful whether they will invalidate any of the broader
conclusions now reached, If anything, the difficulties
encountered in the preparation of the thesis prove that a
study of this kind can be completed in New Zealand if one is
prepared to pay the price in slow and detailed correspondence,
and by importuning a large number of people abroad who, it
should be stated, are often prepared to help far beyond the
limits of their duty, and to an extent that only a devotion
to history itself can explain,

It is impossible to acknowledge the help of all those who
have assisted in many ways, large or small, but a debt of
gratitude is due to Dr, J.C. Beaglehole, who supervised the
work, and to the staff of the Alexander Turnbull Library,

Wellington, through which incoming documents were channelled,
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NOTES ON THE _MAPS.

MAP NO, 1,

This mep shows, in schematic form, the tracks of the seven
French expeditions which sailed into the Pacifie during the second
half of the eighteenth century. (p.102)

MAP NO, 2.

The track of Bougainville's expedition through the Tuamotus
is shown; it illustrates the problem of identifying Les Quatre
Facardins, snd the guestion of whether any land could have been
gighted by the French to the south-west after leaving Haraiki,

(p«130)
MAP NO, 3.

This map shows Bougainville's track south of Mehetia and to
Tahiti, It illustrates the discovery of Tetiaroa, and suggests
that land seen ‘'above' this atoll must have been Moorea, (p.l145)
MAP NO, 4.

This mep shows Bougainville's route through the(gfzsgﬁbridea.
MAP NO, 5.

De Surville's landfall in the Solomons is shown, illustrating
the sighting of Cape Giraud and Choiseul, how de Surville failed
to discover Manning Strait, and his anchorage in Port Praslin,
near Santa Isabel. (p.228)

MAP NO, 6,

This general map shows how de Surville from the doldrums
north of New Guinea sailed to the Solomons, how close he came
to the Santg Cruz group, and to Australia, before sailing to
New Zealand, (p.243)



MAP NO, 7.

This map shows both de Surville's and Cook's tracks off the
northern coast of New Zealand, The midday observations indicate
how close the two explorers came to meeting, (p.249)

MAP NO, 8.

A double map shows Marion du Fresne's discoveries in the
South Indian Ocean, The first illustrates the track through
the Prince Edward group, and the probablg collision area; the
second illustrates the route through the Marion group, and the
probable bay where a landing was effected, (p.293)

MAP NO, 9.

This map outlines the probable route of Marion du Fresne's
expedition through the Tonga group, reconciling the reports of
the various offices, | (p.317)
MAP NO, 10.

This map shows the two anchorages at the Bay of Islands,

New Zealand, exploration by boat and on land, and the Maori
villages and French camps in the vicinity of the vessels. (p.304)
MAP No, II,

The two voyages of Kerguelen are shown: for the first voyage,

the track of the Gros Ventre has been shown separately; for the

second voyage, it has not been possible to show the detailed
manoeuvrings of the expedition, and only a summary of them is
marked, ' (p.364)
MAP NO, 12.

This general map illustrates the range of the voyage of La

Pérouse in the Pacific, and the exploration of the northern
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coasts of Asia and America. (p.412)

MAP NO, 13.

This illustrates the various theories put forward sbout the
wreck of La Pérouse's expedition on Vanikoro. The probable
wreck of the Astrolabe is marked near Peou, where a French
camp may have been built, Three theories about the Boussole
are shown: at Tanema, Nama and Vanu; in connection with the
latter two places the possible land routes of the survivors are
shown, (p.561)

MAP NO, 14,

Four possible routes for survivors of La Pérouse's
expedition, are shown, as well as the probgble routes of the
two ships from Port Jackson., Main currents and prevailing winds
are marked to illustrate the theory that the boat was driven off
course to the Great Barrier Reef, (p.503)

MAP NO, 15,

This shows the discovery of D'Entrecasteaux Channel, and
the routes followed by BbEntrecasteaux in 1792 and again in 1793,
MAP NO. 16. {paddS)

The route followed by Bougainville in the southern Louisiades,
and along the coast of New Ireland is shown, together with the
routes of H'Entrecasteaux in 1792 and 1793 in the same areas,
Map 1l6a shows Bougainville's discovery of Bougainville Island,
and links his exploration of the Louisiades and of New Ireland.
MAPS NO.17 AND NO. 18. i

D'Entrecasteaux's exploration of the west coast of New

Caledonia is illustrated by map 17. Some of the manoceuvres

have been shown in schematic form, The call made st Tongatapu
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' tegux is shown on the small map No, 18,
by d'Entrecastea o %51 & 470)

MAP NO. 19,

This track of Marchand's route through the Northern
Marquesas is based on Fleurieu's charts, modern outlines
and names being substituted for the rough outlines of the
old chart, (p.512)
MAPS NOS,20 to 22,

These form a composite map of Australia, leaving out
northern New South Wales and Queensland which were not

visited by the French. The various tracks of Baudin's

used throughout, (pp. 527,530,539)

BOUGAINYILLE'S CHARTS

ships are simplified where necessary, The same scale is
A. Photostat of part of Bougainville's chart of the
Archipel Dangereux (Tuamotus). (p. 129)
B Photostat of part of Bougainvillie's chart of Tahiti and
|
neighbouring islands, entitled 'Seconde Division, Archipel

de Bourbon'. (p. 143)

Both these charts appear in his Voyage autour du Monde...,
edition of 1771.



Part One

THE BACKGROUND



The Precursors.

Remote and immense, the Pacific did not yield its secrets
until the eighteenth century. The Spanish had discovered
it when Balboa climbed his peak in Darien, and soon after
this their men conquered the western coastlands of South Amer-
ica. Magellan was the first to sail across the immense
waters, and Spanish merchants sent cautious galleons to
follow a regular route from Central America to the Philippines.
The Dutch, with mercantile deliberation, settled in the East
Indies, whence they despatched captains on Journeyings that
outlined the continent of New Holland on the blank maps of
their age. The British first appeared in the Pacific in
sporadic, spectacular, piratical raids until, conscious as a
nation of the prizes that might await their conquerors under
the shelter of the green palms, they despatched scientific
explorers, merchants and missionaries. The French, having
stumbled on a mysterious land in the sixteenth century, were
obsessed by it when their time came to enter the South Sea.
And when the shadowy land faded in the swirling fogs of the
icy south, national pride, stung by the defeats of the Seven
Years' War, and quickened by their rivalry with Britain, drove
them doggedly into the further corners of the Pacific, and

along its lesser known coasts.



The explcoration of the Pacific was therefore not the
work of one man or ¢f one nation, but of Europe, There
was so much to discover - from the off-shore clusters of
islands to the tiny atolls, sprinkled over enormous areas
of tropical seas, from the closed world of Japan to the
secrets of Polynesia,

The distances were so great that they were complete
barriers to the coast-hugging ships of pre-compass days,
and all that could be done, was to speculate on the
existence of lands and continents beyond the equator -
but even speculation was restricted by the scope of man's
mind, Could the world extend beyond the limits imposed
by medieval philosophy, limits which reason itself appeared
to dictate - for was it after all, reasonable to expect
human beings to be found living underneath the world?

During the Middle Ages, the main obstacle was a theologic-
al one, Although Claudius Ptolemy, writing in Alexandria a
century and a half after the birth of Christ, had delineated
an unknown Southern Land on a map of the world, his work
remained largely unknown and unwanted by the medieval scholars,
who based their own cosmography on their reading of Holy Writ
and on the commentaries of the fathers of the Church, To

claim that there were islands beyond the reach of ships, was
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to believe that men were living beyond the reach of
Christian redemption, and to doom millions to ignorsnce
and possible damnstion,

Maps were simplified into schematic circular maps in
which the main districts of the world were compréssed,
usually with little regard for their size or respective
situgtions, and so new discoveries had to fit into the
accepted pattern, until eventually they exploded it into
another shape., In 1459, one of the last defenders of
the orthodox map, Fra Mauro, found it impossible to insert
the new islands of the East. Leaving out, among others,
Borneo, the Celebes and the Philippines, he excused himself
ingenously: 'In this Oriental Sea' he wrote, 'there are
many great and well-known islands that I have not set down
because I have no room, ' (1)

Traditional and medieval culture were to receive rude
shocks when the clash with the power of Islam brought into
the heart of scholasticism the knowledge of mysterious lands
beyond the horizon, The Crusades, the travels of Marco
Polo, and trade with the Moslems opened the door to a
wealth of knowledge and faery that the Western mind, with

its self-contained theology, had not allowed itself to imagine,

(1) @G. Collingridge, The Discovery of Australia, p.7n.
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The Arabs, reborn in a new dynamic religion, had
carried out explorations beyond the normal boundaries of
their desert sheikdoms, While their host poured into
Eﬁrope in an attempt to conguer the infidel, their traders
crossed the Sghara, raided deep into the Sudan and, striking
East, reached the fabled land of Cathay. (1)

‘Nor was enterprise limited to the Arabs, for evidence
exists that Chinese ships were sailing into the‘Persian
Gulf during the fifth century (2), while considerable trade
was carried out between China and India, whose own people
were beginning to spread out towards Cambodia, Java and
Sumatra. (32

These travels enabled Arab geographers to revise their
theories of the world, and news of their discoveries were
brought to the West by fighting men and by traders - the
Genoese had opened a trading post in Tunis in 1223 -
awakening the somnolent belief in an Austral land, which
religious orthodoxy had never really subdued, and which
Marco Polo, bringing back tales of great islands south of
the Chigfl Seas, confirmed and confused at the same time,

The older order fought back for snother two centuries,
Tradition dies hard, particularly when facts are few, and
the evidence unreliable and often contradictory, The

Renaissance finally swept it all away in a quarter of a

213 See Geo,H.T, Kimble, Geogra in the Middle Ages, p.122

2) J.Hornell, 'Sea Trade 1in Early Times', 1in quity,
September 1941, pp, 233-56,

(3) ibid. pp. 250-1.




century, spurred on by the invention of printing that
engbled the dissemination of maps o0ld and new,

All the new maps - and of the large number that were
printed between 1477 and 1570 a good proportion has
survived - showed in one way or another a great southern
continent, The tradition became ingrained in the minds
of geographers and, although this great continent shrank
in size from time to time, it was not until Cook had criss-
crossed the blank spaces of the maps that the theorists were
defeated,

Thus it happened that, whereas Columbus had set out to
discover a new route to an old continent, and had stumbled
accidentally upon the unknown one that barred his way, the
early explorers of the Pacific - and particularly the French -
were seeking a definite new continent in whose existence
they firmly believed, and which was to prove itself one of
the most tenacious fictions of history,

True, there was Australia, and it was this which, togeth-
er with the Indonesian chain, had probably given rise to the
tradition, Nicolas Baudin, at the beginning of the nine-
teenth century, met Malay fishermen looking for trepang off
the coast of Australia, and he realised that the great land
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that the Malays had known at least as far back as the
sixteenth century was in fact Australia. (1) This
knowledge, confused and vague, mingled with tales from
the Indonesian archipelago, had worked its way back to
China, to India and to Arabisa. But even Australia was
not the real southern continent which, in the minds of
the geographers, stretched from the tropics down to the
Antarctic, and from the western edge of the Indian Ocean
right across the restless immensity of the Pacific, On
the real South Laxig;lg‘gcund as many nations and kingdoms,
as many riches and articles of trade, as Europe herself
encompassed, It was a dream of gold, of strange races,
of entire populations to be saved for Christ, of wealth
and of congquest, There both El Dorado and Utopia had
their last refuge.,

Man, once he has accepted a belief, does not take long
to collect arguments to strengthen it, Whereas some years
earlier the southern continent had been illogical and even
heretical, it now became not only likely, but necessary to
the balance of the world; science now needed Terra Australis
to explain the spherical earth, Just as some insgpired map
makers in the Middle Ages had shown Europe, Asia and Africa

with a fourth and unknown continent added to preserve the

symmetry of their diagrams, so later physicists required an

(1) % 'It can therefore be presumed that they (the Malays)
discovered New Holland perhaps many centuries before the
Europeans themselves knew of the existence of the great
Asian archipelago, ' F.Péron, Voyage de Découvertes gux
Terres Australes’', Vol, II, p,248
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antipodean continent to counterbalance the land masses of
Eurasia and of Africa. Without it, the world would topple
over. This was the equilibrium theory that led both arm-
chair and sailing geographers to believe that a continent
ought to be found in the South Pacific, and for some to hold
on to that belief even when appearances began to tend to the
contrary.

Yet, all was not empty theorising; there were some shreds
of evidence. Reason, after all, required more evidence than
the mere need of keeping the globe on an even keel. If a
large continent existed such as the rumours reported and
cosmographers needed, then some of the European navigators
who were, during the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries,
travelling across known seas should at least find occasional
indications of the presence of land. There were several,
such as Juan Fernandez in 1576, who was reported, however un-
reliably, to have discovered land along the fortieth parallel,
or Theodor Gerards, driven by a tempest into sight of snow-
covered mountains somewhere to the south of Cape Horn.

The most circumstantial and tantalising account, however,
concerned an earlier landfall by a French sailor at the begin-
ning of the sixteenth century. It was reported in more sober
terms than were most journeys of his day, with just enough
information to make it dredible, though not‘enough to make it
verﬁable. Although no immediate attempts were made to return

to the land claimed to have been visited during this voyage,
belief in its existence greatly influenced the French during the
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seventeenth and eighteenth centuries, and gave rise to
several expeditions to rediscover it, It provided at once
evidence of the existence of a great continent, and oppor-
tunities for trade enhancing the wealth as well as the
prestige of France,

The Espoir, 120 tons, had left Honfleur in Normandy on
24 June 1503, Its motley crew of 60 officers, men and

adventuriers was commanded by Binot Paulmyer, of the Buschet

de Gonneville family, members of the low nobility of France. (1)
Eighteen days later, the French reached the Canaries and at

the end of July landed at Cape Verde, where they remained for

ten days., Because the destination of the expedition was not

firmly fixed - they were going a laventure to find wealth and lands

as yetl unknown, along the route that Vasco de Gama had pioneered
five years earlier - there is some speculation about the
direction in which they sailed after leaving Africa, but it
seems likely that they went south-south-west, crossing the
equator in early September,

On 9 November, they found quantities of floating seaweed,
and this, so the two Portuguese who had Joined the expedition
to lend the experience they had gained on a previous voyage
assured them, was a sign that they had reached the neighbour-
hood of the Cape of Good Hope,

(1) Even timt much is in doubt, C,Breard, in Notes sur la

femille du Capitaine Gonneville navigateur normand au
XVlie siccle !%ouen ICiE,, Pelleves that the captain's
correct

name is Binot,

R o T e B T
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At this stage disaster struck. Contrary winds drove
them.off course time and again, and after three weeks their
chief 'pilote' died. A violent storm followed, and the
crew, sick and terrified in unknown latitudes, aiiowed the
small ship to drift helplessly at the mercy of the waves
and currents. When the gale and the mighty swell calmed
down, they neither knew where they were nor, strangely
enough, had the courage or the ability to find out. There
is no record of a reckoning of latitude, something that was
by no means beyond the power of a navigator of the time.
Instead, they looked for signs of land and, observing a
number of birds flying to and from the south, set sail in
that direction. On 5 January 1504, they reached what, for
want of a better term, we shall call annev1lle Land.

Here they were well treated by the natives, and spent
six months refitting their ship and laying stores for the
return journey. This was begun in July, and this time two
new-comers joined the expedition - Essomeric, a son of the
local king, and another 'Indian', who was presumably

Essomeric's attendant.
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They did not see land again until three months later.
This apparently was the coast of South America, though which
part of it is not easy to say, as no latitudes are given.
They decided to obtain local goods to bring back to France
in order to recover the capital invested by the owners, a
sure indication that, whatever Gonneville Land may have been,
it was not commercially profitable. This last fact was
often overlooked by the geographers, who were pressing in
the eighteenth century for expeditions to the Southern Cont-
inent, where, so they declared, riches of all kinds, known
and unknown, awaited the bold adventurer.

In February 1505, the Espoir recressed the Line, reach-
ing the Azores in March. The French found that their
troubles were not yet over; as the ship limped home up the
Channel towards the Norman coast, an English pirate appeared
and, in an attempt to escape, the Espoir foundered off the
Channel Islands. Twenty-six of the original sixty reached
France, together with Essomeric - the other Indian, Namoa,

having died on the way.
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The ship's papers, such as they were, had been lost
in the =ss=mwreck, together with various gifts from the
inhabitants of Gonneville Land, that would have identified
that country for us, Fortunately, the slight hope that some
restitution might be obtained from the English helped to prod
Gonneville into making an affidavit before the naval suthorities,
that remains the only evidence of the entire enterprise, (1)

Gonneville's account was accepted, but no one was willing
to support another expedition to the new land, least of all the
Honfleur merchants, who had lost so heavily on the first
venture, Map makers, when they were aware of his journey,
included Gonneville Land on their maps; - we find, for instance,
in 1648, when interest in Gonneville was re-awakening, Louis
de Mayenne Turquet showing it in the region of the fifty-second
parallel, in the neighbourhood of Kerguelen Island, Generally
speaking, however, the journey itself remained in comparative
oblivion until well into the seventeenth century,

The captain, unsble to gain any support for a return voyage
to the new land, could not keep a promise he had made to Esso-
meric to return him, in time, to his people. To compensate
for this, he adopted him into his own family, gave him g

relative in marriage, and died, still dreaming of the South.,

(1) 'Déclaration du Végage du Capitaine Gonneuille et ses
Compaggpnsggp Indes, " 19 June 1505, An authenficated
copy dated 30 August 1658 is still extant in the Arsenal
Library, Paris; it was reprinted in 1869 by M.d'Avezac.
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There the tale might have ended, and indeed have been
lost, had it not been for the fact that a century and a
half later the French, chrcnically short of money for their
national finances, were collecting a tax on all foreigners
whe had settled in France, and who had not been naturelised,

The descendants of Essomeric found themselveg in this
category, and they decided to fight the case at law on the
grounds that they were not descended from a foreigner who had
voluntarily settled in the country, but from one who had been
brought there on the false grounds that he would te returned
to his homelsnd; alternatively that the promige to return him
had been made in good faith, but had been subsequently Troken
by the French., They won their case,

This event had one result of impertance to others, for it
preserved for posterity a copy of the affidavit signed by
Gonneville after his shipwreck, It also revived interest in
the wheregbouts of the southern land,

Shortly after this, a descendant of Essomeric, Jean Pgulmier
de Courtcnne, canon of St, Peter':ilisieux, put forward a plea
for a missionary expedition to his people, 1In spite of the

support of high Church dignitaries (1), the plea came to nothing,

(1) including St. Vincent de Paul. The atmosphere of the time
was favourable to the establishment of missions. The French
Société des Missions Etrangeres was founded in 1663, the year
in which Paulmier's pamphlet was published, The Roman
Congregation for the Propagation of the Faith was already
established, dating from 1622,
See P.0'Reilly, le Chanoine Paulmier de Courtonne et son
Project d'Evangélisation des Terres Austreies,
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but it did bring the Espoir's journey to the notice of the
public, as the pamphlet included a detailed account based
on old Gonneville's affidasvit of 1505, (1)

The difficulty was that the fifteenth century 'Declara-
tion' did not give any indication which might enable geo-
graphers to identify Gonneville Land - neither lgtitude nor
estimgted longitude, and no bearings of any kind, However
worthy Father Paulmier de Cortonne's missionary efforts may
have been, they foundered cn the fact that neither he, nor
anyone else, knew from which part of the world his ancestor
hgd come,

There were innumerable guesses, ranging over most of the
Southern Hemisphere, from the east coast of South America to
Madagascar and New Zealand. Bénard de ls Harpe believed he
had really landed in North America, (2) but even a cursory
perusgl of the 'Declaration' will disprove this, Kerguelen,
who searched in vain for Gonneville Land, returned with the
conviction that the landfall had been Madagascar., La Borde
believed it to have been not far from New Zealand (3), Leplace

favoured the west coast of Africa (4).

(1) Mémoires touchant 1'établissement d'une Mission
Chrestienne dans le Troisiéme monde autrement appelé

1la Terre Australe, NMéridionale, Antartique et
Inconnue, Dédiez 3 Notre S,P2&re le Pape Alexandre v1l,
par un Ecclesiastiqgg Originaire de cette mesme Terre,
first impression 1663, second 1664,

(2) Bénard de la Harpe, Mémoire pour la France servant a
la découverte des Terres Australes, cinguiéme partie
du Monde, pp.l11-13, B,N.,N, A, F, 9341-Cn 117-370,

(3) Histoire Abrégée de la Mer du Sud, pp, 73-81,
(4) Voyage autour du Monde, Vol., 1, p.l8&l,
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In time, doubt was cast as to whether Gonneville
had actually turned the Cape of Good Hope, (1) 1In
1783, following the publication of Kerguelen's
account of his voyage, a certain Baron de Gonneville,
hoping to gain favour with the Minister of the Navy,
wrote to him expressing his belief that a certified
copy of the declaration could be found among the old
ramily papers of the 'present owner of the Gonneville
estate situated a league from Honfleur, ' (2) He was
encouraged to unearth this, succeeded in so doing, and
a copy was duly forwarded to the Ministry. (3) The
wording did not indicate that the Espoir had passed
the Cape, but that it merely reached that latitude., (4)
This difference was glossed over, and this version was
rejected as a poor transcription resulting from the
Baron's inexperience, s= one which added nothing to

what was already

(1) 'Adoubla the Cap des Tourmentes',

(2) Baron de Gonneville to Minister of the Navy. 23 March 1783
BN. , NAF, 9439,

(3) Baron de Gomneville to Minister of the Navy, 30 April 1783
BN. b NAF. 9459.

(4) 'Estant & la hauteur du Gap des Tourmentes' ...
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known, (1) It d4id in fact hold the missing clue, but
nearly a hundred years passed before it was correctly
interpreted.

In 1847, a French scholar, Pierre Margry, found in
the Archives of the Marine the copy made by the unlucky
Baron, Noting the difference in the wording, he put
forward the theory that Gonneville had never reached the
Indian Ocean, but had in fact landed somewhere in South
America, having followed Vasco de Gama's advice to take
advantage of the westerly winds further south, (2)

(1) The Baron, became rather discredited, but continued
his researches right up to the beginning of the
French Revolution, unearthinq charts of islands
'situated in the Austral Sea' , compiling a list
of discoveries allegedly made in the Pacific
between 1503 and 1785, and drawing up a fanciful
genealogy of Essomeric, which he forwarded to
Fleurieu, His letters are kept at the Bibliothaque
Nationale, N,A.F, 9439, and at the Service Hydrographigque
de la Marine, Cn,117, No, 17,

(2) Les Navigations Francaises et la Révolution Maritime
du-XIVe au XVIe SiScie, printed in 1867, pp., 159-60,
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It was in this way that Cabral in 1500 had stumbled upon
the Brazilian coast, while on his way to Indisa,

Shortly after this, however, an authenticated copy of
the 1506 affidavit came to light in the Bibliotﬁ;que de
1'Arsenal, proving that the Baron de Gonneville had been
right, and that the Abbé Paulmier had been careless, The
Espoir had apparently never reached the Cape.

On this evidence, Mr, d'Avezac, who edited that affidavit,
was able to construct an elaborate theory confirming Margry's
earlier work, (1) The floating seaweed is found in the south-
west Atlantic, and the prevailing winds would have driven the
ship further north-west to the coast of South America,

Yet,although d'Avezac made a thorough use of the descrip-
tions left by Gonneville, he could not fgil to leave some
unexplained qguestions,

Did the Abb€ Paulmier base his work on a family tradition
that the Espoir had actually entered the Indian Ocean ? In his
affidavit, Gonneville was careful to omit any detail that might
lead to the identification of his discovery, It was a normal
and wise precaution calculated to prevent some other young
voyager from reaching Gonneville Land, and stealing the fruits
of his discovery, but it would be strange if he had not, at
some time before his death, passed on to his family all that

he knew of his journey.,

e du Navire L'Espoir de Honfleur 1503-1505,
(1) g:magion authentique ddEVoya e du Capitaine de Gonneville
&8s Nouvelles terres des Indes (Paris 1869), in which the
1658 suthenticated copy of the original affidavit is reprin-
ted under the title: Déclaration du Végage du Capitaine
Gonneuille et ses compagnons és Indes, (sic),

o




The promise he had m;dgst; the local king to return his
son Essomeric to his homeland after a few years in France
remains another imponderable, If CGonneville did not know
where he was, how could he make such a promise? It is clear
that he had no doubt that he could easily find his way back
to Gonneville Land, but it is doubtful whether he believed
himself to be in Brazil, a country already known to the
Normans and where, not many years later, the French were to
make an gbortive gttempt to settle,

A settlement was actually made in 1530 at St. Alexis
under Duperet and de la Motte, but it was destroyed by the
Portuguese jealously defending their nascent empire. (1) In
1555, two ships under Nicolas Durand de Villegagnon left le
Havre, and formed a colony where Ric de Janeiro now stands.
Two years later, more immigrants arrived under Villegagnon's
nephew, Bols le Comte, this time from Honfleur, Gonneville's
own town, The colony, called 'France Antarctique' foundered
when religious disputes divided it, and the Portuguese finally
wiped it out in 1566, It had been a Norman settlement,
reflecting the local interest in the Brazilian mainland where
for many years French ships had been obtaining 'bois-de-brésil,'’
monkeys, parrots and feathers, in the face of growing Portuguese
opposition, Both Essomeric and Gonneville were dead by then,
and the period of the Wars of Religion would hardly have been
a propitious time for g missionary venture to foreign parts,
even if Essomeric's French-orn descendants had felt inclined to

return to the land of their fathers,

(1) Ch, de la Ronciére,

Histoire de 1a Marine
vol, 111, PP. 280-2, —oatee

|
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What is strange is that, in spite of the fact that the
Paulmier de Gonneville family lived in the province where
interest in Brazil was so keen (1), and therefore knowledge
of South America would have been more reliable than in other
towns, Essomeric's great-grandson, an educated Norman cleric,
should have personally believed that his ancestors had come
from a southern land east of the Cape, and not from the
obvious plasce - Brazil.

Be that as it may, the French entered the age of Pacific
exploration with the Gonneville tradition firmly established.
To many, the task was not so much the exploration of unknown
spaces, as the rediscovery of a lost continent. It might
have been better if they had turned their attentions to the
East, instead of to the South. There were more precedents

for it.
In 1527, the Marie de Bon Secours had left Rouen for Diu,

an island south of Saurashtra in India, but in the Portuguese
sphere of influence. It was only one of several ships eng-
aged in trade with the Indian sub-continent, a dangerous
enterprise, as it infringed the Portuguese monopoly granted
by the Pope in the Treaty of Tordesillas in 1494, a judgment

of Solomon that divided the New World between Spain and Port-
ugal. (2)

(1) For a description of a 'féte brésilienne' held in Rouen
in 1550, seeibid., vol. IV, p.1l0.

(2) Ch. de la Ronciére, ibid., vol.III, pp. 268-9.
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In 1529, two ships, the Sacre and the Pensée,left
Dieppe for Sumatra, from which they returned richly loaded
after a singularly fortunate voyage.

The possibility of ships from Dieppe having reached
China a few years later cannot be excluded, (1) so that
during the sixteenth century the Orient was opening out to
the French as much as to other European nations, However,
although tales of the wonderful and fasbulous East were not
wanting, they availed little to the French who soon found
themselves outdistanced by the Dutch in the East Indies,
and outmanoeuvered by the British in India. The real lure
was the mysterious South, a tantalising continent, and a
persistent mirage that was spurned only by scientifically-
minded sailors like Bougainville and La Pérouse, out of the
many French ngvigators who ventured towards the Pscific in
the eighteenth century, (2)

%* S &
The first Frenchmen to enter the Pacific were the
nineteen anonymous sailors who had joined Magellan's fleet,

though none of them survived, (3) Since ships have always

(1) For a discussion of possible early French voyages to
China, see P, Margry, Les Navigations Francaises et la
Révolution Maritime du XIVe au XvVie sidcle, pp.185-01,

() For a single abortive sixteenth century French voyage
to the South Land, see Péninfra,

(8) & A.Robertson (ed.), Magellan's Voyage around the World,
vol, I, p.204,
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sailed with crews of mixed nationalities, it is likely that
other Frenchmen entered the ocean in the sixteenth century
under the Spanish flag, but there are no records to vouch
for this.,

All was silence until 1608, when a forty-year-old Breton
expatriate, Pierre Olivier Malherbe, returned to Paris with
tales of fabulous eastern kingdoms, After some years in
Spain, he had apparently gone to Peru, travelling overland
from Mexico, and had then embarked on a ship bound for the
mysterious islands of Solomon, The expedition was shipwrecked
off the coast of Patagonia, but Malherbe somehow got across
to Canton, presumably via the Philippines, He spent several
years in India, where he met the great Akbar, and later con-
tinued his world tour overland to the Middle East where, after
further adventures, he found a ship which took him to Marseilles(l)

How much of this story was true, no one has discovered,
but there is nothing unlikely sbout s pseudo-Spaniard, as
he claimed to be, making his way to the New World, His claim
to have sailed on an expedition to the islands of Solomon
appears at first to be a fabrication, but it is not entirely
improbable that he joined an unofficial group of adventurers
who were attempting to reach the islands, some time between

Mendana's voyage of 1595 and Quiros's of 16086.

(1) 'Le Premier Voyage Frangais autour du Monde', by Ch. de
la Ronciére, in La Revue Hebdomadaire,September 1907, pp.
22-36; also, de la Roncieére, Histoire de la Marine Frangaise,
vol, IV, p.288, E.W. Dahlgren was inclined to doubt Malherbe;
see Relations Commerciales et Maritimes, Pe-86,




Malherbe may have been followed into the Pacific by
Jean Baptiste de la Feuillsde, of Rouen, who may have crossed
the Pacific from the Moluccas, and been wrecked in the Straits
of Magellan in 1667, but again whether this voyage ever took
place remains open to gquestion, (1)

It is far more probable that the first ship to enter the
Pacific under the command of a Frenchman belonged to a group
of buccaneers, for it was they who, in the 1680's, sailed into
the waters which had, so far, known only the flags of Spain,
Portugal, Holland and England, The French had never recognised
the Treaty of Tordesillas; Francis I, rejecting all the
implications of the Treaty, had enjoined French Privateers 'to
proceed against the Spanish and the Portuguese in such a manner
as may best secure their own advantage, until the said Spanish
and Portuguese shall suffer trade to be free within the bound-
aries of the said lands and seas of the Indies and of America,
and shall give them free entry and access to that end into
these countries, and into the ports and harbours of the same,
that they may traffic and do business there, ' (2)

For many years, Francdis's hopes were fulfilled only along
the eastern segboard of America, but the Dutch Wars of 1672-8
had given a strong impulse to the corsairs, and, when peace
came, some of the privateers joined the pirates of the Caribbean,

and at last attacked the rich and ill-defended South American

(1) A single mention of this voyage is made by the Spaniard
Francisco de Seixas y Lovera in his Théftre Naval Hydrograph-
gue,published in 1704; an account is given in J. Burney's
Chronological History, vol., IlI, PP.269-7O

(2) Maurice Bessom, T'Scourge of the Indies, ¥ p,. 4,
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colonies along the Pacific coast, just as the Englishman
Drake had done before them,

One of the best known of these adventurers, owing to the
account of his voyages that was published on his return to
France, was Ravenau de Lussan, (1) A Parisian, he had taken
part in the siege of Condé but, being unemployed after the war,
had made his way to Santo Domingo, where he had joined the
filibusters,

They decided to try their luck in the Pgeific, where other
buccaneers had obtained considerable booty, Leaving their
ship, they travelled overland across the isthmus of Panamag,
and fell in with a large group of Englishmen and Frenchmen,
who had come through the Straits of Magellan, (2) The buccaneers,
over a thousand in number, disposed of ten ships, under the
command of one David, (3) an Englishman whose correct name
was Edward Davis, (4) and who later was to play an important
part in the story of the Pacific, Others in the expedition
were Captain Swan, of the Cygnet; Captain Townsley; Captain
'Brandy's who was probably that Bradely who had sailed with
Henry Morgan; and Willigm Dampier, who was to become the most

famous of them gll, They carried out successful raids against

(1) Journal du Voyage fait & la Mer du Sud avec les filibustiers
de l'Amerigue en 1684 et années suivantes, Paris, 1689, See

also Dalhgreen, Relations Commerciales et Maritimes, pp, 90-5
éz% Ravenau, Ibid.,Dp. 63.

3) Ravenau és=tussamy Ibid., p.60

4) Both Ravenau and Alexandre Oexmelin (or Esquemeli state

that David came from the Low Countries, 'Of all these commanders,
there was only Capt,Grognier who was French, all the others belonged
to the English nation, except David who was Flemish', Ravenau,

Ibid., p.6l. Oexmelin who also went to the Pacific with buceaneers

e
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the wealthy settlements, which relied more on their inaccess-
ibility than on their military preparedness for their defence.
The Viceroy of Peru did gather a fleet which he dispatched
against the raiders, but the French and the knglish repelled
it without great difficulty and inflicted heavy losses on the
Spanish.

Thieves, however, usually fall out, and the assembly of
pirates of which Ravenau was a member was no exception. It
is worth recording that the subject of the dispute - religion -
was an unusual one for men engaged in rapine and murder. The
Roman Catholic French objected to the deseeration of churches,
crucifixes and holy statues, which Protestant Englishmen
regarded as popish abominations. There were no doubt other,
more sordid,reasons for the breakup, and all that is certain
is that the loose confederation fell to pieces, and that, in
January 1688, Ravenau and his compatriots returned the way
they had come.

It was far less troublesome for the bmuccaneers to attack

(4) cont'd. ....gives David's first name as John; see his
Histoires des Aventuriers qui se sont signalés dans les Indes
vol.I. p.l183. There is little reason, however, to doubt Philip
Gosse's identification of John David as Edward Davis; P.Gosse,
Pirate's Who's Who, p.l1l04. A possible explanation for the
confusion may be that Davis' ship, the Batchelor's Delight, had
been captured from the Danes, and this fact could have become
distorted by some confused buccaneers into a statement that
Davis came from the Netherlands. See also on this P.K.Kemp

and C.Lloyd, The Brethen of the Coast, pp.87-138.
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the Spanish ships in the Atlantic, as they sailed from the
mginland for Spain with the treasure that had been brought
from Peru end Chile, than for them to enter the lonely Pacific.
The reglisation of this fact, and the energetic efforts that
were made to reduce the activities of pirates at the turn of
the century, meant that the South Seas were again comparatively
safe by the 1700's, but the French incursions had awakened
the dormant attention of shipowners and merchants to the
roseibility of trade with the rich seabosrds of the Pacific.
'The idea of these enterprises (to the Pacific] is certainly
due to the stories of filibusters' expeditions to the South
Seas. ' (1)

Among the former buccaneers who returned to France to
spend the proceeds of their semi-respectable lsbours was
one Massertie (2), a native of Bordeaux, who wrote an sccount
of his operations in the New World between the years 1683 and
1693, He gained the ear of Jean-Baptiste de Gennes, a naval
officer who was later Governor of the West Indian island of
St. Christopher, Massertie extolled the riches of the golden
West, and stressed the ease with which they might be garnered,
No doubt, he saw himself playing an important part in any
expedition that might set out, and there may also have been

a real dash of patriotism in his enthusiasm,

(1) Dehlgren, Relations Commerciales et Maritimes, p. 89

(2) Sometimes misnamed Macarthy and dubbed an Irishman.
Dghlgren, Ibid; p.99n,
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And now events favoured his proposals, Spain was
weakened by the struggle between the pro-French and the pro-
Austrian parties and, in spite of the untimely death of Charles
II's French wife in 1689, the ability of Louis XIV, with whom
ascendancy over Spain had become an obsessicn, kept French
influence paramount in Msdrid, Furthermore, the Spanish
policy of exclusiveness might end at any time, and it was
therefore important to maintain respect for the French in the
Spanish colonies, in case trade between France and these
possessions could be started, leading to the opening of a
westward route into the Pacific,

On 3 June 1695, de Gennes sailed from La Rochelle with
six ships bound for the Pacific and lucrative trade, He
had the king's blessing, = complement of 720 men and a totsl
of 186 guns, enough to force the Spanish guthorities td respect
him if they showed themselves reluctant to honour the letters
he carried, (1) The French had not reckoned on Nature, which
was still on Spain's side, De Gennes entered the Straits of

Magellan in February 1696; w=wd six weeks later he was still

there, battling agsinst the contrary winds, the tides, the storms.

(1) The full list, as available, of these and lster expeditions
will be found in 'Voyages Frangais a destination de 1la Mer
du Sud avant Bougainville (1695-1746)' by E.W.Dahlgren, in
Nouvelles Archives des Missions Scientifi ues,vol, XIV,
Farther details, and notably the political implications,

will be found in Dr. Dahlgren's Les Relations Commerciagles

et Maritimes entre la France et Tes COtes de 1'Océan Pacifique

ey

(Commencement du XViile Siécle), vol, I, Paris, 1909, The
projected second volume of this work never appeared,
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He was less than half-way to the western outlet; he had
fallen out with one of his captains; the crews, which had
already suffered from scurvy during the crossing of the
Atlantic, wére by now reduced to eating rats to vary thelr
diet of worm-eaten biscuits. De Gennes turned back, defeated,
and, in April 1697, limped into La Rochelle. (1)

The expedition was not an absolute failure. It was a
salutary warning of the practical difficulties which barred
the way to regular trade with the South Sea, should it ever
become legalised. Nor were de Gennes' struggles in the Straits
completely wasted. The French had had no reliable first-hand
knowledge of navigation in these intricate channels: the
trail was now blazed, at least to the half-way mark.(2)

Louis XIV let the matter drop for the time being. The
Peace of Ryswick had just ended the War of the League of
Augsburg, and he was planning his next move, which was to lead
to the War of the Spanish Succession. If Charles II, whose
death could not now be far away, should leave Spain to a
French king, as Louls anticipated, then the Pacific trade would
be opened to France, and the experience gaiped by de Gennes

could be put to useful purpose.

(1) Dahlgren, Relations Commerciales et Maritimes, pp.lOl-2.

(2) An account of the voyage, by Frangois Froger, appeared
in 1702.
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In 1698, not long after de Gennes' return, a plan had
been put forward by a Sieur de Beaujean to sail round thé
world by passing through the Straits of Magellan or Le Maire (1);
in the following year de Voutron asked for 'two medium size
ships, good sailers,' food for fifteen months, and a small
vessel for coastal work, (2) for the same purpose. But such
plans were premature, it was only the traders willing to hazard
their own capital who stood any chance of success. With a
minimum of delay, Jean Jourdan, a wealthy merchant whose
machinations criss-cross the pattern of the entire French South
Sea trade at this time, organised an expedition to the Pacific,
of which de Gemnes was to be the commander. There were gto be
seven ships, a total crew of 689 men, together with officers
and soldiers. Insufficient capital forced him to reconsider
this grandiose plan, and it was agreed by all except de Gennes

that only four ships could be financed.

(1) 'Proposition de faire le tour du Monde,' 'lMémoire du
Sieur de Beaujean 3 M. de la Touche,' B.N., N.A.F.9341.

(2) Letters fr%m de Voutron to Minister of Navy, 10 February
and 3 October 1699. B.N., N.A.F.9341.




- o7 -

De Gennes, whose difficulties in the Straits of Magellan
had persuaded him that only a fully-organised expedition
on a large scale could succeed, resigned, and the command
devolved on de Beauchesne-Gouin, (1)

They sailed from La Rochelle on 17 December 1698,
Within a very short time, their number was halved; the

Bonne Nouvelle was forced to return after being severely

damaged in a storm, while the Nécessaire was wrecked off

the coast of Brittany. The other two waited for them for
some time in Brazil, before going down to the Straits, which
they entered in June 1699 - mid-winter in the Southern
Hemisphere, They spent an astonishing six months there,
during which they took possession of an island they named
Ile Louis-le Grand (2), end, on 21 January 1700, after
suffering greatly in the cold and barren straits, they
emerged into the Pacific.

They speedily sailed up to Callao where the viceroy of
Peru issued strict orders that no trading was to be allowed,
These instructions were completely ignored, and the French
did a roaring trade, Later, in Guayaquil, they met with
similar success, selling all the-goods they had left, even
those which had been damaged during the long voyage. They
made fpr home in January 1701, this time rounding the Horn,
and went up to Rio de Janeiro, one ship towing the other whose

rudder was damaged. By August they were back in France,

(1) More correctly Jacgques Gouin de Beguchesne, The four ships
were the Phelipeaux,the Comgte de Maurepas, the Bonne Nouvelle
and the Nécessaire. See Dahlgren’s Relations Commerciales and
Maritimes, pp, 123-46

(2) Tater known as Isla de Carlos III.
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In spite of its success on the coast, the expedition
still resulted in a financial loss - it disappointed Jourdan,
who had had more success with the Amphitryte which had

retpuned from China the year before - but it was valuable

in meny other respects., It provéd that trade with South

America was possible in spite of the official Spanish policy

of exclusiveness, Beauchesne, who was an able sailor, had

explored the Straits of Magellan and drawn careful charts of

the little-known waters, He had also discovered Beauchesne

Island, to the south of the Falkland Islands, and this name

still remains today as a tribute to his work., As de la

Ronciére comments, 'one could not stress too strongly the

scientific results of this voyage, with charts of the straits

of Magellan by the ingénieur Duplessis; drawings in colour of

the fauna of the Pacific ....ethnography and linguistic study

of the natives of Tierrs del Fuego, nautical lore of the South

Sea Indians who used strange craft made of bundles of reeds, '(1)
Beauchesne's pioneering expedition had prompt results:

within a short time, the race began - a test of French mercasntile

ingenuity, It was at times possible to obtain permission to

sail into the South Sea (2) but, failing this, a captain could

leave with the connivance of the local officials, or simply

conceal his real destination. The whole trade broke the

monopoly of the 'Compagnie des Indes,' which had had the Pacific

(1) Cﬁ. de ia Ronciere, 'Les Antilles', in Histoire des Colonies

Francaises et de 1'Expansion de la France, (ed. G.Hanotaux
and A, Martineau), vol.I, Ch, 1L, 0,426,

(2) The French referred to the Pacific as the South Sea, while
the British normally used the plural South Seas.

| B
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included in its charter, and objected to others availing them-
selves of opportunities that lay beyond its own powers. Soon
a tangle of legal suits, official orders and counter-orders,
enmeshed all the participants. Traders and lawyers, accust-
omed to move with ease within the fitful workings of a creak-
ing administration, spent their time erecting innumerable
compromises. An intense dplomatic activity tried to reconcile
the clamorous demands of the French shipowners with the
equally vocal complaints of the Spanish merchants.

The situation was complicated by the fact that Charles II
had named Louis XIV's grandson as his heir and that, upon the
death of the Spanish king in 1700, the Duc d'Anjou, as Philip Vs
had ascended the Spanish throne. Europe was now at war over
this very question, and France and Spain found themselves side
by side as allies. The Spanish argued, not without reason,
that this did not justify the infringement of a Spanish monop-
oly which provided much-needed revenue for the Spanish Treasury,
but the French pointed out with realism that the Spanish navy
was not strong enough to police the colonies, and that the
presence of French ships in South America would ensure the
continued loyalty of the colonists to the Bourbon cause.

In fact, the war in progress held as its prize the Indies
trade; the French would obtain it from a Bourbon victory;
the British hoped for it as a reward for their championing of
the rival pretender, Charles of Austria. Although things did
not turn out quite so neatly as either wished, this line of
thought controlled official policy.
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The traders were less willing to await the outcome of
the war, There were prizes to be had, all the richer for
the dislocation of Spain's regular trade and the weakness

of her navy. The Phélipeaux and the Comte de Maurepas had

shown that large squadraens were not necessary and, although
ships would sometimes travel together for safety and con-
venience, they usually left singly.

In QOctober 1701, Julien Bourdas sent the St,Paul, a
vessel of 230 tons with a total complement of 50 men; a

few days earlier, Noel Danycan had sent the Président de

Grenedan and the Comte de la Beyodére, of 250 tons each. (1)

The St.Paul had sailed from St. Malo, ostensibly bound for
the Canaries, but, 'finding it impossible to sell its goods
there,"it sailed on to Peru, The excuse was so implausible
that the captain was afraid to return direct to France: ﬁc
salled instead to Portugal,where the silver was unloaded
safely, out of reach of the king's officers, (2) On 8 June
1703 the ship arrived in Marseilles, where the crew was ‘
speedily paid off, while the captain travelled overland to ‘
render account of his profitable stewardship to Julien Bourdas.
The Grenédan and the Beyodere had reached Concepcion
at the end of March 1702, The French were most cordially
welcomed by the Spanish in the belief that they had come on an

official goodwill mission, but their hosts were rapidly disabused

élg Dahlgren, Relations commerciales et maritimes, p,152
e Ibid., p.250-1
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when the visitors started to trade.
Their success encouraged others to follow suit, A
month after the Grenédan and the Beyodére had returned
to France, three ships (1) sailed for the South Sea on
behalf of a syndicate of St, Malo merchants, They entered
the Pacific not by the Straits, but by Cape Horn, and thus
merchamtmen
earned the distinction of being the first Frenchm?n to have

done so from east to west., Their number proved useful for,

when the faster ship St., Joseph reached the island of Juan

Fernandez, she fell in with the Englishman Dampier, and a
combat began, which Dampier quickly abandoned when he saw
two more French sails appearing on the horizon,

The Spanish were neither pleased by their arrival,nor
impressed by their exploit against the English raider. They
considered three ships rather too many, particularly in view
of the recent visit of Danycan's expedition, Nevertheless,
trade was carried out satisfactorily on a basis of friendly
bribery and contraband, and when the ships left Callao in
September 1704 the captains had every reason to be satisfied,

Shipowners from other towns now began to rival St., Malo,
In December 1703, the St,Pierre left Toulon (2) on the south
coast, also bound for the Pacific. Some ten days later, Noel

Danycan sent out two more ships, the St. Charles and the

Murinet,on a voyage that is significant for the fact that

passengers for the Pacific were carried for the first time, an

(1) The Baron de Breteuil, the St.Esprit and the St.Joseph,
with a total complement of 321 men, )

(2) Or possibly Marseilles, Dalhgren, Ibid., p, 311
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jndication of how regular a service was now being provided.
The travellers were four Jesuit missionaries bound for China,
who thought it safer to travel westwards, UThe war carried on
by France at that lime against the maritime powers had greatly
impeded her navigation, so that her ships were obliged to go
to China by the way of the South Seas, which is indeed the best
and surest route to follow,' @ wrote the Scottish book-compiler
John Callander, ()

Callander was over-enthusiastic., No French ship had yet
crossed the Pacific, and Father Nyel and his companions went
on to Manila in Spanish ships. (2)

The Spasnish did not object to the trans-shipment of worthy
missionaries, but they were beginning to feel that the Pacific
ports were becoming too open, At the beginning of 1705, there
were no fewer than five ships trading in Peru gt the same time,
But the French ignored all protests; they had good reason to,
since their high profits were reputed to have reached 450 per
cent, By Septeniber, four of the ships had left, and they
crowned what was a highly successful venture by the discovery
of s islands in the south-east of the Falkland group, to which
they gave the name of their shrewd and prosperous sponsor,

Danyean, These were in all probability =#® Sea Lion Islands,

él; J.Callander, Terra Australis Cognita, pp,227-31.
2) The French Jesuits had also to contend with the hostility of
the PBortuguese entrenched at Macao, who viewed with distate
the missionary efforts of the French in China, and who sought
to bar their entry into the celestial kingdom, This had at
first diverted French attention towards Siam, but, when
French influence in that kingdom grew too strong, the
missionaries were forced out, and made a second and more
successful attempt to enter China. See J,F,Cddy, The Roots

of French Imperialism in Zastern Asia, pp. 4-8,

,
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a small group south of East Falklands. (1)

If the voyage brought his own island as well as wealth
to Danycan, it left him the delicate task of placating the
guthorities, These, however, were relenting; for, in July
1705, permission was being granted to sail 'a la découverte' -
a euphemism which deceived no one, and which did not fail to
give rise to a sheaf of protests from Madrid. It marked the
start of a rush to the South Sea. 1In the ten-year period
between 1695 and 1705, a total of twenty-two French ships
had sailed either openly or secretly for the Pacific, but
thirteen sailed in 1705, eleven in 1706 and thirteen in 1707.

The French minister of the Navy, Pontchartrain, ignored
or shelved the Spanish protests, as the rapidly worsening
situation in Spain enabled him to do, If Pontchartrain can
be said to have had a policy at all in this matter, it seems
to have been to allow as many expeditions to sail to the
Southern Ocean as was possible without alienating France's
supporters in Spain, and to preserve a semblance of legality
in the permits issued to the fortunate few,

As it was, fortune did not smile all the time, The
Falmouth, an English ship captured in 1704, and bought by
the irrepressible Danycan, proved a poor investment, It

was captained by Danycan's brother, Joseph, had a crew of

(1) Dahlgren, Relations Commerciales et Maritimes, pp.312-3n.
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198 and, carrying 56 guns and gauging 500 tons, it was one
of the largest ships that French merchants ever sent towards
the Pacific, But the supplies were insufficient, food wsas
bad, and, as they entered the Straits of Magellan, 170 men
were sick, It was useless to attempt the navigation of the
channels in this state, and the Falmouth painfully made her
way back to the Plate., A boat was despatched to Buenos Ayres
to get help, as it was plain the ship could not reach harbour,
When the first boat failed to return, another was despatched,
only to meet with an unfriendly reception from the Spanish,
who were not sorry to see their unpopular rivals in trouble,
When help finally came to the stricken ship, it was found that
those sailors who had been left behind had died, and that the
cargo had been pilfered by Indians, Only twenty of the
original crew of 198 eventually returned to France, (1)

Size indeed seemed to have engendered ill-luck., The
Philip V, the largest French vessel ever to sail to the
Pacific during this period, was wrecked on the African coast
to the north of Cape Verds, and the €aptain, many of the
officers and 60 men died before the remnant of the expedition
managed to struggle into a French settlement, (2)

For the most pasrt, the commanders kept to the beaten
track, but some found it expedient to try alternative routes,

while the growing importance of the traffic led some merchants

1 Dahlgren, Ibidc b ppa 565-6
2 Ibido s Pp. 568"'700

L
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to try to widen the scope of the expeditions, The Maurepas,

the Toison d'Or and the St. Louis, which left Penmarch in July

1706 on behalf of the resurgent 'Compagnie des Indes Orientales, '
decided not to attempt the navigation of the Straits of
Magellen, but to go through Le Maire's, thus setting a
precedent for future voyages. Trade they found pocr at first,
because of the severe competition at Concepcion, where there
were no fewer than eight ehips at the same time, but they were
more fortunate at Valparaiso and Callao. The normal trading
pattern was to sell goods of French manufascture to the Spanish
settlers against either silver or gold, with = proportion of
Eastern goods brought to South America by the Manils galleons,
On this occasion, it was proposed to send the three ships to
India in the hope of engaging in a three-way trade, while
bringing help eand comforts to the Company's settlements in Indig,
The shortage of supplies foiled this plan, and the Maurepas
returned with the Toison d'Or to France, leaving the third ship

to go alone to India, The St, Louis sailed from Concepcion

at the end of December 1707, veered towards South Africa after
turning Cape Horn in January, and sailed on east-north-east,
roughly between the 35th and 40th degrees south, On 19 March
1708, she arrived at the Cape of Good Hope, and became the
first ship to have travelled direct between the world's two
best known capes, After spending a month at Ile Bourbon to
refit, she went on to Pondicherry, where she remained until
February 1709, The voyage had been marred by dissensions

between the leaders, the captain being replaced after a

o
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dispute with theé Company's representative. Needless to say,
it was financially unsuccessful. (1)

Its real importance lies not so much in having blazed a
new route between two continents, interesting though such a
'first' may be, but in having sailed across an unknown area of
the South Atlantic over which the southern continent was supposed
to extend, and in having thus pushed back further the limits of
the hypothetical Terra Australia.

Shortly before this expedition, Danycan had put forward a
proposal (2) to send three ships from Cape Horn across the
southern Pacific to New Holland (3), and thence to the Philip-
pines. It was a voyage that would have foreshadowed James
Cook, had not the wind systems, about which Danycan knew very
little, made it quite impracticable. Perhaps it was never
seriously envisaged, except as a pretext for obtaining a permit
to sail to South America, and thence direct to the other Spanish
possessions in the north-west Pacific. Danycan's real purpose
was to encroach on the lasy Spanish privilege of supplying the
South American colonists with Eastern goods by way of the
Philippines.

Danycan, like other French traders at the time, had realised
what profits could be made by ships that would not only bring
goods from France to South America, but

(1) ibid., pp. 378-9, 390-5,

(2) 'Danycan to the Comte de Pontchartrain,' 1705, quoted in
Dahlgren, ibid., p.169.

(3) Australia. The name New Holland dropped out of use from
the 1820's.
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also obtain cargoes from China for sale to the Spanish
colonists, The Eastern trade had been carried out by the
annual Manila galleon, which made its way across the Pacific
to the Californian coast by a well-known traditional route,
The French now proposed to compete with the Spanish by sailing
from South America to China with the proceeds of the sale of
the cargo they had brought from France, They would then, in
most cases, return to Peru with Chinese goods, sell them to
the colonists, and then return home with record profits.

This particular trail was blazed by the St. Antoine

which left in January 1707 under the command of Nicolas de
Frondat, and thus became the first French ship to cross the
Pacific. (1)

The Spanish traders felt, with some justification, that
their monopoly was now being damaged to a degree that would
prove completely ruinous to their entire colonigl economy,
Their grievance was strengthened by the prompt departure of
further French ships for the China Seas.

Michel Joseph du Bocage de Bleville, (2) who arrived in

the Découverte shortly after Frondat, did not return to

France for nine years, He had come on an officisl mission

él; Ibid.,p.175; Dahlgren, 'Voyages Frangais' No,48.
2) 1676-1728, He left France in 1767, returning in
1716, having made so much money from his trading
exploits that he promptly retired from the navy,
end enjoyed a life of ease until his death 12 years later,
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but stayed to trade on his own account, going on to China
and to the Last Indies. He is credited with having discov-
ered 1'Ile de la Passion, (1) a claim that has also been
made on behalf of Martin de Chassiron who travelled to China
in 1711 in La Princesse (2)

Some captains, instead of returning to South America
after trading in Chinese ports, went home by way of India,
thus completing the first French circumnavigations of the
globe. No fewer than ten ships are listed (3) as having
sailed around the world during this brief period, thus
metamorphosing the Pacific seaboard of South America from a
closely guarded bastion of the Spanish empire into a mere
stopping place on the trading routes of the world.

Little is known of the first ship to complete the round
voyage, the Grand Dauphin, beyond the bare fact that she left
France in January 1711, and two years later arrived at Canton,

where the captain, Sebastien Dufresne died, the ship then being

(1) Clipperton 1sland.
(2) 8See Dahlgren, Relations Commerciales et Maritimes,pp.556-8

(¢) " Lé Grand Dauphin ,(twice)., La Grande Reine d'Espagne,
Le St.Louis, Notre Dame de Lorette, Le Comte de Lamoignon.

La Comtesse de Pontchartrg%n, Le Jupiter, Le Marquis de
ontchartrain,

llebo e | (a smaller vessel than e

Comtesse.) The case of the St Domingue (Dahlgren, Voyages
Francais, No 169) is doubtful. The Brilliant re%urned

to France, but under escort.
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taken home by the officers, to reach St Malo on 28 July 1713.

The Grande Reine d'Espagne arrived in Canton two months after the
Grand Dagphin (1), and the route she followed became the standard
one for China-bound merchantmen (what she in fact did was to adopt
the rough track of the Manila galleon.) After spending nearly a
year on the Spanish coast of America, she sailed on 16 November
1712 for Guam and Canton river, leaving again in November 1713.
The journey home was made in eleven months, by way of the Malacca
Straits, the Ile de France, Ile Bourbon, the Azores, Cadiz and
Lisbon. The principal owner, Julien Bourdas, learned of her
Successful return to St Malo on 23 October 1714.

The Comtesse de Pontchartrain, under Jean Baptiste Forgeais
de Langerie, accompanied by the Brillint captain Jacques Louvel,
performed a variation on the theme of the China trade by going to
the East first, and to America last. In accordance with this plan,
they passed through Sunda Straits on 25 August 1714, just under six
months after leaving St Malo. A month Later Canton was reached,
and the slow process of seiiing French goods tou the Chinese began.
un 7 September L7.5, they sailed away with a cargo of Chinese
goods, passed to the north of Formosa, near the southern tip of the
Ryukyus, and tried, apparently without success, to land for water
at Okinawa. Tres Marias Island was sighted on 26 October and, after
a brief stay, they continued their trading journey to Arica in
northern Chile. The Pontchartrain sailed for home on 10 November
1716, but did not reach St Malo until 22 November 1717.
(1) Dahlgren, Relations Commerciales et Maritim 8y Pe662; Dahlgren,

Voyages Frangais, No.78; Frésier; A Voyare to the South Sess.

P.31.
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The Pontchartrain was thus the first ship to encircle the

globe from west to east, a feat no one accomplished again
until Cook's second voyage nearly sixty years lgter, The
Brillisnt did not share this honour, for, having delayed a

few days longer than the Pontchartrain on the Spanish American

coast, she fell a victim of g Spanish punitive expedition, the
Martinet expedition,

The Spaniards had long been trying to stop these continual
French incursions, but as long as the war lasted they stood no
chance of success. As we have seen, the permissions granted by
the French government for expeditions ' a la découverte! in
1705 had given rise to numerous voyages in the immediate following
years, Louis XIV himself d4id not overlook the political value
of the metal lying uncollected in the Spanish colonies, His
diplomats answered official Spanish objections to the voyages
with some logic, by pointing out that the opanish navy was no
longer capable of collecting the gold and silver from America,
that the colonists were suffering ip consequence, and that the
French were, in fact, rendering a service to Spain,

There was another important consideration, the only one
the Spanish were willing to accept, A4nd this was the growing
danger of disaffection among the Ameriecan colonists, and the
possibility of a coup in support of the Austrian pretender.

If this should come about, it wouldagractically impossible
to subdue the rebels without the full mastery of the high seas
and,even if the continental struggle finally ended in the

Bourbons' favour, the reconquest of South America would still

present great difficulties.,

[
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For this reason, the Aurore, a fast frigate under de
la Rigaudiére Froger, had been sent, at the end of 1708,
with orders to the Spanish officials in South America to
take all precautions necessary to prevent agitation and
disaffection, Froger had not met with g1l the co-operation
he had hoped for, and & the importance of his mission
warranted; this was particularly the case in Limag
'All that I can say about this good treatment is that
they have done all they could to put us off, snd to remove
any desire we may have of ever returning to these countries, '(1)
He had, however, brought back g large sum on behalf of
various traders, and of the religious orders which frequently
acted as bankers in the Spanish colonies, but the Viceroy had
refused to hand over to the Aurore a sum estimated at one and
a half million piastres collected on behalf of the king of Spain.
In August 1707, similar considerations had led to the
despatch of two more French ships on an official mission -
the Aimgble commanded by Michel Chabert, and the Oriflé&e,
commanded by de Courbon Léger. This was the so-called Chabert
Squadron, égr official task had been to obtain information on
conditions in the colonies, and to assist the loyalist troops
if a revolt should take place, Another aim, less blatantly
advertised, had been to obtain the sum of one million piastres

from the estate of the late Viceroy, who had left an enormous

(1) Journal, 14 March 1708, guoted by Dahlgrem in Relations
Commercigles et Maritimes, p. 404,
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fortune, which the Spanish king suspected to have been the
the proceeds of corruption and malpractices.

The Oriflamme was struck by scurvy, and having lost
an enormous number of her men - 139 out of a complement
of 300, with another 91 too sick to work - had been forced
to leave Chabert at Cape Horn, and to return to La Plata.
The Aimable had continued on her way, called at various
ports along the Pacific coast, and returned in 1709, escor-
tgaﬁ back to France a convoy of seven French merchantmen.
The attempt to persuade the Viceroy's heirs to part with
any portion of their fortune had failed, but the traders in
the convoy had brought back a total of 30 million livres
in gold and silver. (1)

Spanish merchants Verj naturally objected to what
amounted to official protection of French traders by ships
of the French Navy. To refute French statements that their
view of the extent of the unofficial trade with the Pacific
coast was based on exaggerated reports, they printed a
protest with full details on the contraband trade along the

Peruvian coast. This compelled

(1) See, on la Rigaudiere and Chabert, Dahlgren, ibid.,
pp. 401-64.
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the French government to take notice, with all the more
grace in that the inevitable had happened - prices had
fallen in South America as a result of the increased
volume of goods, profits were therefore much smaller,
and the ardour of the French shipowners.was beginning
to cool,

What the French were really hoping for was some
concession in the commercial field, in exchange for an
enforced ban on expeditions to the South Sea, but they
were dissppointed in this - the Spanish wanted an uncondition-
al return to the pre-war status quo. The upshot was that,
although the French government agreed to ban the trade to
the Indies in 1711, the ban was ineffectual and traders
continued to despatch ships as before, Large sums were
involved, and the bribery of local officisgls weakened an
already incompetent administration, The French government,
furthermore, in gll its dealings with the Spanish Court,
was fully aware of the difficulty of enforcing a general
prohibition, particularly in wartime, when captains could
sail for an unknown destination in the guise of privateers,

As long as the colonists were willing to trade with the
French, the temptation to send more ships remained; for the
Spanish authorities on the coast, even when they were willing,
were not always able to enforce the law in the face of the
united forces of the armed merchantmen, which often outnumb-

ered the Spaniards,
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The main exception to the official French ban had been
made in favour of the expedition of Dugugy-Trouin, who left
St. Malo in 1711 to attack Rio de Janeiro. The venture had
been financed by French merchants to the extent of 1, 200, 000
livres, and Duguay-Trouin was suthorised to include one ship
in his squadron for the South Sea trade, This vessel,the

Prince Heureux des Asturies, returned to St. Malo after g

successful voyage, and brought back three million piastres,
It would have been against human nature for the traders
to have resisted the temptation to send more than this single
ship, Arguing that some of the goods captured from the
Portuguese were 'only good for the South Sea trade', a rather
questionable statement, Duguay-Trouin loaded the loot on two

ships, the Concorde and the Notre Dame de 1l'Incarnation, and

sent them to Peru, where the goods were sold without trouble,
The French had not had to pay for them in the first place,
and the price at which they were sold did not concern them
very much, but the net profit on this transaction amounted
to 92 per cent,

The Peace of Utrecht, which formally ended the War of the
Spanish Succession in 1713, removed all excuses for sending
French ships to the Pacifie, The commercial advantages which
Louis XIV had hoped for did not materiglise - the British
obtained the monopoly of the slave trade with the American
colonies for a period of thirty years, while Spain reverted
to her policy of exclusiveness, It was a defeat that the

French had already conceded during the preliminary negotiations,
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and a complete ban on the South Sea trade had been imposed
in January 1712,

Little notice was taken by the shipowners, The
aftermath of war still left Spain disorganised, and powerless
to enforce its laws. Ten ships left in 1712, and thirteen
to fifteen the following year. And 1714 was the most active
of all the years of the South American trade; peace had brought
some security from enemy privateers and, with it, a rebirth of
France's overseas trade; sixtéen different vessels are listed
as having left France for the Pacific at this time,

The Spanish themselves finally took the measures required
in order to end it all, Arguing that it would be unwise to
request the British or the Dutch to assist them, since the
result might well be the replacement of one evil by another,
the King of Spain called on his French cousin, Three ships

were chartered - the Conguérant of 700 tons, the Triomphant

and the gélerinez each of 600 tons, to which was added the
Pembroke, probasbly an old British prize, which was bought in
France, The total complement of French and Spanish sailors
exceeded 1500, The command was entrusted to J.N,Martinet,
and the punitive expedition left Cadiz in December 1716,

| The French had taken good care to warn their compatriots,
(1) but, either through over-confidence or sheer disbelief,

the warning was ignored, Martinet was entirely successful;

ZTS The Bellone,Captain Kerguelen, a relative of the lster
explorer, left in 1716, returning the following year., She
had been despatched by the Covernment, poseibly for this
purpose,
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six ships were captured, including, as we have seen, the

Brilliant,which was accompanying the Comtesse de Pontchartrain

on its esstward navigation, but which had tarried on the cosst.

The trade was brought to a standstill, No ship left in
1717, end the only cne to depart in 1718 was captured by the
Spanish at the Plate,

By then a new and powerful personality was overshadowing
France's Indies trade., John Law, the Scottish financier,
had persusded the Regent to support his financial schemes,

A 'Bangue Générsle' had been established in 1716, and it met
with instant success, Law, with a vision far ahead of his
time, next turned his attention to North America and, in 1717,
he estgblished the 'Compagnie de la Louisiane ou d'Occident’,
Two years later, this company gbsorbed the moribund 'Compsgnie
des Indes Orientales,' thus obtsining, on behalf of the ngtional
bank, genergl control over French trade in the East as well as
in the West Indies.

The bank solved, for the time being at any rate, the chroniec
problem of under-capitalisation which had plagued the older
companies, Whereas in 1719 the Compagnie des Indes owned only
16 ships, by June 1720 the mammoth organisation had 300, either
bought, built or on order, (1)

Meanwhile, Spanish policy under Cardinal Alberoni had
forced France into the Quadruple Alliance together with France's

old enemy, Britain, in order to counter Spain's Italiasn ambitions,

(1) P, Bonassieux, 'Les Grandes Compagnies de Commerce', p.278,
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When war ensued, the French merchants hoped for a re-opening

of the Pacific trade, The Sage Solomon left St., Malo for the

Pacific in May 1719, and returned after a speedy and success-
ful voyage, but John Law was now at the helm, with great
powers and no intention of allowing any infringement of the
monopoly of the Compagnie des Indes, The older companies had
found their privileges ignored because their own resources did
not engble them to make full use of their charters, Law
lgboured under no such disadvantage, He despatched eleven
ships, the main group leaving in September 1720.

FPull advantage was taken of the experience gained under
Louis XIV, mgny of the captains - @G, Jolif, J.B.le Gobien,
Laurent Battas du Chesne = having previously commanded
Pacific-bound ships for private syndicates., Yet the attempt

failed, two of the ships, the Découverte and the St., Jean

Baptiste being captured by the Spanish, others returning
without having sold their cargo.
Luck was no longer favouring the French., Law's schemes

collapsed, he himself fled abroad and, although the Compagnie des

5EQ9§ survived and indeed prospered, notably in India, until
its dissolution in 1770, the company made no further attempt
to capture the South American trade, It virtuglly ended
with a final French ban in March 1724 snd the failure in 1725
of three ships to penetrate the Spanish defences, (2)

P, Bonassieux, “Les Grandes Compagnies de Commerce, 'p, 278.
32; The St,Louis and the Flessingois were captured or sunk
by the Spanish, The St,Frangois managed to return to France,
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Isolated French ships appeared on the Pacific coast in
the early 1740's, but they were under charter to Spanish
merchants and - final blow - captained by Englishmen, (1)
Probgbly the only exception to this was the Condé,which
left St. Malc in November 1745 under Le Hen Brignon, and
went to Chile via Le Maire's Strait, taking on two and a
hglf million piastres for Rio, and returning to St., Malo
after a peaceful crossing,

The French, once they lost théir precarious hold on
the western Pacific trade, found the door closed to new
attempts, Some succeeded in trespassing on the Spanish
monopoly in the Egst, To do this, they had to resort to
involved and expensive subterfuges - a lascar crew, the
neutral flag of a small state, and Spanish agents who posed
as the owners in Spanish waters while the French sssumed the
role of officers or interpreters, Bribery was such am
important part of the costs that the trade was never very
profitable or extensive., (2)

The Spanish occasionally employed French 'pilotes' or
captains on the galleons trading between South America and

the Philippines (3), but their role was unimportsnt, and

(1) Notre Dame de 1la Délivrance,Louis Erasme,Le Marquis
d'Antin; Dahlgren, 'Voyages Francais) Nos.i?l,l?Z,l?S.

éz; See W, L.Schurz, 'The ﬁaniia Galleon', p. 135-6.

$) Such as the Nuestra Senora de la Encarnacion y Desengano,

commanded by Jean Presberty, formerly factor of the French

trading post at Canton., On the other hand, some claims

must be rejected, e,g. the Buen Consejoc was not commanded

by a Frenchman (Schurz, op.d¥,, p.Z211) but by a Spaniard,

Don Juan de Caseins (1e'Gentil, Voyage, vol.I.p.1l8, and
vol, 11, p. 780, )
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hardly affected the broader problem of official French
entry into Pacific waters, After the last French merchantman
(1) crossed the Pacific to China in 1717, the French flag was
seen no more in the South Sea for another hslf century - until
Bougainville opened a new chapter in French naval history,

In the heyday of the Spanish trade, between 1698 and
1725 a total of 168 French ships had sailed to the South Ses}
(2);0f these 117 had returned, the majority after very
profitable voyages; of the others, 26 were sold in Americsa,
12 were wrecked and 13 captured, What the trade hsd meant to
the French economy can only be guessed at, the records being
totally unreliable, but the gain must have been very considerable,
Of far-resching importance was the effect these voyages had on
the slowly-awakening French interest in the Pacific while,
conversely, the French visits sffected the trends of thought
of the Spanish colonists, who were provided with evidence of the
weakness of Spain, and brought into contsct with a different
European culture,

It would be unfair to expect extensive geographical results
from expeditions that were primarily devoted to commercial aims,

but the sheer nunmber of French ships passing through the Straits

(1) The Pontchartrain,which sailed from Guayaquil on 21 June
1717 after two years of trading on the coast., Canton was
reached in December, but the Pontchartrain did not end
her leisurely voyage until Agmst 1719,

(2) The actual number may be larger, as some of the captains
may have succeeded in confusing the records to avoid
prosecution, Details om many of the voyages are extremely
scanty
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of Magellan or rounding the Horn inevitably deepened
Eﬁropean knowledge of these seaways. Beauchesne, as we
have seen, devoted some time to a careful examination of

the Straits; Joseph Darquistade in the St, Francois

discovered the bay that bears the name of his ship near

Cape Horn; Marcand on the Ste Barbe had already discovered
Ste Barbe Pass Hear Clarence Island on the Pacific side of
Tierra del Fuego; Clipperton Island, now s lonely French
outpost in the Pacific, had been reached in 1711 by Martin

de Chassiron snd du Bocgge on their way tc Chins, and named
by them‘l'IZie de la Passion'; while Frondat, by crossing to
the Californian coast at a higher lastitude than was customary,
had added tiny St, Antoine and St. Roch islands to the map of
the Pacific,

Finally, the Falkland Islands were brought into French
notice as a valugble port of call and a possible South
Atlantic naval base, while, inevitably, the western sesaboards
of South America were charted with great care. It was the
former, however, which attracted the French, and which were
to give rise to the great period of French exploration of

the Pacific that began with Bougainville,



I

France in the Mid-Eighteenth Century

The real eighteenth century did not begin for France
until after the death of Louils XV in 1715, When the long
reign of the Sun-King ended, a2 gradual change came over the
kingdom, opening the door to the eanlightened and sceptical
age that was to undermine the very foundations of the monarchy,
and to bring it crashing to destruction within three guartsrs
of g century,

The problems were basically of an esconomic nsture, The
war of the Spanish Succession, Louis XIV's Final diplomatic
gamble, had placed his grandson on the throne of Spain, but
the cost of this achievement had been enormous, The country
was burdened with debt, and the careful edifice of progsperity
erected by Colbert was everywhere in ruins, Since the new king,
Louis XV, was a child only five years of age, the government of
France fell into the hands of the Duke of Orleans, a man of no
mean ability, but one whose rakish way of life left little
time for the study of financial reforms. Faced with the
problem of restoring the finances of a kingdom plagued by
chronic deficits, an antiguated tax-gathering system, and g
soclal structure that perennially nullified the efforts of
would-be reformers, the Regent called on the Scottish financier,

John Law,
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Law had been endeavouring to persuade the French to
establish a national bank, In itself, the scheme had much
to commend it, but in his enthusiasm Law soon overreached
himself, doping to repay the national debt by an
issue of credit backed by the profits of state commercial
enterprises, he obtained control over gll the old trading
companies, so that his commercial empire soon spread from
the Pacific to the wilds of Louisians, It was unlikely
that his schemes would bring in early high returns - as we
have seen, his Pacific trade gamble was unsuccessful, owing
to Spanish opposition - but the investors believed they
would, Law failed to disabuse them, the shares regched
absurd heights, and the inevitable crash followed,

The result was a partial shifting of the nationagl debt,
and the fostering of interest in France's oversess trade:
the Louisiana settlement prospered, and out of the commercial
activities of the French India Comapny grew the Indian empire
of Dupleix, which only the narrow-minded Jealous)y of his
colleagues, and the military genius of Clive, succeeded in
destroying. But a serious conseguence of Law's bankruptey
was the undermining of confidence, and the defeat of any hopes
the Regent may have entertgined of reforming the fiscal system,
He was neither energetic not strong enough to attempt any more
in this direction, In 1723, he died.

After a short interregnum, during which the unworthy Duke

of Bourbon held power, government fell into the hands of
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Cardinal Fleury, the king's tutor and a man in his seventies,
He was to remain in power for seventeen years, During that
time, the finances recovered and Drosperity returned, so
that in 1738-39 the financial year ended with g substantial
surplus, instead of the customary deficit, The War of the
Austrian Succession, however)resulted in further setbacks,
in spite of some spectacular victories in Flanders, Fleury
meanwhile had died, in 1743, and Louis XV had decided to rule
alone, But in practice, the personal rule of the monarch was
for 20 years to amount to the personal rule of hisg mistress,
the Marguise de Pompadour, Though she proved herself no worse
than many of the incompetent ministers which kings of France
had been plagued with, she was hardly interested in economies,
In fgect, she proved remarkably expensive, accumulating an
enormous collection of 'objets d'arts' which after her death
took eight months to auction, and cost Louis XV an estimated
36 million livres, She was, however, intensely interested in
polities, and enjoyed the political power which derived from
her position at court. She controlled most appointments, and
made full use of the influence which this brought her,

In the highly fashionable literary society over which she
reigned, one could not expect much interest or understanding
of Colonisl problems, The centre of the world, the only part
which seemed to matter, even to exist, was Europe., The pre-
occupation of the French with continental matters caused

them to overlook the widening world overseas. Thus, when the
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Seven Years War started in 1756, France at once intervened
in Europe and, while her armies struggled vainly in Germany,
her colonial empire was snatched away by England,

Canada and India were lost in that tragic struggle which
illustrated to Europe the growing impotence of French diplomacy.
They mattered little to the Encyclopédistes, who had devoted
only 12 lines to Canada, 'a country inhebited by bears, beavers
and barbariens, and covered eight months of the year with snow; '
or to Voltaire, who had said that 'France could be happy without
Quebec; ' or to Rousseau, who opposed all colonial ventures as
harmful to the perfect societies in which he imagined all natives
to be living, But to most Frenchmen, and especially to those
who had fought outside Europe, the Seven Years' War was a
clear warning that Britain was rapidly outstripping France,
After 1763 there were few Frenchmen who believed that a final
struggle with Britain could be avoided; many, like Bougainville,
sought careers where they felt they could contribute something
towards the eventual day of reckoning: the idea of the Revanche
is nothing new in French thought, There were fifteen years of
troubled peace before France was once again fighting Britain,
this time by the side of the American colonists - and this
was only a prelude to the twenty years' conflict of the Revol-
utionary and Napoleonic wars.

The history of exploration in the eighteenth century must
therefore be written against a background of continual wars -
for the peaceful years of that century total no more than

fifty, So troubled were the times that a captain sailing
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from port could never be sure that war would not break
out while he was at sea, nor conseguently of the kind of
reception he might expect from other ships that he met on
the way.,

The social framework had acguired a rigidity which
militated against all possibilities of reform, The internal
history of France at the time is the story of an unavailing
struggle for reform s against entrenched privileges, The
bastion of reaction was not, as might be expected, the King,
but the courtiers and the 'Parlements', The battle pivoted
on the guestion of fiscal immunity, a subject on which everyone
was intransigeant, Although fortune favoured now one side,
now the other, the victory was never won; the entire century
passed away in an atmosphere of deficits, temporary expedients
and threatening bankruptey, until it ended in inevitable
disaster,

What is so remarkable is that, in spite of governmental
muddling, Ahe French merchant clasees managed to do 80 well
for themselves, Lacking the fiscal privileges available to
the highly-born, they succeeded in concealing their profits
and avoiding taxation with a virtuosity that, with taeir
fortunes, they have transmitted to their descendants, Had
it been left to them, they would have created a great commercigl
empire, for men like Dupleix, Poivre and Law did not lack vision.
Too often, in fact, the méin reason for the lack of success
of some of the commercial schemes was the enthusiasm of the

founders which blinded them to reality, Over-optimism is the

pParticular occupational disease of company promoters, but
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when a royal family blessed with absolute power throws its
resources and prestige in with them, then their day-dreams
are, perhaps, excusable,

In the company which was formed in 1664, the s8cope,
typical of them all, embraces half the world,

'The said Company is empowered to sail asnd to trade
alone, to the exclusion of all our other subjects, from
the Cape of Good Hope up to the Indies and the Eastern
Seas, even as far as the Straits of Magellan and Le Maire's
Straite, in all the South Seas, for a period of fifty
consecutive years starting from the day when the first
shipe shall leave the kingdom, during which time it is
expressly forbidden to all persons to engage in such
nevigation and trade ..."' (1)

Colvert's enthusiasm had persuaded the King, the Queen
Mother and the Dauphin to invest 60,000 livres each, while
the Duc de Mazarin contributed 100,000; %but, in spite of
this royal suppert and of the monopoly granted by its charter,
the company failed, Some companies, especially the smaller
ones, like Régimont's company of 1635, did prosper, (2) but,
success was hard to come by and short-lived, and a number of
Companies rose, fell and overlapped in intricate patterns,
There were, for instance, no fewer than seven succesgsive

'Compagnies des Indes Orientales',

(1) Francois Charpentier, Relation de 1'Establissement de
la Compagnie Francaise pour le Conmerce des Indes Orientales,
Article XXVII
Les CGrandes Compagnies de Commerce, p, 258,

(2) See P. Bonnassieux,
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Colonial undertakings, furthemore, were unpopular with
French manufacturers as well as with the philosophers,
although for different reasons. The King became confused
by the protests of the former, who objected vociferously to
the importation of goods that were threatening to undercut the
local product. There was also a great deal of confusion over
the purpose and potentiality of joint stock undertakings; it
was difficult to raise enough capital for what was essentially
long term ventures; shares were regarded as objects of
speculation rather than what their name implies. Directors,
anxious to preserve the value of the shares, often abused
their powers, and tided over the initial periods when ships
had not yet returned by paying dividends out of the already
insufficient capital. Wars brought more trouble, as the
enemy captured the merchantmen, while French privateers,
bringing home their richly-laden prizes, often halted the rise
in prices on the home market by auctioning large quantities of
foreign goods. The local colonists and traders in India and
in Mauritius openly engaged in lucrative contraband. The local
agents were often at loggerheads with their Paris Head Office. (1)
It is little wonder that the trading companies foundered after
a few years, or sub-contracted their privileges in an attempt

to put off the day of final reckoning.

(1) See J.Chailly — Bert, Les Compagnies de Colonisation
sous l'Ancien Régime, p.l51-5.
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Had the great companies prospered, had the French
realised the value of colonigl possessions, France might
have fought with greater determination to defend her
nascent empire from the British, and would hgve sought
earlier new fields lying unclasimed, such as Austrglig
and New Zealand, and the lasrger islands of the Pacific -
a policy whieb would, in itself, have rresented a number
of different problems, But the Bxplorers were seeking
articles of lccal manufacture for immedigte trade, rsther
than raw materisls, or places for settlement, So that,
when official eyes were at last turned towards these
territoriesg, it was already too late, and only the crumbs
remained,

Unfortunately for France, cshe lscked satisfactory
bases from which to launch expeditions into the Pacific,
The eastern entrance, through the Straits of Magéllan, or
around Cape Horn, was defended by tempestuous seas and -
more important = by the Spanish policy of exclugiveness,
All ports of cgll in South America were controlled by the
Spaniards, or by the Portuguese, who were seldom well
disposed towards French captains, Even when the prior
authorisation of the King of Spain had been obtained, g
captain could not be certain that the loecal Spanish
Viceroy, wvhose power was practically absolute, would respect

it and help a French ship in distress,



France had no base in the PFar East, her last outpost
being the ill-defended settlements in Indis, The normsl
route for Pacific-bound expeditions was, therefore, to
the Cape of Good Hope, thence to Mauritius, which, under
the more romantic name (1) of 'Ile de France, ' played a
key part in France's strategy in the Indian Ocean, Once
Dupleix's dream of g French Indias Empire had collapsed,
the French remgined only on sufferance on the coast of
India, The main ports were Pondicherry and Yanaon, but
their importance depended on trade more than on their
strategic value, The Indian settlements were largely
at the mercy of the British, and they suffered repeated
ruin in the struggle between the two nations,” Thus
Pondicherry changed hands eight times between 1761 and
1gle,

Mauritius, with its sister island Bourbon, was another
proposition, Mahé de la Bourdonnais, who gave the islsnd its
original impetus, had selected Port Louis as the main
harbour, because it was difficult to enter against the
prevailing winds without the assistance of the inhgbitants,
It was therefore easy to defend. It straddled the route to
India, end was an important centre of French privateering in

wartime, 1Its capture by Britein was an obvious move, but

(1) For the Ile-de-France was the name of the Paris region,
the heart of France, celebrated by poets,
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this did not take place until 1810, long after the French
corsairs had taken their heavy toll of British shipping, and

the largef¥ forces gathered for the invasion testified to the
respect in which the British held the 'Gibraltar of the East'(l).

The lack o{f%uitable springboard held back the French
exploration of the Pacific - one might say Anglo-French ex-
ploration, for the British were not much better situatedtand,
apart from occasional British forays and the brief period of
French trading voyages to the South American coast, only the
Spanish, from their colonies, and the Dutch, from their East
Indies, had succeeded in penetrating deep into the Southern
Ocean. The other drawbacks were technical ones, notably the
absence of a satisfactory method of determining longitude.

It was possible to reckon a ship's distance from the
equator, it was also possible to establish the direction in
which it was trawlling, but what remained impossible was to
decide with any degree of certainty, until the second half
of the eighteenth century, the distance reached either east
or west of its point of departure. The problem could

be solved, so it was hoped, by the invention of a watch

(1) A respect which derived from the ravages caused %xm by
the French corsairs to a far greater extent than is

usually realised. See on this H.C.M. Austen, Sea Fights
and Corsairs of the Indian Ocean, Preface, pp. Vil et seg.
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which would keep accurately the time of the mother country,
By comparing local with Paris or London time, it would be
possible to estimate the longitude, Unhappily, the pendulum
clocks were as useless on a rolling ship as the water clocks
of previous centuries,

Time-keeping on board, even for ordinary purposes, had
never been satisfactory, The most common method was by a
sand-glass which took a half-hour to empty, Eight turns
of the glass were thus equivalent to a four-hour watch,
and it was the duty of the guartermgster at the helm to
upturn the glass whenever it emptied itself, Sailors, being
human, often shortened their watch by turning the sandglass
while it was still running through., It was a simple matter
to correct the errors by checking the log against the sun at
middey, but clouds do not always pert at the reguired time,
Thus it was that Duguay-Trouin, the St, Maloraider, found
in 1703 that his ship's time was eleven hours fast, after
a period of eight days during which he had been unable to
get a sight,

The British, hoping to find a solution to a problem of
growing seriousness in an expanding empire, had offered as
early as 1713, a reward of £20,000 for a sgtisfactory sea-
going chronometer, ZEqually sasddled with overseas possessions
and important trade interests, the Spanish and the Dutch had
mgde similar offers, but it was not until 1761 that John
Harrison came forward to claim the reward for a chronometer

with a compensation-curb that allowed for the changes in



temperature encountered on long sea=-journeys, The inventicn
was tested with considergble caution - Harrison was not paid
until twelve years later and, even then, the Board of Longitude
cheated him out of £1250 - but the basic problem had been solved,
even though a cheap chronometer, available to ordinary merchant—
men,remained to be developed,

In France, rivalvry between horologists went back teo the
beginning of the eighteenth century when Julien Leroy (1)
began to work on the problem of a maritime chronometer, It
was, however, his son Pierre who perfected a watch which
earned him a prize from the Academy of Scienceg, Meanwhile,
his rival, Ferdinand Berthoud, a Swiss, (2) had devoted
himgelf to the game problenﬂ“%en news of Harrison's work
became known, Berthoud was sent to London with representatives
of the Academy of Sciences to study the Englishman's work,
How much of what he learned was new to him remains, to some
extent, & matter for conjecture(3), but Berthoud, after revising
his first model eight times, was able in 1768 to present a
marine chronometer which proved superior to Leroy's and which
arouged the enthusiasm of both Fleurieu and the naval astron-

omer Borda, But until these chronometers became ayailgble, in

(1) 1686/1769, The name is sometimes found spelled Leroi and
Le Roy, but Leroy is more common,

(2) Born near Neufchétel in 1727, died 1807, Berthoud settled
in Paris at the age of eighteen,

(3)‘More than ten years before Harrison's chronometers were
tested, Berthoud and Leroy had deposited in the office of
the Academy of Sciences, sealed memoires containing descrip-
tiong of their machines, ' Nouvelle Biographie Générale,

Vol, 5y, P.725, )
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the 1770's, French navigators were compelled to resort to
the rough system of the log and dead reckoning.

The normal practice was to drop a triangular piece of
wood - the 'bateau de loch' - overboard. The rope to which
it was attached was divided into parts of a mile and then
rolled on a wheel; the length unrolled in a given period
gave the speed of the vessel; from this, the distance cov-
ered since the last reckoning could be estimated, and the new
position marked on the chart.(l) Since there were no time
pieces aboard apart from the sandglass, it was necessary
either to count alofid the seconds, or to use standard
sentences which took a known time to repeat.

The unreliability of such a method can readily be imagined,
and it would have often been no less accurate ot think of a
number and to write that down. It is not surprising that
distances believed to have been travelled across the Pacific
were frequently hopelessly wrong (2), and that out of the
truly enormous margin of error many legendary islands were

born.

(1) See J.P.E. Jurien de la Graviére, Les Marins du XVe et
XVIe siécles, vol.I, pp.1l0-11.

(2) In 1774 Kerguelen, in The Rolland, having lost his
astronomer, Mersay, had been working out his position
by dead reckoning. The QOiseau, which was accompanying
the Rolland, was still able to use astronomical obser-
vations. Whgn the two were compared three weeks later
an error of 4 °33' was found in the dead reckoning,
Kerguelen, Journal du Rolland, 20 April 1774.






or shiopworms, could sttack a wooden vessel and riddle it
through in a matter of months, it was necessary to prot=ct

the keel witnh copper sheebting or nails, Copper-bottoming
complicated the carrylog out of repairs in distant countries
where there were no adequate facilities; the captains preferred
the 'mailletage', the long and laborious process of covering
the tiwber with nails, This in tuen could render the ships
heavy and awkwadfto mgnoeuvrs,

The greatest problem was food, When the capricious
winds command, it is impossible to estimate the length of
the voyage and, when the expedition was to enter little known
regions where the dispositions of the natives were likely to
be unfriendly, the task of the providors was not made any
easier, The solution was to cram food and water casks in
every possible nook and cranny, but, with the ghip's spare
ropes and sails, the guns, the minimum sclentific eguipment,
the luggage and the cargo taken for trade purposes, or to
conciliate the natives, the amount of space left for cheese
and vegetables was a frequent subject for dispute, The
official estimate of the supplies lozded was inevitably
optimistic and, on sccount of corruption and dishonesty,
the quality was freguently poor,

In Gonneville's effidavit, he states that the Espoir
had taken on board enough biscuit, grain and flour for
two years, together with a guantity of peas, beans, hacon,

dried and salted fish, cider and other beverages ' not



including the supply of water for a year and more, ' (1)

No doubt, in order to gain official sympathy and to move

the authorities to some action of protest against the pirate
who ruined him, he exaggerates his investment, It is a
common weakness among creditors, But in a corrupt age,

when indolent officials were often in the pay of dishonest
navy contractors, captains found the supplies short and of
poor guality, for even if the expedition were fortunate enough
to receive gll that was applied for, corruption of g different
nature pursued them, All their ingenuity could not prevent
the water from becoming putrid, the food from decaying, nor
the poultry from dying,

Food was a necessity to the men engaged on the heavy
mgnugl labour of manoeuvring a sailing ship, but it also
played an important part in the routine of g sailor's life,
'Lunch and dinner play a great part in life on board, Sailors
are not more greedy than monks, but a well-garnished table is
the hobby of those who have no other, ' wrote an admirel who had
sailed as a boy with Baudin, (2) No one was better placed then
he to apprecigte the bitterness of the arguments, incomprehen-
sible to landsmen, that raged on that unhappy, but typieal,
expedition over the guality and the quantity of the food,

The longer the voyage, the worse the food became, MNen
and women passengers, like the officers and the men, had to

accustom themselves to eating food that had practically lost

(1) "Déclaration, ' Article 5, in d'Avezac, 'Campnagne du Navire
L'Espoir,!
(2) Jurien de 1a Graviére,

Souvenirs d'un Amiral,vol, I Pp. 90-1,
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its right to that name, Gemelli Careri, an intrepid globe-
trotter who travelled across the north Pacific in the late
seventeenth century, has left a vivid description of meals at
sea on the slow-moving Manila Galleon! 'The ship swarms with
little vermin which the Spanish call gorgojos, bred in the
biscuit, so swift that in g short time thev not only run over
cabin beds and the very dishes the men eat on, but insengibly
Tasten upon the body, There are several other sorts of vermin
of sundry colours that suck the blood, Abundance of flies fall
into the dishes of broth into which there also swim worms of
several sorts ,.,The king's allowance [was laid on the table]
in every mouthful whereof there went down abundance of mgggots
and gorgojos chewed and bruiged, On fish days the common diet
was rank old fish boiled in fgir water and salt; at noon we had
mongos, like kidney beans, in which there were so many mgggots
that they swam at the top of the broth, and the guantity was
s0 great that, besideg the loathing they caused, I doubted
whether the dinner was fish or flesh, '(1)

Jurien de la Graviére's description of bad food at sea
over a hundred years later shows how little 1life on board had
improved: 'The biscuit had been invaded by myriads of larvae
and of insects, The cakes, riddled through, crumbled into
dust as soon gs we touched them, Thesge microscopic insects

had become horribly troublesome; they flew about everywhere,

The
(1) Quoted in W, L, Schurf§z, /Manila Galleon, P, 267,
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and one could not breathe without the risk of gbsorbing
some through the mouth or the nostrils., To this plague
another, no less unpleasant, had been added, The
cockroaches had multiplied with such fertility that the
corvettes had become infested with them in a very short
time; the rats on their side had multiplied with no less
success., All these animals caused a nauseating smell inside
the ships,' (1) With the enterprising mind of youth, he
decided to sleep on deck, using a hen coop as bunk for the
following eighteen months,

Until Francois Appert discovered the canning process
for the preservation of food, at the beginning of the
nineteenth century, part of the solution lay in the loading
of live food supplies, All the gvailable deck space was
filled with cages and pens, until it became nearly impossible
to work the ship, 'The ship is a farmyard,' complained
Robert Challes, who travelled to the Far East in 1690,
and who was forced to thread his way through a deck space
encumbered with bullocks, cows, calves, sheep, pigs, hens,
pigeons, ducks and turkey, (2)

This state of affairs was prevalent right into the
nineteenth century. Upen arrival at Pondicherry in 1824
the Baron de Bougainville, commanding the Thétis and
Esgérancc expedition, recorded that his first care was 'to

pg Souvenirs d'un Amiral, vol. I, p.105,
2) W.H, Lewis, The Splendid Century, p.256,
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land the sick and to get rid of our passengers and of all
the luggage which cluttered the decks, and was no less
harmful to cleanliness than to the well-being of the crew', (1)

The scientists on board and even the scientifically -
inelined officers added to the confdsion, 'To clean out the
shells, we placed them in g bucket filled with sand, and we
left them buried until we considered the decay of the animal
sufficiently advanced, I leave to the imagingtion the smell
which all these podridoriocs gave out,' (2)

Medical care wgs usually rudimentary and governed by the
theory of vapours and humours, which was in favour in the
seventeenth and eighteenth centuries, When Choisy went to
Siam on the Qiseau in 1685 with a diplomatic mission, the
ship was battened down at sundown to keep out the harmful
night air 'which brings on disease,' Robert Chelles, on
his 1690 voyage to the East, refused the attentions of the
ship's surgeon when he fell ill, on the grounds that he had
promised his family that he would return to France, and that
the éurgeon would cause him to break his promise by speeding
his departure for the other world, (3)

Journal de la Navigation aufour du Globe#,Vol,I, p. 838,
2¢ Jurien de la Gravidre, ¥Souvenirs d'un Amiral,*vol.I,p.12%.
3

W,H.Lewis, The Splendid Century,p, 258,
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Disease took a frightful toll of the crews and passengers,
scurvy being the most coummon. Scurvy is brought on by the
insufficiency of vitamin C. Although it was realised that
a poor diet was an important contributing factor, its prevalence
among sailors gave rise to the belief that the sea z2ir was
equally harmful, hence the care taken by the captains to prov-
ide opportunities for the crews to go on walks ashore on every
possible occasion. While such leave certainly had beneficial
effects, the sick were often trundled ashore in primitive
conditions, and caught in tropical showers that added nothing
to their comfort. Furthemore, this practice tended to confuse
the true issue, which was diet. In 1685, a French doctor who
had travelled to the East Indies wrote an account of his jour- |
ney which, although not of particular interest, included a
treatise on the diseases prevalent in eastern countries and
among sailors:

'Private individuals must, if they can, get a supply of
lemon juice, verjuice, rosolio, jam and dried fruit, especially
prunes....Drink good well-diluted wine and do not go thirsty...
change the linen and wash very often the mouth and the body
at frequent intervals.' (1)

Had this sound advice been adopted, countless lives lost
by scurvy would have been saved. But, nearly a century later,

though the final solutioﬁ?ﬁear, the

(1) Dr.C.Dellon, Relation d'un Voyage aux Indes Orientales,
VOl. II’ pp. 0-120
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regl cause of the disease remgined a mystery, even to
experienced captains, who still placed their faith in the
land breezes and fresh meat:

'It is reglly surprising that our crew finds itself in
the state it is in, From Bengal they have always kept close
to the land,..During gll this time, and for quite a long time
after leaving the Bashi Islands, they have eaten only fresh
meat, ' (1)

The chips' surgeons resorted to various palliatives,
occasional bleedings and purgatives, with what variations in
diet the remzining resources of the ship and local herbs
ovtained from the natives engbled them to concoct, There was
no improvement until 1795, when a regular administration of
lime juice throughout the British Navy eventually banished
scurvy from the service, Bul thile tcek time, and scurvy cgused
frightful Jceses during the Napoleonic ware (2), and in the
merchent gervice over 70 years went by btefore thils dreadful
gecourge was e€lliminated,

Taillefer, who was a surgeon on Egudin's expedition of

-
(89}

00 to 18C4, and a consclentlous and sensitive nman, was
strongly effected by the men's sulferings, which he Found
himgelf ungble to alleviate, 'Bereft of the most effective
remedieg, confined in a narrow ship, the plaything of the
winds gnd ¢of the gsea, far from any place suitgble for us to
put into, the sick were multiplying every day, Swellings
covered by black scgbs appeared on various parts of their

bodies, the skin revealed small wine-coloured stains at the

1} Le Surville,g ;
fg C.Northoote’ Faeaad s Jean Beptiste, 25 November 1769,

the Zastern Seas,p.EOS.
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rcet of the hairs; their Joints stiffened, their flexor

mugcles seemed to szhorten and held their limbs helf-bent,
Eut nothing wes more hideocus than the appearance of their

fezce: to the leaden complexion of the victims of scurvy was
added thie prominence of the gums jutting out of the mouth,

which itself showed ulcerated spots. The sick gave out a
fetid smell, which, when you breathed it in, seemed to
attack the very root of life, I have often felt gall my
strngth ebb away when I approached them, Their state of
vegkness did not prevent them from retaining the use of zll
their intellectual faculties, which magde them feel gll the
more cruelly the pangs of despair.' (1)

Even when a crew sought a final refuge in some port, it
was likely to nieet other diseases, kbefore which eighteenth
century dcetcrs were practically powerless - bubonic plague,
chelera, typhoid and above all, dysentey. The latter was
particularly dangerous in the Dutch East Indies, and it
took & frightful toll of the weakened and ill=-fed French crews,
which had looked on Batavia and Surabays ss havens of refuge
for the degperate,

It is not to te wondered at that, in spite of the attract-
ions which long voyages of explorgtion had for the adventurous-
ly ineclined it was not easy to recruit sailors for the Pacific-
btound ships., Bribery, guile and force were resorted to; the

real destingtion was fregquently concealed from the sailors

(1) Quoted in Bouvier and Maynial, pss365=65 Une Aventure
dans les mers Australes,pp.tes-6.
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who were, anyhow, for the greater part, illiterate poor
to whom the far-away islands meant nothing, Many came
from provirces which had strong traditions of the gea -
Brittany, Normzandy, the South Coast, Qthers were driven
by cgheer poverty into the wooden ships, where at least
there was some guarantee of food, and employment for
many months ahead, with, at times, the possibility of
prize money or bonuses, A number were criminals, whom
the sea enabled to escape from their pursuers,

Inevitably, the guality of the crews varied, Degert-
lons were a constant worry. Clashes with the natives
gulckly alienated the islanders, snd destroyed the fragile
goodwill that the commanders were striving to preserve,

The French government had tried to create g resepve of
men from which better recruits for official expeditions
could be selected, but this scheme was not successful,
Under an Crdonnance of 1689, gll men employed on ships,
ferries, gnd boats, including boys of eighteen who had served
three years at sea, were required to register, They remgined
on the lists until they reached the age of fifty, so that in
theory at least neither the royal navy, nor explorers setting
out under the king's instructions, should have had any real
difficulty in selecting from the lists the most suitgble men,
but as usual the local officials were incapable or unwilling

to enforce the law, Local ties of friendship frequently
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nullified the efforts of the Parie government, so that when
a call-up came there might be so many exemptions and evasions
that insufficient skilled men came forward, (1)
The officers had their own troubles, The royal navy
selected entrants on a strict class basis. Officers who

were not of noble birth - called 'officiers bleus! on account

of the colour of their uniforms - had few opportunities,
Having to bear the insolence of the true aristocrats - the
'reds' - they preferred the merchant service, where they
could at least achieve their own command, In wartime they
were accorded temporary commissions in the royal navy, which
were limited to the durgtion of the campaign or of the war,
but in pegcetime there were fewer vacancies, and the royal
navy obtained the services only of the unemployed merchant
cfficers whom we may suppose to have been the less eflficient,
since meost of the others refused to submit to the taunts of
the privileged 'read,

The system led to constant friction, end was a source of
much bitterness, yet it was not abolished until France was on

the brink of the Revolution, (2)

(1) O.Wright, New Zealaend 1826/1827, Appendix, p,242; Cte.
de Lapeyrouse-Bonfils, Histoire de la Marine Francaise,
VOl. II, pp. 164'—7.

(2) Lapeyrouse-Bonfils, op. cit, , Pp. 151,
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At the apex, the commander himself was plagued by
different problems, The success of the expedition, its
very survival, were in his hands and, slthough he hed to
contend with the jealousy of his rivals in the navel service,
he normally bhad the trust of his superiors, who allowed him to
divert from the course laid down in the official instructions
ghen circumstances required it - g privilege of which all
the eighteenth century explorers gvailed themselves to g
remgrkable degree,

Another problem was the presence on board of scientifiec
specialists totally ignorant of naval matters, frustrated in
their own work by illness and bad weather, resentful of the
captain's overriding guthority and at times ungympathetic
attitude, There were clashes during the voyages of Xerguelen,
d'Entrecastegux and Baudin, The practice of sending scient-
ists on expeditions failed so lementably during the Revolutionary
and Napoleonic eras that it was abandoned for many years in
favour of the policy of appointing naval officers with gpecial
interests and aptitudes, but whose outlook made sure that they
concerned themselves primarily with navigation,

Nor could the commander be certain of his reception at g
foreign port of call. The freguent wars which divided Burope
et this time cut across the scientific work of the expeditions,
end ships which were away for long periods were completely out
of touch with developing events, It was often possible to
obtain free passporté??ﬁe prineipal nations, to protect
navigators whose work would benefit mankind in general - there

was Indeed a remarkable amount of co-operation on this mgtter
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between the main protagonists, Britain and France - but
not all commgnders were gble to benefit from such arrange-
ments, especially when the expedition was of = semi-official
nature, The problem was furtuer complicated by the presence
of the high seas of private raiders, who were more than
willing to turn their bling eye to the passpert, if there was s
chance of immediate booty,

Suspicion towards the gtranger on the high segs led to
digsimulgtion, gnd to the practice of flying different flags
to conceal one's nationality until the last moment, (1) Towards
the end of the century, the French Revelution added to the
captain'e troubles by undermining the organisstion of the navy.
Discipline - sgo necessary 1n a ship bound for distent lands -
wag loosensd, gsnd class distinetion set the offilcers themselves
at loggerheads, The d'Entrecastesux expedition broke up entirely
as a result of this, and it lay at the root of much of the
trouble that beset Baudin's,

The Revolution and the Napoleonic Wars thus brought to an
end the main part - one might be tempted to say the heroic part -
of the exploration of the Pacifie, When the curtain rose again
on rFrench Pacific voyages after the long wars, the scene had
been btransfermed: little remained to be discovered, and a

burgeoning desire for sctual colonisation was Preparing the way

for a politiegl struggle,

(1) e.g. Kerguelen, meeting a ship in 1774, first flew an
English flag, then g French one, The unknown vesgel
firs? hoisted Dutech colours, then hauled them down before
sailing rapi@ly away, leaving Kerguelen to speculate as to
her regl ngtionality, Journal du Rolland, 24 August 1774,
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IIL

The Savants,

The Eighteenth century has been called the Age of
Enlighﬁ@ent, and in no country was there gregter
inte#lectual activity than in France, lontesquieu's

Lettres Persanes, which had appeared in 1721, had been

an instant success; his Esprit des Lois, twenty-seven

years later, was an even greater one, for it ran into

twenty impressions in as many months, and was translated

into every European language., Voltaire, whose literary

career overlaps Montesquiesu's to some extent, straddles

the mid-sighteenth cenftury like a sardonic and often angry

colossus, Diderot, especially, heading the groups of

Encyclopédistes, symbolises an age that was becoming

passionately interested in knowledge and in social philosophy,
Knowledge systematically presented appealed to the age.

Ephraim Chambers had published his Cyclopaedia in 1728, the

great Grosses Vollstandiges Universal Lexicon of Johann Zedler

had begun to appear in 1732, and Gianfrancesco Pivati had

published his Dizionario Universale in 1744 agnd his Nuovo

Dizionario in 1746, The French came slightly later on the

scene; they had asked Chambers in 1739 to brepare a French
edition, but he died in the following year, Even so, the

Encyclopédie was derived from Chanbers' work, which had been
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translsted into French by John ills and Gottfried Sellius,
Diderot, who had been called in to repair the confusion
resulting from Mill®s errors and his printers' dishonesty,
was assisted by the most eminent minds of France: d'flembert,
the mathematician, Voltaire himself, Montesquieu, Rousseau,
Marmontel, Queegnay and Turgot, Quesngy, a medicel man,

became prominent as the leader of the Economistes,or

Physiocrgtes,who were seeking an economic formula that would

solve France's problems and form the basis of a general
economic philosophy, Finally, a little apart from the rest,
stood the gugust figure of Buffon, the greast naturglist,
endeavouring to complete his own monumentgl work - the

Histoire Naturelle,

All these formed a loose association thalt has been termed

f*Les Philosophes,® whiech met in the drawing-rooms of the great

and famous hostesses of the day - MadameGeoffrin, Madame du
Deffand, Madame de Tencin - and which enjoyed the protection
of the larguise de Pompadour and, therefore, indirectly, that
of the king; some7like Diderot and d'dlembert, received the
patrongge of Catherine II and Frederick the Great, Their
influence spread, on a lesser scale, to the provinces, where
there were local learned societies and corresponding members
of perent bodies, Thus it came gbout that in Dijon, the
capital of Burgundy, the first methodical and scholarly French

study of the Pgcific was written,
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Dijon in the eighteenth century was a prosperous and
important provincial city; not only was it a leading
provincial literary centre, (1) containing its own academy
of science and letters, but its literary 'salons' enjoyed
@ high reputation, second only to that of their Paris counter-
parts, Among its most prominent members, Dijon's literary
society counted Charles de Brosses, (1709-1777), the president
of the,Burgundian parliament, and a man whose enthusiasm for
learning was, in many ways, typical of his day. In 1750,
he published his Lettres sur 1'€tat actuel de la ville

Souterraine d?Herculéé; in 1765, a study on the origin of

language; and in the last year of his life appeared his

Histoire du septiéme siécle de la républigue romaine; in

addition, he had been working over a period of many years
on a translation of Sallust, Such & catholicity of tastes
and interests encompassed yet another work - g systematic
history of the exploration of the Pacific.

Charles de Brosses' father had long been interested in
geographical gquestions, and he had in his Dijon home a
number of valuable works of reference, De Brosses himself
and his father-in-law were shareholders in the French India
Company, (2) Often these investments were grudgingly made
as a matter of duty by people who, like the de Brosses,
were in official positions - but they no doubt helped to
awake in any shareholder who was endowed with an enquiring
mind an interest in distant and 11ttle.known regions, This
interest crystallised in May 1752 when a 'Lettre' by Pierre

(1) A, C, Ta 4
. Taylor, Président
(2) Ibid., . 50. de ' ». 12,
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de Maupertuis, the mathemgtician and astronomer, was read
at 2 meeting of the Dijon society to which de Brosses

belonged., This letter, sur les Progyés des Sciences, was

addressed to the Prussian king, Frederick the Great, and it
drew that monarch's attention to the unexplored parts of the
southern hemisnohere,

Maupertuis' letter, soon to be ridiculed by Voltaire,
with whom he guarrelled, and soon, in conseguence, to become
unjustly neglected, led de Erosses to speculste on the South
Sea, and to compose in time a mémoire, enlarging on Maupertuis!
suggestion, and making use of the accounts of the voyagess,n»f
Roggeween and Dampier, (1) Buffon, a patron of the Dijon

gociely, who had already speculated in his Histoire laturelle

on the possible existence of new species on the undiscovered
lands in the Pacific, suggested to de Erosses that the scope

of the mémoire should be widened, as this would help to
gtimulate interest in possible discoveries in the South Sea,
and would be an important work st a time when 'z neighbouring
power is visibly assuming a universal commgnd of the sea, ! (2)
Anson's voyage had given proof of the practicgbility of Pacific
navigation, if properly planned and organised; it was now
desireble that the problem be submitted to a careful and

scholarly examingtion.

(1) Ch.de Erosses, Histoire des Navigations aux Terres
Australes, vol,I1, pp., I-II,

(2) Lrid., vol., I, p.IV.
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Fer this, it would be necessary not only to detail the
work to be done and the advantages to Dbe gained, but also
to review the work of exploration which had already been
done, A collection of extracts from bprevioug sccounts of
voyagers was the kind of systematic work that would apreal
tc the age of the encyclopedia, Collections of voyages had
appeared before - such as Théodore de Bry's in 1613 and
Melchisedech Thévenot's in 1663, and, more recently, John
Harris's in 1703 and John Green's in 1746, but none deglt
exclusively with the Pacific., While de Brosses was planning

his work, the Abbe Prévost (of Manon Lescaut fame) was

Publishing his translastion of John Green's A General €ollection

of Voyages and Travels, under the title of Histoire Générale

des Veyasges; the eleventh volume, covering, as it harpened,

rart of the Pacific field, appeared in 1753: de Brosses was
unimpressed by it, (1) and realised that he would have to
ocbtain copies of the original journals, gnd get them translsted
himself, He may have found of greater value John Gampbell's

edition of Harris's CompleME Collection of Voyages and Travels,

Published . in 1744, which included comments and an introduction

that foreshadowed some of the Frenchman's work, (2)

él; ‘Ibid. ’VOlQ I. P. IV.
2) A,C.Taylor, Le Président de Brosses et 1'Australie, pp. 34-7
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De Brosses' Histoire des Navigations gux Terres Australes,

which was reasdy for publication in 1756, suffered from the
fact that it had grown out of his originsl mémoire, Whereas
it might have been expected that a lengthy introduction would
deal with the problem of_the Pacific, and with the openings
that offered to an enterprising nation, or, alternatively,
that these various considerations would develop naturally
from g historicsl survey of what had already been achieved

by navigators, snd thus make up the second volume, the actual
voyages are, in fact, encased between an essay of considersble
extent on the advantages to be gained from discoveries, snd
an actual plan for a voyage and a settlement, Between these
fore and aft sections are the three which make up the history
proper, arranged chronoclogically - one for the sixteenth
century, one for the seventeenth, and the third for the eight-
eenth, Although, in theory, such an arrangement is not with-
out a logical balance, the result is not as tidy as one could
expect; but the work has the guality of uniqueness, since no

thorough survey of Pacific knowledge in either English or

French had ever been written; &and in addition, although deBrosses

wgs 8 pioneer in a new field and might have been excused a
certain carelessness, he had in fact taken a great deal of
care in compiling so accurate and reliagble & collection,

De Brosses' various theories are representative of
contemporary thought, He believed quite firmly in the
equilibrium theory, which required the presence of a land
mass in the southern hemisphere to keep the glcbe on an even

keely (his influence on Dalrymple's later work is obviouse ),



- 83 =

but he did admit that this counterweight could tske the form
of a number of islands instead of a single continent., He
echoed Buffon's hope that, once the isolation of the southern
lands had been dispersed, explorastion would bring to knowledge
new plants and new animals, to the eventual benefit of trade.

Indeed, the stress throughout is on commerce, gnd not on
conquest, Colonies and establishments abroad can be a source
of wealth and a source of strength., For one thing, they require
a large fleet to maintein trade and contracts, and 'he who is
master of the sea is master of the land,' (1) The value of
fareway islands as penal settlements is also underlined, the
guestion of the overseas deportation of criminals and 'guilty
women' having occupied European legal minds since the discovery
of the New World, De Brosses is more reasonable than most and
also more human; far from visualising such horrors as Devil's
Island, he hopes for mixed settlements, where the less fortunate
cen obtain a second chance to rebuild their life - his was a |
French call for what the British were eventually to develop
in New South Wales,

He was also a firm believer in Gonneville Land; indeed
there was no reason for him to doubt the tradition, Although
Lozier-Bouvet had attempted without success seventeen years

earlier to follow the old captaink supposed route, de Brosses

(1) Ibid., Vol.I, pp.60-2,
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still remained hopeful., Bouvet had been stopped by ice,
and contemporary opinion considered this a clear indication
that land was near - for de Brosses, like Bougainville and
most others, did not believe that sea water could freeze,
and:that ice, therefore, must come from rivers and so be
proof of the existence of land, Indeed, as he said, 'the
more land there is the more ice will form: therefore the
more ice is found, the more land there is,' (1) However,
although de Brosses believed that Bouvet had come upon some
kind of land, he doubted whether this was Gonneville Lagnd
which he placed 'south of the South Moluccas, in the part
which I have named Australasia.' (2)

It was indeed he who coined the term Australasia, as
well as the word Polynesia from, as he explains, two Greek
worde meaning 'multiplicity of islands.,' (3) Magellanica,a
term intended to apply to the south-eastern Pacific, did not
survive, however, for the simple reason that the ares is |
practically empty, In his choice of g suitable island for
a settlement of French colonists, and &= ssheadquarters for
further exploration, he was less fortunate; he picked on New

Britain, which had been praised by Roggeween and Dampier, (4)

o

id., Vol.I, pp.60-2,
id ’ VOl. I{, p ™ 104,
id. s V°1. I’ p . 80’
Ibid. » Vol. II’ DPe 385,

o

R Rl
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two of the three navigators on whose voyages he had based
himself when composing his original mémoire, Tt was,
therefore from the East - Pondicherry or the Ile de
France - that he considered an expedition should set out;
three ships should sail, either north or scuth of Java to
New Britain, thence south to carry out further explorations
in Australasia., (1) As it turned out, the French explorer
who came under the direct influence of de Brosses - Bougainville
- entered the Pacific by the Straits of Magellan; it was de
Surville who sgiled from Pondicherry, and Marion du Fresne
who sailed from the Ile de France; and all three chose their
respective routes, not because of any geographical consider-
ations, but because of their own circumstances. Nevertheless,
the Indian Ocean route was a logical one for the exploration
of 'Australasia', especially for anyone who needed to make use
of the westerly winds, snd James Cook, for instance, used it
for his last two voyages.

It is not possible to estimate with any accuracy de Brosses's
influence on Pacific exploration, As A,C, Taylor wrote, 'the
History finds its place in a chsin of Tacts, of theories and
of voyages, each of which had an effect on the next, without
it being possible to measure exactly the degree of its influence,
It is certain that President de Brosses' book formed an import-
ant link in this chain, and his contemporaries,,.did not over-

look it. One could not deny his direct influence on Bougainville




- 86 =
and Dalrymple; by the intermediary of the latter, he
succeeded in providing and guiding, to some extent, the
impulse that resulted in the English discoveries?’(l)

The value of his work received prompt recognition,

Even Voltaire, who quarrelled with the President, as he did
with so many others, and == had little sympathy to spare
for overseas settlements, did not attack him with the
vehemence that he had displayed against Maupertuis and his
'lettre', The Sage of Ferney contented himself with nick-
naming de Brosses 'le Président des Terres Australes': de
Brossestwork was no superficial study, and the impish pamph-
leteer paid him the homage of recognising it.

A scholarly German translation by Johann Adelung soon
appeared, with which the President had cause to be satisfied,
but the British paid him a different tribute-they plagiarised
him; one might even say, more correctly, that they pirated
his work,

John Cgllander, whose Terra Australis Cognita appeared

in Edinburgh in 1768, does not mention de Brosses anywhere

by name, although he does acknowledge his debt to a French
writer, The work, with large passages of literal translstions
from the French book, is adapted so as to present a case for
English, as against French, exploration of the Pacific. Thus
the normal translation of 'Frangais' is'English! Parts that
were less likely to attract the British reader, or less

relevant to the British case, are condensed or removed. Bouvet's

(1) Le president’
sident de Brosses et 1'Australie P. 171,
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Journey loses importance since Gonneville's Land was not of
great importance to British explorers.

But Alexander Dalrymple was a more honourable man. He
had spent many years in the East, in the service of the East
India Company, and an interest in Pacific exploration had
been awakened in him by this and by his later studies. He
first contacted de Brosses in 1765, and their friendship
remained unaltered until the President's death, (1) Two

vears later, Dalrymple published his Account of the Discover-

ies made in the South Pacifick Ocean previous to 1764, a work

which brought the story of Pacific exploration a little further
up to date, but which owed a clear and acknowledged debt to

the President's work. To the extent that Dalrymple's book
and personal advocacy influended the Royal Society's decision
to press for exploration in the south Pacific, to that extent,
as Taylor pointed out, did de Brosses help to bring about the
successful results of the British voyages.

There is, however, little direct influence that de Brosses
can really lay claim to, with the sole exception of his effect
on Bougainville: he was consulted with regard to the latter's
Falklands settlement and to his circumnavigation. The
President's theories attracted Bougainville, and in a brief
mémoire drawn up, probably in 1765, he made use of an
argument which de Brosses had stressed in his book.

'The ice, which is considered as a barrier preventing

navigation towards the poles and the discovery of the

Vo -
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southern lsnd, is merely proof that there are very large
rivers in the neighbourhood of the latitudes where it has
been encountered., In consequence, it also tells us that
there are vast continents where these rivers have their
source, and one should not be discouraged at the sight of
such obstacles., ' (1)

It was in de Brosses's theories that Bougainville
found the inspiration that his restless mind was seeking, (2)
He willingly acknowledged his debt and, although the older
man's counsels were, of necessity, not always followed, de
Brosses could rejoice at the thought of the success of his
main task - that of focusing French attention on the Pacific,

'Reading the first edition of this Histoire des Navigations

Australes turned him, as he himself told the author, towards
this kind of discovery, ' he commented of Bougainville, (3)
And as disciples go, the humane and enlightened de Brosses
was indeed fortunate.

He was in fact the armchair geographer, the savant who
studied and collated the works of travellers, without himself

ever venturing abroad, There were others in the eighteenth

(1) Découverte des Terres Australes, MS in Mitchell Library,
Sydney.
Ez; A.C.Taylor, Le Président de Brosses et 1'Australie, p.148,
3) Handwritten comment 1in the Bibliothdque Nationale, quoted
in A.C.Taylor's 'Le Président de Brosses et 1l'Australie' p, 143,
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century who were working on geographical problems, who were
perfecting the science of astronomy, and some of these were
given the opportunity to travel, The period of French trade
along the Pacific seaboard of South America had enabled two
such savants - Feuillet(l) and Frézier - to pay visits to
areas which had been previously closed to French scientists,
Louis Feuillet was born in 1660 and, having shown an
early aptitude for mathematics and astronomy, he became a
protégé of the Cassinis, a family of astronomers under whose
charge the Paris observatory was to remain until the Revolution,
He accompanied Jacques Cassiniy on a voyage to the Levant,
and was later sent to the Caribbean, the aim of both voyages
being astronomica%ﬁbservatione and the determination of long-
itudes; the excellent work which he had carried out on these
two missions earned him the title of Royal Mathemagtician, and
resulted in his being despatched to the South Sea at the end
of 1707,

Feuillet received an appointment in the St, Jean Baptiste (2)

as Royal Mathematician and Botanist, and he was instructed to
carry out a scientific survey of the Pacific coast, endeavouring,
as far as he was agble, to fix the exact longitudes of the
principal ports, The voyage began badly, the ship having to

put in for repairs at Malta, and not reaching Gibraltar until

(1) A more freguent spelling is Feuillée, but the relevant article

in Nouvelle Biographie Générale lists him as 'Louis Feuillet
et non Feuillée', vol,1l7, p.603,
(2) Captain Doublet, who returned in 1711, It was a ship of 500

tons, with 202 men and 44 guns, See Dghlgren, Relations Commer-

ciales et Mgritimes, pp.553-6.
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five months after her departure from Marseilles, Feuillet
travelled with Doublet to Valparaiso, went on to Callao in a
Spanish ship, then to Lima, where he remained for nine months

teaching astronomy, He returned to France in the Phélipeaux,

and shortly afterwards published the results of his work,

His book, entitled Journal des Observations Physiques,

Mathématigques et Botanigues faites par l'ordre du Roy sur

les Cltes Orientales de 1'Amérigue Meridionale et dans les

Indes Occidentales depuis 1'année 1707 jusgues en 1712, (1)

is as full of important scientific observations as the title
promises, providing the most exact e reckonings of longitude
which had been made until then, With typical modesty, the
author makes little mention of himself or of his own travels,
Captain Doublet also had his claim to fame, He favoured the
colonisation of the deserted Falkland Islands by French

gettlers and, to this end, wrote a Relation de lg Nouvelle

Découverte des Iles Cébaldes et § quoy elles pourraient 8tre

utiles, which was truly instrumental in directing French
attention to these islands - an interest that materialised
into actual occupation fifty years later.

While Feuillet was preparing to return to France, gnother
savant was setting sail for the Pacific coast, but this time
the aim of the voyage had political undertones, for Amgdée-

Frangois Frézier (2) was an army man who had specialised in

se volumes, Paris, 1714. N R — o

5 ; descended from an English Roman Cathollc lam e

. g;agggs, %hich had emigrateg to France during the ant%lpapist
troubles of the Imb® SiXteenth century.
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defence works, Born in 1682 in Savoy, he had shown an

early capacity for foreign languages and for scientific
studies. While still g student, he wrote a brief treatise

on navigation and astronomy, having been inspired by one of
his teachers, the geographer and mathematician Philippe de
Lahire, At the age of twenty, he joined an infantry regiment,
but five years later he transferred to the engineers, having
earned fame in the previous year through the publication of

a treatise on fireworks which became very rapidly a standard
textbook, He was despatched to St. Malo where the fortifi-
cations and the harbour were being improved, and was shortly
afterwards despatched on a mission to the South Seas, He
stated in the preface of the book in which he gave account

of his journeyings (1) that Louis XIV had sent him on a
merchantman to chart the coast while the French could still
enter the Pacific, and before the expected ban on such voyages
became operative, Thus, if war should break out between France
and Spain, the French would have a sound knowledge of the coast
for possible military operations against the poorly defended
Spanish Pacific: the ghost of Machiavelli lurked in the
corridors of Versailles, However, if his voyage did have as
its mainspring diplomatic and military considerations, Frézier
widened the scope of his instructions, and brought back

information of considerable geographical and scientific value,

fij A Voyage to the South Sea and dong the Coast of Chili
and Peru in the years 1712, 1713 and 1714, (Paris, 1716),
English e on y W1 a preface by Edmund Halley,
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He sailed at the end of 1711 in the St. Joseph,

commanded by Battas du @hesne, with the Mgrie as store-

ship, Frézier had little knowledge of seamanship, but

to disguise the true purpose of his mission he served ss

an officer., By mid-May the two ships reached the Horn,

where they became separated; and a month later the St,Joseph
entered Concepcion, where two other French ships were at
anchor; The arrival cf a fourth trader threatened to depress

the market overmuch, and the St, Joseph went on to Valparaiso.

Even there, competition was severe:

'"The little likelihood that there was that the Sieur
Duchesne should sell his Goods at the Price he demanded,
and the Resolution he had taken till Peace was proclaimed,
designing to stay the last on the Coast, flattering himself
that no more Ships would come from France, prevailed on me
to take such Measures as might be agreeable to His Majesty's
Orders, who limited me the Leave he had been pleased to grant
me for performing this Voyage to two Years. ' (1)

In Callao, as in the other ports he visited, he made
careful notes of the defences, mapping the forts, cocunting
the cannons, the number of troops and, so far as he could
ascertain it, estimating the loyalty of the colonists and of
the Indians. Concepcion he had found to be badly fortified
with only a militia of two thousand mens sem their pay had
been in arrears for 14 years, so that the troops had been
forced to disperse to seek employment, The city itself had

only a battery of nine guns, nearly a century old, and the

(1> -tbid" DPes 137.
| B
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surrounding district was in no better conditione, (1)

Noting wryly that the'Spanish officials will not
transgress the laws of the kingdom for nothing, where
they have the power in their own hands, ' he foresaw the
end of the French trade, now that the end of the war was
in sight, but it was a trade that anyhow had been ruined
by competition: 'The French resorting thither without
Measure have carried many more Goods than the Country
could use, that Plenty had cbliged them to sell the said
Goods at very low rates....Three Ships with each of them
Goods to the value of a Million Pieces of Eight would have
been sufficient for Peru yearly.' (2)

The traders were hardly likely to co-operate in
saving a market the political basis of which was so fragile,
Only John Law might have had sufficient vision and power to
regulate the trade and, perhaps, obtain through goodwill a
concession from the Spanish - but Law's opportunity had not
yet arrived, and when his hour struck it was too late, When
Frézier returned to Concepcion after an absence of fourteen
months, news of the peace was on its way, and the attitude
of the Spanish officials was changing rapidly. 'The President
set forth an Order for gll the French to depart the Kingdom
and be obliged to embark within two days, with a Prohihition

to allow them Provisions or Lodgings in the Town or hire them

(1) Ibid., PD. 5o-4, Frézier's frank and detailed report,
gr printed sbroad as well as in France, cannot have endeared
he French to the Spsnish authorities, whose unpreparedness

n South America stcod thus blatantly revealed,
(2) I'bid. 3 Do 201,
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Horses under the Penalty of 500 Pieces of Eight ...Never-
theless, after this Publication, there arrived in Decemnber
and January seven French Ships, almost all of them commasnded
by Men of St. Malo, ' (1)

However striect the orders which they issued, the Chilean
authorities were powerless to enforce them, and the position
worsened when other French ships, returning to Europe from
the northern ports, called at Concepcicn, so that there were
assembled in the roadstead, 'fifteen Sails of France, great
and small, and sgbout 2600 Men, '

'Tho'! the Corregidor, or Governor, a mortal Enemy of the
Nation, sought all Means to do Harm to the French, yet he
could not have the Orders published against the French put
in Execution, either because he was hindered by his own
Interest, endeavouring to extort some Contribution from
them, or becsuse the Multitude imposed a little on him, or
lastly because the Inhgbitants privately dissuaded him that
they might make the better Market of their Provisions, He
was satisfied with offering all the Affronts he could to
the Officers and Ships' Crews, as hamstringing their Horses,
when they went out of Town to take the Air, imprisoning them
upon the least Pretence of Misbehaviour, and talking to them

in publiec in the vilest Language. '(2)

ﬁlg TIE1d. , pp. 279-80,
2 Ibido ’ P. 280.



Frézier left in February 1717, in a convoy of four
ships, although the others socn left his slower vessel
behind, His gift of precise observation, never left him;
never a man tc fall g vietim to excessive enthusiasm, he
was among the first to cast doubts on the existence of the
Southern Continent:

'If it be true, as many pretend, that the Ice in the
Sea is only formed of the fresh Water, which runs down
from the Land, it must be concluded that there is Land
towards the South Pole; but it is not true that there are
any more to the Northward than 63 degrees of Latitude for
the Extent of above 200 Leagues, from 55 of Longitude to
80; for that Space has been run over by several Ships, which
the S, W, and S.S8.W., Winds have obliged to stand far to the
Southward, to double the End of the Lands. Thus those

Southern Lands, or Terra Australis, generally laid down in

the old Charts, sre meer Chimeras, which have been justly
left out of the new Charts, '(1)

On his way back to France, where his work was highly
regarded by the authorities, as well as by later navigators,

he met the Fidéle (2) and other ships going to the South Ses

(1) Ibid., p.284, This, of course, had been proved by the
St. Louis in 1707-8, Frézier's comments show that the
implications of the new route followed on that commercigl
voyage were understood st the time,

(2) Dahlgren 'Voyages Frangais,' No.11l6., The Fid®le did not
return to France until 1718,
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'as to 2 Treasure that is going to be shut up.,' He had
witnessed the besginning of the end of an episode that was
never to be repeated.

During his voyage, Frézier had surveyed Le Maire Strait
and part of the coacst of Staten Island, and the west coast
of Tierra del Puego, correcting s considerable number of
longitudes; his map of Southern America can be claimed to
be the most accurate and reliable which had, so far, been
drawn, His interest in botany caused him to look for
unknown plants, and it was he who introduced to France the
large Chilean strawberry which Bernard de Jussieu propagated
successfully, and which, together with the North American
strawberry, is the ancestor of the modern fruit., As was
the case with so many other eighteenth century savants,
his interests and his curiosity ranged over a wide field -
mineralogy, earthguskes, climatology, the fauna of Peru,
customs and locml practices, What his observing eyes noticed,
his able pen recorded, so that his book, when it appeared, was
an instant success, It was soon reprinted in Amsterdam - and
rapidly translated into English (1717), into German (1718) and
into Dutch (1718); second editions were called for in Dutch (1727),
in French (1732), and in German (1749).

Frézier's Voyage to the South Sea brought forth an attack

from Feuillet, who claimed that Frézier had taken advantage

of certain information which he had given to him just before
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Feuillet's
the publication o%;his own Journal des Observations Physigues,

and »¥%® sccused him of a number of errors, Frézier denied
the former charge, and was able to defend himself from
Feuillet's other accusations, although he admitted the older
man's superior knowledge of botany. Of the two, Frézier was
the better writer and the better geographer, while Feuillet,
the better naturalist, was a duller writer., Together they
added considerably to contemporary knowledge of the Pacific
coast of America, Frézier, who lived on until 1773, was
consulted by Bougainville, who met him and quotes him in his
own account of his circumnavigation,

An event which was being awalted with growing interest by
Buropean scientists in the eighteenth century was the transit
of Venus across the sun, This phenonemon is a comparatively
raré one, occuring but four times in a period of 243 years,
and at irregular intervals - 8, 121, 8, and 105 years. The
eight-year interval provides the opportunity of verifying
observations within a short-period, and of making them at
different times from various points of the world's surface,
It was to observe the transit that the Royal Society sent

James Cook to Tehiti; the French were equally aware of the

importance of this event - the question had been under consider-

ation since 1760 - and, in 1760, it was decided to despatch
the scientist Alexandre Guy Pingré, then aged 49, to Rodri,uez
Island in the Indian Ocean, In 1753, his observation of the

transit of Mercury had earned him the title of corresponding

menber of the Paris Academy of Sciences, and he had later gone
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on several scientific voyages during which he had tested the
marine chronometers of Berthoud and Leroy. He sailed from

Lorient in January 1761 in the Comte d'Argenson,whose captain,

Marion du Fresne, was later to lead an expedition to the
Pacific, Pingré arrived at Rodriguez in May 1761 and, although
the weather was rather unsatisfactory, he was able to complete
some observations of the eclipse on 6 June, As the result of
a British raid on the island he was marooned until September,
but eventually returned to the Ile de France and to Europe, (1)
He pressed for a full scale expedition to the Pacifiec to observe
the second transit, and he suggested as suitable locations for
an observatory Easter Island or the Solomons;(z) but his advice
was impracticable, and Pingr€ carried out his observations in
Santo Domingo,

The Academy of sciences had, meanwhile, despatched two
other scientists, Chappe d'Auteroche, who went to Russia (3),
and Le Gentil de ls Galaisidre, whose voyage was to become g
long, and often unhappy, Odyssey. Also a pupil of the Cassinis,

he had written a number of scientific papers which had led to

lg H., Woolf, The Transits Of Venus, pp.111-112,

gz Mémoire sur la Situgtion des Lieux les plus convenables
& 1l Observation du Passage de Venus sur le Soleil gui
doit arriver le 3 Juin 1769, Paris, (1767), reprinted in
Mémoire sur les Découvertes faites dans la Mer du Sud
avant les derniers Voyages des Anglois et des Francolis
autour du Monde,Paris, iI7785.

(3) Woolf, op.cit., pp.1l5-22.
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his election to the Academy at the age of 28, He sailed
from France on 26 March 1760 - during the Seven ¥ears War -
but he had to wait five months at the Ile de France before
he found a ship willing to risk the voyage to Pondicherry,
where he was to obsgerve the transit. He was bitterly to
regret having refused Pingré's offer to accompany him to
Rodriguez Island, for, when he reached the French settlement,
he found that it had fallen to the English, and the ship
returned at once to Port Louis; Le Gentil was thus compelled
to observe the phenomenon, very imperfectly, onn the unstable
deck of a frigate. At the end of June 1761 he was back in the
Ile de France, determined toc remain in the East until the
second transit, in 1769. He spent the intervening eight
years travelling to the Philippines, to China, to Indisa,
When the second transit took place, he was ready for it in
Pondicherry - but the weather was overcast, snd he failed
again; he had waited eight years and travelled ten thousand
leagues for nothing - or so he believed - egnd he had been
away from France for so long that his heirs were claiming
his property.(1).

When he finally returned to France he was a sad and
disappointed man, but his spirits soon revived and, in 1779,
he published the two monumental volumes that ensure his place

in the history of travel and science, (2) These works are

<I) His rull name was Guillaume Joseph Hyacinthe Jean Baptiste
Le Gentil de la Galaisiére, (1725-1792), and he is not to
be confused with the navigator Le Gentil de la Barbinais.
(2) Voyage dans les Mers des Indes, fait par ordre du Roi
4 1l occasion du passage de Vénus sur le disgue du soleil
le 6 Juin 1761 et le 3 du mém@ mois 1769, 2 vols;
a condensed German translation was printed in Hamburg in
1780,
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crarmed with details on gstronomy, navigation and natural
history, but they also contain the keen observations of an
educated traveller whose path cut across many important
events - the aftermath of the English attackgn Manila, the
Seven Years' War in India, the expeditions of Bougainville, (1)
of de Surville(g), and of Marion dufresne whose offer of a
passage to Tahiti he declined, His descriptions of life in
Manila, Pondicherry and Madagascar are invalusble.

Another savant was the Avb€ Alexis Rochon, born in Brest
in 1741, whose interest in the naval sciences and in mathematics
soon overcame an initial predilection for a religious life,

He had travelled to Morccco in 1767 to test his theories on
the reckoning of longitude; two years later he sailed to the
Tndian ocean and charted the dangers that are found on the
shioping route from the Ile de France to India., At first
attached to Kerguelen's first expedition - he claimed that,
put for him, the Berrier would have missed its landfall at
Mauritius (3) - he had hoped to sail into the Pacific with
Marion ﬂuffesne. Having failed in this, he consoled himself
by publishing the account of the expedition, to which he
added one of de Surville's., Ie returned to France to continue
his scientific work, and to press for the establishment of a
French bureau of longitudes, of which he eventuslly became a

member,

1) He was a friend of the astronomer Véron%
o) He observed the comet reported by the St.Jean Baptiste,

and knew most of the backers of that venture.
(5) Voyages aux Indes Orientsles et en Afrigue pour

T'0cservation des Longitudes en Mer, pp.302-4.
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Those then were the men who provided the scientifiec

background for the French exploration of the Pacifiec; there

were others - specialists and administrators - such as Fleurieu,

the two Buaches, Buffon. - who played thesir part in the wvarious
expeditiong that set out during the second half of the eight-
eenth century, But men like de Brosses and Le Gentil are
representative of the enguiring spirit of their age; their
largely
influence was/indirect: they helped to create an atmosphere
favourgble to those whose eyes were turned towards the Pacific;
they did not inspire de Surville, nor larion duf%esne, nor
Kerguelen, who were, rirst and foremost, ssilors although
they did arouse Bougainville's interest - for he was one of
them, an educated man, with wide interests and an unquenchsble

curiosity - and after Bougainville's success, France was ready

and eager to play her part in the story of the Pacifie,
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BOUCAINVILLE

The Seven Years'! War, which exhsusted France

v and ended her domination of Eurcpe under

<
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3
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the Ancient Reglime, had also far-resching effects over-
scus, bringing to an end the French colonigl development
(f Cgnada and Trdia, although to some the loss of the

two empires was of little conseguence, to many Frenchmen

the new situation appeared both humiliating and dangerous.

Their British rivals were no longer laying the foundations
for an overseas empire, they were consolidating it., The future
now loomed dark, with Britain apparently set on world supremacy,
if not on world conquest, It was a fear that was to come to
the forefront during the Revolutionary and Hepoleoniec wars;
it was then bolstered Ly the belief that Britsin wished to

. . T o d o RS = CETPTR - L e o ha|
the Aneient Regime tecause ew F an

he new Hrance was & danger
to Pritish ambitions. (1)

In g climgte of opinion dominsted by a growing awareness
that the struggle for supremacy was rapidly nearing its
climax, the uppermost thought of politicians and patriots
was that the peace was only a temporary truce, forced on the
combatants by sheer exhaustion, It was clear that, when the
fight was resumed, it would again be fought on a global scale;

it was therefore necessary to plan right away the strategy of

the next phase,

(1) The British view of the Napcleonic Wars as an attempt
on their part to protect BEurope from French hegemony
is of course paralleled by the obverse French view,
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One obvious step was the occupation of unsettled
territories at key points on sea routes, in order to
forestall some of the colonial moves of the British,
and to provide new bases to make up for the old ones
that had been lost, It was a policy réndered even more
desirable by the closing of Canada to French immigration,
and the restricted opportunities for trade expansion in
the Indian Ocean., It was also, unfortunately, something
which the French government was in no position to carry
out officially. It was thus left to individuals to seek
what openings there might be for themselves and for their
country. The expeditions of Bougainville, of de Surville
and of Marion du Fresne stem directly from this situation.

Bougainville had served in Canada as alde-de-camp to
Vontcalm, rising to the rank of colonel, and earning the
Cross of St. Louis. Tﬁfgjsigéed him in an excellent
position to appreciate the frustrations resulting from
France's ingbility to send help to her North American
territories, When Quebec fell, with the deaths of both
'Wolfe and Montcalm, the sad task of negotiating the
surrender of the city and of supervising the evacuation
of the French troops had fallen to his lot., In 1760,
ne left fanada.(l)

sent at the sie e of Quebec,_though on the
(44 Alsgsgrg 2?de? was Ca tgin Sa%ue wallis %ho was
28@ g % ug inville by one year, at Tahiti,
See arr nb on The ﬂiscoverj 0 ﬁlti,p.xxxv.
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The European war was then dragging towards its
exhausted close; there was little more he could do in
the struggle but, when peace came, he found that France
had little that she could offer him, He was thirtyone
and, to all intents and purpeses, out of work, The Army,
after the disastrous war, had little need for his services;
the law he had already rejected after a brief attempt, in
his youth, to follow in what would have been his father's
footsteps; a diplomatic career, on which he had embarked
just tefore the wary (1) reguired continued patronage and
patience, snd did not really suit his adventurous temperament,
He knew that the peace was only a temporary respite and thagt
his services would be reguired agsin, If he could employ his
talents until then in sueh a way that his country's position
would be strengthened when war broke out again, he would be
happy.

He had read Charles de Brosses's book on the Pacific,
and its influence has already been noted, The voyage of
Anson hed made it abundantly clear to him that the time
was fast approaching when Britain would turn her attention

to this still largely unknown sea and its undiscovered islands. (2)

(1) He was secretary at the French embassy in London until
diplomatic relations were broken off in 1755, For Bougainville k
early career, the most varied of any French navigator of his
time, see J,Lefranc, Bougainville et ses Compagnons, Ppp.l3
et seqg.;R. de Kerallaln, La Jeunesse de Bougainville,and
Maurice Thiery, Bougainville, Soldier and Sailor.

(2) see J,E. Martin, ssal sur Bougainville', in La Géographie,
November-December 1929, pp. 330-1,
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The Southern Ocean opened out before him, full of promise,
practically abandoned by the Spaniards and the Dutch, awaiting
only a nation powerful enough to seize it - and that could only
be either France or Britain. A third influence was at work on

him, for he had been impressed by Frésgier's work - Frezier who,

half a century earlier, had stressed the strategic value of the

eastern Pacificy(l) It was probably Frézier who led him to look
first at the Magellanic side of the Pacific. As we have seen, it
was the traditional French way of entry to the Pacific, although
one that made it extremedly difficult to seek the southern con-
tinent in a high latitude, on account of the prevailing winds.
De Brosses had suggested entering the sea from the Indian Ocean:
from Pondicherry or the Ile de France. 'It is easier,' he wrote,
'to go to New Guimea than to the Philippines or China, where
Spanish ships as well as ours go every day: especially by leaving
from the nearby settlements that we have at Pondicherry... It is
to this side that we must pay attention, because it is on this
side that the great continents are situated.'(2) Bougainville,
however, was first attracted by strategic considerations:
'Seeing that the North was closed to us, I thought of means to
give to my country in the southern hemisphere what she no longer
possesses in the northern one. I searched and 1 found the
Malouine Island (gic)'.(3)

He felt that, if the deserted Faklands could be held by
France

(1), J. Goebels, Ehe Struggle for the Falkland Islands, p. 237.

(2) De Brosses, Histoire des Navigations aux Terres Australes,
vol.II, p. 368,

(3) Note by Bougainville, dated 4 July 1764; B.N., N.A.F. 9407-11.
The name Malouine derived from the disgoveries and sightings
made by ships from St Malo during the period of South Am-
erican trade. ‘
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they would bar tiie way to British ambitions in the Eastern
Pacific, just as the Ile de France could threaten British
shipping lanes to India and the East - and had not Drake
and Anson entered the Pacific from the east ?

Furthemore the possibility of establishing a French
settlement on the Falklands had been under consideration
for nearly half a century. Laurens Olivier in the Comte de
Lamoignon had seen three islands in this neighbourhood, and
he advised a more careful survey by a French expedition, as
it appeared suitable for a settlement and as a port of call.(l)
The matter was agdin raised by Laurens Olivier in 1750, but
others, notably Duquesnel (2) and Doublet pressed for a
settlement. 'It would be very easy and not costly to settle
there, and in a short while to provide them with all kinds
of plants and grain crops and vegetables, as also to populate
them with cattle and fowls, and there is fish in abundance,

and this discovery would deserve attention.' (3)

(1) Copie du Journal du Sieur Laurens Olivier, 1714,B.N.
N.A.F. 9438.

(2) Lettre sur 1'Ebablissement 3 faire aux fles Céebaldes,
24 May 1714. B.N., N.A.F. 9438,

(3) Relation de la nouvelle découverte des Iles Cébaldes,
B.N., N.A.F. 9438.
.
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Not only did strategic considerations direct his
attention towards the Falklands, but he numbered among
his friends men who had sailed through the Straits of
Magellan., Duclos-CGuyot, who was later to be his second-
in-command on the Boudeuse,had sailed to the Pgcific on
a Spanish ship and had rediscovered,after La Roche, South
Georgia; (1) de 1la Rigaudiere, wlc taught him the art of
navigation, was a relative, and probably the son, of Froger
de la Rigaudiére who had sailed to the Spanish Pacific in the
deys of the French traders.(2) From men like these, he would
have been gble to obtain the confirmgtion of his views that
the PFalklands were valuagble strategic outposte, the key to
the Straits and to the Pacifiec,

The settlement of the islands did not present much more
difficulty, They were situated in a harsh climgte, it is
true, but no worse than that of Canada=whence what we might
call teday 'displaced persons' had returned to France:
Bougainville's Canadian connections thus dovetsiled with his
adventurcus plans, for there were hardy pioneers from Nova
Scotia willing to try their chance in s new ccuntry., The

political motives merged with the spirit of enterprise and

(1) 'That, in the whole affair, the assistance of Duclos-Guyot
wag important cannot be denied, for, of gll those concerned,
he was the only one to know the area where they were to land,
and to be in a position to give informed advice,' J.E.Martin,
'Essal sur Bougainville,' p. 336,

(2) Ibid.,p.324; E.W, Dahlgren, "Voyages & destination de 1ls
Mer du Sud avant Bougainville, ¥ No,46.
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it only remained for the king to approve the scheme, This
presented no difficulty (1). PFrance's first colonial venture
since before the war was under way,

'"Their happy situstion as a port of call for ships on
their way to the South Sea, and ss & step towards the discovery
of Southern lands had impressed navigators of all nations., At
the beginning of 1763, the French court decided to form g
settlement on these islands., I proposed to the Ministry to
establish it at my own expense and, assisted by M., de Nerville
end M, d'Arboulin, the one my cousin, the cther my uncle, (2)
I had built and equipped in St. Malo, under the supervision
of M. Duclos-Guyot, whc is today my second-in-command, the
Aigle, of 20 guns, and the Sphinx, of 12, which I fitted out
with all thaet wae needed for such an enterprise., I tock on
board several Acadian(3) families, hardworking and intelligent
people who should be dear to France on account of the unwavering
loyalty shown bf these honest and unfortungte citizens... We

arrived on 31 January 1764, To strengthen the confidence of

slg J. B, Martin, 'Essai sur Bougainville,' pp. 336-7.
2) Investments of approximately 200,000 livres were made at
this time: Bougainville 91,000, de Werville 70,000, d'Arboulin
31,000, Mémoire of 4 August 1764, BeN. , N, As F, 9407-12/13,
(3) The Acadians, French settlers in Nova Scotia and part of
New Brunswick, had passed under British domination in 1713,
During the Seven Years' War, the British deported them, and
destroyed their settlements, The story i@ff@ld in Longfellow's

Evangeline, /
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the colonists ... M, de Nerville agreed to remsin at their
head, I left on April 8, and returned on 5 January 1765,..
I found the colonists in excellent health.,. Only one had
died - as a result of a hunting accident, ' (1)

The Falkland Islands providing practically no wood of any
kind, Bougainville ssiled to nearby Patagonia to obtain supplies,
There he saw three ships - those of Byron - which appeared to
be sbout to sail through the Straits on the first stage of
their circumnavigation. (2) He also took steps to estsblish
friendly relations with the natives - the French's nearest
neighbours - his experience with the Indisan gauxiliaries who
had assisted the French in Canada, proving of value now, gs
it was to do later in the Pacific.

And sc the colony prospered, zs rapidly as the harsh
climate and the isolation permitted, The Eritieh, however,
were perfectly aware of the importance of the Falklands, over
which they had their own claims to press based on prior
discovery - by John Davis in 1892, by Richard Hawkins in
1694, by William Dampier in 1683 and by Captain Strong in
1690, Did Bougginville's plan spur the British into action?

It seems likely, for they had hoped to establish a settlement

on the Falklands themselves many years before, on Anson's

(1) L.A. de Bougainville, Voyage autour du Monde par la frégate
a4 Roi La Boudeuse b Io ifte 1THEoils oo trioryae- rogate
et 1769, (Paris, 1771), Dp.46-55. Tomn Reinhold Forster in

FTEfFFEﬁslation omits the words 'as s step towards the dis-

covery of Southern lands',; see A Voyage round the World
"Pe 37¢

(2) Two sailed through; the third was a store ship sent back from
. Port Famine, See infra p, #/.

RO ]
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recommendstion, and had only given up their plan in the

face of vehement Spanish protests. (1) But if the British

were willing to desist in favour of the Spanish - who had

no intention of doing anything themselves - it did not

mean that they were prepared to allow the French to step in.
As Bougainville states, the French court had agreed to

his plan at the beginning of 1763, In June of the following

year, Csptain Byron was instructed to proceed to Plymouth

with his ship, the Dolphin,and was handed instructions which

included the exvloration of the Falkland Islands. The inference

that the British were aware that something was afoot, and
that an on-the-spot investigation was needed, is obvious, (2)
Byron wasted no time, In January 1765, the desoclate northern
coastline was charted from its western to its eastern extrem-
ity, & distance of some seventy lesgues, A largé and commod-
ious harbour was discovered in Western Falkland, which was
named Port Egmont in honour of the First Lord of the Admiralty.
Marks of possession were erected and vegetable gardens were
laid out, (3)

It was not so complete a survey as the Admiralty had

hoped, and it failed to reveal the existence of the French

(1) B.G. Gorgiy, The Quest and Occupation of Tahiti,vol.I,
pP. ~XX1,
(2) Although there is no real evidence in this particular
instance, it is clear that the British were bein% kept
e ormed © evelopments in France, ncen A
b 11 inf d of d 1 ts in F Vi ;
arlow, in his The Founding of the Second British Empire,
vol.I, pge8n., quotes a report TIntelligence concerning
the Maloccines Islands.,..', consisting of information
collected in St,Malo, and dated 3 June 1766. There is no
reason to believe that there were no earlier reports,
(33 Harlow, The Founding of the Second British BEmoi
o, 55 pire, vol,I,
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settlement, (1) but Byron saw Bougainville in the Straits
when the latter was getting firewood for his colonists, and
the storeship Floridg,which Byron sent back to England, brought
back news of the encounter, Within three months of the Florida's
return, the Admiralty had despatched the Jason,Captain Macbride,
with orders to establish a settlement on the Falklands., 'If
any subjects of a foreign Power were found to be settled at
any point in the Islands, they were to be visited and informed
that the Islands belonged to Great Britain, and that, since
His Majesty had given orders for the settlement thereof, the
subjects of no other Power were entitled to reside there
without the King's permission, Any such persons were to be
offered transport on His Majesty's ships to some port in the
Dominions of the Power to which they belonged.' (%)

But there was more trouble in store for Bougainville, He
ngd indeed stirred a hornets' nest. The Spanish government
was now entering the fray, because the islands were geographic-
ally part of South America, and thus within the Spenish colonigl
empire, (3) The Spanish had learned in September 1764 from

Montevideo that the French were planning a settlement (4)

(1) Though Carrington, The Discovery of Tahitl,p.268, gstates
that Byron knew of its existence., This, presumably, means
that he 'surmised' it, The instructions issued to Macbride,
the son's captain indicate that the Admiralty suspected
the existence of a foreign settlement, without, however,
having any real evidence,

(2) Harlow, op. cit., vol,I, pp.26-7. The full instructions
are reprinted in B, G, Corney, The Quest and Occupation of
Tahiti,vol. II, pp. 441-5,

(3) There was even the possibility of a case - though a weak
one - being made out for prior discovery by Amerigo Vespuceil
in 1501-2, although on that occasion Vespucci was sailing
under Portuguese auspices.

(4) Harlow, op.cit., .27, And if the Spanish knew, then
presumany The British knew also,
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and they had made immediate representations to the French
government. They did not openly oppose such a plan (1) -
for they were allied to France by the FPamily Compact - but
they put forward the argument that it was s dangerous pre-
cedent, which other nations might be tempted to follow,
With taect, they pointed out that, while they had nothing to
fear from their French allies, the settlement by foreigners
of land that was nominally Spanish was bound to inveolve the
Spanish erown in difficulties, This btegan a diplomatic
struggle that has lasted well into our own time, (2)
At first, the French, under Choigeul, an enlightened
Minister of Marine, were not willing to sacrifice so easily
a settlement that held interesting possibilities once France
recovered from the weskness induced by the war. But to hold
on to the Falklands would definitely mean alienating Spain,
and possibly lead to 3 war with the third interested party -
England - for which France was prepared neither militarily nor
morally, Pressure was therefore pat on Bougainville to sbandon
the settlement, and to recognise the Spanish clagim, Bougainville
Rimself went to Madrid (3) to discuss the matter with the French
ambassador and the Spanish governunent, The case ssemed unanswerable:
(1)Bougainville Tiad not expected them to, 'An island two hundred
leagues in circumference, to which Spvain could hardly lay clsim,!
he told Choiseul; Je Be Martin, 'Essaifur Bougainville, ' p, 337,
(2)3ee on this J.Goebel, The Strugule for the Palklend Islands,
(New Haven, 1927), a valusgble, though pro-Argentine,work,
(3)Maurice Thiery, Bougainville, Soldier and Sailor,p,140 and

D, Pernelty, Histoire d'un Voyage aux Iles Malouines fait en




ambassador and the Sp;n%ig ;overnment. The case seemed
unanswerable: if Bougainville were to leave the island,

and thus enable France to recognise Spain's right to the
Malouines, the Boubon ranks would be closed, and the

British case considerably weakened, Right of ownership

by prior discovery was the only claim the British could fall
back on, once the French had admitted that their own earlier
settlement infringed Spanish sovereignty. And ownership by
mere prior discovery (1) was not a prineiple that the British
were anxious tc establish in international law,

Bougainville was thus asked to withdraw his colony by an
amicable settlement that would avoid any shadow of a breach
between France and Spain, Louls XV sympathised with the
young colonel's disappointment, and the King of Spain was
equally willing to cushion the blow; there was no point in
ruining the pleasant Frenchman, and it was easier to placate
him, so as to concentrate against the British, The King of
France offered Beougainville the governorship of the islands
of Mauritius and Bourbon, but his heart was set on another
consolation prize, and?%pted for a voyage around the world

which would take him through the Pacific, (2)

(1) Prior discovery, unaccompanied by physical occupation,
was not generally recognised by the British as bestowing
rights of ownership on the nation of the discoverer,

(2) Baron de Bougainville, 'Journal de la Navigation autour du

Globe de la THETIS et de la corvette 1'ESPRRANGE, ' Vol, I,
P. 582, Bougainville was not the only Frenchman who was
glggg%g%eﬁ ggy%%g golthg iicific at this time, Bouvet, the
pian For h voyois og §8 Janggrge§$g7hianame,presented a
ships for a two-year vaTEDe Bo i . ¢ asked for three
8¢ Lo the southern Tndian Ocean,

Tasmania, Ne
touchant 1a géZealand and the New Hebrides, Mémoire

¢
3755755 Quverte des terres AustraleG,B.N.,N AF
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The King of Spain agreed to pay 603,000 livres, the
value of Bougainville's investment ﬁdth,interest at five per

cent up to April, 1767. True, since France was recognising

the legality of the Spanish claim, there was no obligation
on Madrid's part to pay any¥thing, but the Spanish were to
take over ell the equipment and supplies, and it was s

simple and inexpensive solution to the problem, 'This
Menarch, just as he was generous, wished to repay our advances,
and the said sum was paid to us by the Treasurers, pertly in
Paris, pertly in Buenos Ayres.' (1)

Bougainville was to hand over the settlement at Port
St. Louie, on the first stage of his circumnavigation, Once
the terms had been agreed upon, all that remained was to
mwepare the voyage., Assisted by the eager de Brosses, he
supervised the arrangements, Buffon put forward the name of
Commerson as a suitsble ngturalist to accompany the expedition,
the Académie des Sciences proffered advice, the Ministries
cooperated with cheerful plump Bougainville, who had once
been a protégé of the Pompadour (2) and whose enthusiasm was |
hard to dampen,

Two ships were placed at Bougainville's disposal, The
frigate La Boudeuse, of 26 guns, was not among the finest

of the king's ships, and there was some doubt at the start

as to whether it was wise to embark on such a journey with

1; Bougainville, 'Voyage de la BOUDEUSE,* p,46n.
2) Maurice Thiery, Bougainville, Soldier and Sailor, P. 23,
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her. The storeship 1'Etoile was more sturdy, and Bougainville
consoled himself with the thought that, if the worst happened
it would be possible to reach safety in her. She was comman-
ded by Chesnard de la Giraudais,(l) whose second-in-command was
Caro,(2) a lieutenant in the service of the French India Company.
The main personality in the storeship, however, was Philibert
Commerson, 'the Royal botanist and naturalist', on the verge of
forty, a widower, cranky, bubbling over with ideas and enthusiasm.
(3) Like all landsmen in ships, he was annoyed by the indiffer-
ence of the naval men, who were ignorant of the natural sciences,
and who pursued their petty squabbles with incomprehensible
intensity. The Etoile he described as 'that hellish den where
hatred, insubordination, bad faith, brigandage, cruelty and all
kinds of disorders reign.'(4) With Commerson went his valet,
Baret, whose secret, not pierced until much later, finds echoes

in the voyages of Marion da Fresne, Kerguelen and de Freycinet.

(1) Francois Chesnard de la Giraudais had been in command of
the Machault, part of the convoy with which Bougainville
(in the Chézine) had sailed from France to Canada in 1759.
J.E.Martin, 'Essai sur Bougainville,' p.326.

Caro l'Aineé, as he signs himself at the end of his Journal.
J.Lefranc, Bougainville et ses Compagnons, pp.79 et seq.

A biography was written in 1889 by F.B.de Montessus under

the title Martyrologe et Biographie de Commerson.
A biography in English, The Life of Philibert Commerson:

an 01d World Story of French Travel and Science in the Days
y by S.P.Oliver, edited by G.Scott Elliot,

of Linnaeus
following Oliver's death in 1907, appeared in London in 1909.
(4) J.Lefranc, op.cit., p.93.

o~~~

(SN ]
e



- 116 -
Commerson, like many others on the voyage, wrote copious
notes, but few have survived: he was far more interested in
science than in literary fame - in spite of a lively style
that might have produced an interesting travel story,
The same modesty characterised the surgeon Vivés, a quiet,
humdrum man to whom the voyage was the greatest adventure, His

Voyage autour du Monde exists only in manuscript form, because,

Bougainville's own book having appeared while he was still
completing his own version, Vivés felt that he could add
little to what his leader had written, (1)

The Boudeuse was commanded by Bougainville himself with,
a8 his second-in command, Duclos-Guyot (2), his friend, with
whom he had planned the settlement on the Falklande, The
clerk, Louis Antoine Starot de Saint-Germain de Loberie, is
numbered among those who have left an account of the expedition (3)
No intrepid explorer, he bitterly regretted having enmbarked on {
such a journey, although in fairness to him it must be sdmitted ‘

that his despondency stemmed from having had to forsake a wife

whom he had only recently married (4), and that his acid comments

1) Ibid., pp. 94 et seq,

gzg ATeo spelled du GIos-Guyot, Ducloz~-Guyot and Guyot-Ducloz,
Pierre Nicolas Duclos-Guyot (1722-1794) had already sailed
to the Pacific coast of South America, and had rediscovered
an island in the South Atlantie which was later identified
as South Georgia, Previcusly discovered by La Roche in 1675,

He met Bougainville in Quebee in 1758,

(3) An account of his journal is given in 'Routier inddit 4'un
compagnon de Bougainville', by 6h., de 1a Ronciére in Lg Géogra-
phie, March 1921, vol XXXV, No, 3,

(4) He had married Marie-Frangoise Borderieux on 21 January 1765,
He was no volunteer, having received 'from the King order to
embark as clerk on Bougainville's vessel, ' His normal occup-
ation was that of lawyer, See Ibid, , p. 218,

———T
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were not devoid of pertinency: 'What is the use of this
voyage?' he asked, a question which sounds guerulous, but
which, as we shall sgee, was not altogether irrelevant., He
was left behind at the Isle de France in a poor state of
health, as is shown by a certificate of discharge which
Bougainville must have signed with considerable relief, (1)
The young astronomer Véron, or Verron, proved invaluable to
Bougainville, and was able to work out longitudes with
considergble accuracy,

The last notsble personality, Charles Nicolas Othon,
Prince de Nassau-Siegen, was no more eccentric than the
others, but he was certainly more wealthy and of a higher
rank, He had obtained the King's leave to join Bougainville
out of a spirit of adventure, although one cannot help feeling
that his companions, being of modest families, may have at
times regretted his presence on board, He was proud, impetuous,
somewhat troublesome to his leader, and rather inclined to duels.
Since, however, there were no opportunities for these at sea, he
consoled himself by going hunting whenever he could, and by
impressing the natives with his courage., (2) Bougainville
himself, who was to lead this heterogeneous collection of men,

was officially a colonel in the army and not s sailor, He

(1) His health was soon restored, and he outlived practically
all the other participants in the expedition, dying in 1823
at the age of 92,

(2) A friend of Catherine II, he eventually became a Russian
admiral, and was buried in the Ukraine, A study of his
later life has been published by the Marquis d'Aragon under
the title of Un Paledin au XVIIIe sildcle, le Prince Charles

de Nassau-Siegen
ST soa. 8Dy (Paris 1893, See Lefranc,

op.cit,, pp, 102
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had never served in ships until his PFPalklands sdventure,
and had had no formal naval training of any kind, He had
apperently acquired his knowledge of navigation and sailing
while crossing the Atlantic on various missions during the
war, (1) Allowing for the fact that a ship on which he was
a passenger was delayed by coastal ice, he would have spent
a total of only five months at sea by 1763, so that it is
probable that, during the earlier part of his circumnavigation,
he leaned heavily on his friend Duclos-Guyot, He was, however,
a man of outstanding mathematical ability, and had written s
treatise on the calculus at the age of 22,(2) Nevertheless,
his ad hoc appointment to the rank of 'capitaine de vaisseau'
in the royal navy cannot have failed to give rise to jealousy
and protests within the service, especially as Bougainville
did not even belong to the higher nobility,

His instructicns required him to go to China, but the
discoveries which he made south of the Equator, and the
condition of his crew, kept him away from the China Seas:
it cannot be said that a final loop towards the Far East
would have added very much to his achievements, The instruct-

ions, anyhow, were elastic enough for him to ignore that section.

(1) 'M. de la Rigaudiére [commanding the ship that took him to
Canada in 175@]has promised to teach me as much seamanship
as can be done during the crossing, ' Letter from Bougain-

yille to hig brother, 29 h
Kerallain, i; Jeunesse de gﬁha g%f&l&fﬁﬁﬁg by R. de

(2) Entitled Traité du calcul integral, pour faire suite A
l'analyse des infiniments petits de Marquis de 1'Hépital;
Maurice Thiery, Bougainville, Soldier and Sailor, p.25,
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'After the handing over of the Malouines Islands to the
Spaniards, and the arrival of the flute 1'Etoile, M, de
Bougainville will leave with his two ships and sail for
China by the South Sea., He may go through the Straits of
Magellan or round Cape Horn, as the season and the winds
warrant, On his crossing to China, he will examine in the
Pacific Ocean as many:;nd in the best manner he can the lands
lying between the Indies and the western segaboard of America,
various parts of which have been sighted by Navigators and
named Espiritu Santo, New Guinea, etc, Since knowledge of

the islands or continent is very slight, it will be very

|
interesting to perfect it; furthermore, since no European 1
nation has any settlement on, or claim over, these islands,
it can only be to France's advantage to survey them, and to
take possession of them if they offer articles of value to
her trade and her navigation,

cIn this sea, the area which M, de Bougainville must pay
particular attention,ézt?}ing between 40° of southern latitude
towards the North, and what lies between the two tropics. It is
in those latitudes that are found precious metals and spices,
M. de Bougainville will study the land, the trees and principal
products; he will bring back samples and drawings of everything
he considers merits attention; he will examine to the fullest
extent possible all sites likely to be used as ports of call
for ships, and everything appertaining to navigation ... He
will direct his route so as to be able to leave China at the

end of January 1768 at the latest ,,His Majesty requests M, de
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Bougainville to seek, if he can, some island close to the
Chinese coast, which could be used as a commercial centre
for the Compagnie des Indes for trade with China... His
Majesty leaves him the option to call or not to call on the
coast of China. He will let himself be ruled on this point
by the circumstances in which he finds himself, 1In any case,
M, de Bougainville will do all in his power to call at the
Ile de France, so as to be informed whether peace is continuing
or whether we are at war with any country, and whether His
Majesty has not sent instructions there concerning the
possible destination of the two ships? (1)

The Instructions also allowed him to burn or sell one of
the ships, should his crew become too depleted or for some
other reason,

The expedition set sail from Nantes on 15 November 1766,
Misfortune struck slmost immediately - a storm broke the
topmast and caused other damage, forcing the ships to put
into Brest for repairs, Bougainville seized the occasion to
decrease the height of the masts, and to exchange his heavy
guns for others of smaller calibre, while obtaining permission
to send back the Boudeuse from the Falkland Islands and to

sail on in the Etoile,if the condition of his ship worsened, (2)

(1) "Mémoire du Roy pour @ervir d'Instructions au Sieur de
Bougainville, Colonel d'Infanterkes et Capitaine de Vaisseau
pour la Campagne sur les opérations qu'il va faire,' 26
October 1766, BN, NAF, 9407, p.53.

(2) Bougainville, Voyage de la Boudeuse, pp. 21-2.
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On 5 December, the Boudeuse sailed slone from Brest and,
on the last day of January 1767, she lay at anchor in
Montevideo harbour, Accompanied by Spanish ships, Bougainville
went down to the Falklands for the sad ceremony, The Spanish
standard was raised, and saluted by twenty-one guns at sunrise
and at sunset by the land battery and by the ships. The
colonists were despondent, but not really surprised, for they
had already been warned that their settlement was insecure
when Mecbride had called on them in Decenber, (1) Bougainville
read them a letter from the king, asuthorising them to remain
under Spanish rule if they wished, an offer whiech a number of
the Acadians accepted, Ten of them were taken on as sailors
by Bougainville, to replace some of his who were sick, (2)
The French colonisation of the Falkland Islands was now at
an end,

Bougainville waited snother two months, hoping that the
Etoile would join him, He finally decided to gail to Rio de

Janeiro and, on June <y he left for ever the islands which

had been so much in his thoughts during the previcus five years, (3)

(1) Vincent T, Harlow, The Founding of the Second Pritisy Empire,
vol, T, »np, 23-2, A -
(2) gougﬁinville to Minister of Marine, 19 April 1767, B,N,,N.4, F,

407 /28,
(3) France abided Ly her agreement with Spain and no further
attempt was made to Plent @ French settlement on the islands.,
The struggle with Britasin continued until 1774 when the
British evacuated Port Egment, The Spanish themgelves left

in l%i,b‘}e ving the way open for British re-occupaticn in
1852. L ’ppo 28"82.
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In Rio, where he found the Etoile, (1) Bougainville fell
a vietim to a matter of etiguette that may seem puerile to
our eyes, until we realise that we are equally concerned with
matters of precedence and of diplomatic recognition., When a
ship called at a foreign port, it saluted the flagg with its
guns; to this the garrison was expected to reply, and the
number of shots ﬁo be fired by each side provided endless
scope for argument, Bougainville sent one of his ensigns,
the Chevalier de Bournand, to negotiate with the viceroy,
who answered that, when he saluted someone in the street,
he did not first enquire whether his courtesy would be
returned. It was a logical enough comment but, as he well
knew, it was not a reply. BRougainville, therefore, did not
salute the town for four dayseﬂggﬂfdhpon an official visit to
the Boudeuse, the viceroy received a salute of nineteen guns
which was duly returned,

Relations, having been thus established upon an unsure
footing, became in time more strained, During a brief period
of cordiality, the French were invited to the Opera, where they
listened to 'the divine nusic of the great Italisn masters,
played by a bad orchestra under the direction of a hunchback
priest in religious dress, '(2) Soon, however, fights broke
out between the Portuguese and men on shore leave, the

chaplain of the Etoile had already been found murdered, (3)

(1) The Etoile had salled from Rochefort on 1 Feb, 1767, and had

arrived at Rio on 12 June 1767, La Girandais, Journal, dates
as quoted,

22; Bougainville, Voyage de la Boudeuse, p.77
'On the 18 of this month in the evening our chaplain was
murdered on land and thrown into the water? La Girandais,

Journgl, June 1767,
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while the viceroy's attitude rapidly became hostile; it
was still winter and no time to begin the journey through
the Strait§of Magellan, They decided to hasten their
departure for Montevideo, where they could be sure of a
more favourable reception, Even so, they met with misfortune
there, for a Spanish vessel collided with the Etoile, (1)

It was not until the 14 November 1767 - s year, prac-
tically to the day, since they had sailed from Nantes - that
they finally left the Atiantic coast and set out on their
voyage of circumnavigation, They had finished their work and
now could clgim their reward, Bougainville had made careful
preparations - the sick and the older sailors who might have
prove%ﬂliabilities were left behind, their number being made
up by others recruited from the Falklands, Supplies were as
good as could be expected, although a storm that struck them
within & few days of their departure resulted in the death of
nearly all their livestock,

The Straits fully lived up to their evil reputation, The
Ships spent four days trying to enter but, after a full week,
they had only penetrated as far as the second narrows, On
December 18, they anchored in Bougainville Bay, on Brunswick
’ﬁeninsula, approximately seven miles to the south eof Cape
Isidoro, and not far from present-day Puntas Arenas, There,

they remesined for twelve days; it was a welcome break after

(1) "The Spanish vessel named the San Fernando drasgged on her
anchors and broke our bowsprit,' Ibid., 18 August 1767,
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a fortnight of continual tacking and sounding - in addition
to which the Etoile had developed a leak. The Prince went
botanising with Commnerson, and later accompanied Bougainville
to the Tierra del Fuego coast opposite the anchorage, where
they sounded and charted the inhospitable shore.

The next anchorage, Fortescue Bay, which they reached on
New Year's Day, was even less attractive. The weather -Tﬁeing
then the height of the southern summer - was appalling: 'Nix,
glando, giacies, spiritus procelilarum.' (1) 1n the morning,
they found four inches of snow on the decks. After a fortnight
they tried to leave, but storms forced them back; a gale blew,
so wilid that even the oldest sailors were frightened. Finally,
the wind abated, and even turned in their favour. On 26 Jan-
uary the weary Frenchmen saw the open sea, and the nightmare -
nearly two months long - was behind them. In the evening,
Bougainville passed Cape Pilar, at the western end of the
straits, taking a point to the west of it (2) as his point of
departure, and then sailed into the Pacific. It was a day of
great rejoicding and, to celebrate their deliverance, they sang
'the Te Deum. (3)

Now Nature, which had thwarted Bougainville for so long,
began to favour him. A steady south-easterly wind enabled

him to omit a proposed call at Juan Fernandez and to

(1) Bougainville, Voyage, (1771), p.154. Cf.Psalms 148:8,
'Fire and hail, snow and vapour, stormy wind fulfilling
his word.'

(2) He gives his point of departure as 52050' south agd 740291
west. ¥o¥age (1771), p.1l72. Cape Pilar is in 52°43' south

and 73° west.
(3) *Journal du Sieur Carof.. , A.N.M. 4.JJ. No.l1/5. Entry of

anuary 1768.
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begin a search for what he called David's Land, (1) which
was reputed to lie 500 leagues off the coast of South America
along the 27th degree of latitude, He was careful to sweep
as wide an area as possible: the Etoile veered south of the
Boudeuse each morning at first light, and went as far as she
could without losing sight of the other ship; lodouts were
continually on duty; and, in the evening, the two ships
rejoined to within half a league of each other, in order to
be available in case of trouble, (2) In spite of this,
Bougainville was no more fortunate than Roggeween had been
forty-six years earlier, After a week he gave up, having
sailed, according to his charts, right across David's Land,
and expressing scepticism abouts its existence, (3)

At the beginning of March, he started up a distilling
machine that was to provide the men of the Boudeuse with
over a barrelfull of drinking water daily for a great part
of the voyage.(4) The course, roughly WNW, to which the
French were keeping,was taking them across the great empt-
iness of the S,E, Pacific, over part of which Wallis hsad
ventured the year before, It was not until 22 March that

land was sighted. They had a warning on the previous day

(1)J. R, Forster, in his translation of Bougainville's account,
P, 201n,, criticises him for writing David, instead of Davis,
commenting 'indeed he and most writers of his nation mutilate
all foreign names; not only inadvertently, but often on purpose
through mere caprice,' an unfair charge, particularly since the
term David's Land was also in use in England and Spain;&e®, cf.

(N%o%gcaoixgwlreivl’le, eVo % e e&eo ;Ia oB%u%ee]f}sIe, Pe %Ewlg'?ou%%i}ggi lalrg% o
Journal, entry of 7-8 February 1768, (3) 'I have passed over
David's Land withoutN sighting it' Journal, 13-14 February 1768,
As he did not attach a great deal of importance to this search,
fairly perfunctorily carried out, a discussion of Davis Land
will be left to the Chapter dealing with de Surville, See pp, R,

(4) Bougaimville, Journal, 4-5 March 1768, o
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of the proximity of land, when a tuna fish gave up, upon
dissection, some smagll shallow-water fish as yet undigested
in its stomach,

'At 6 a,m, the lookout on the maintop said that he saw
land which we sighted at once from the poopdeck, lying S,E.
by %S, 4 leagues off, which appeared to be several islands,
The lookout counted 7 or 8,..,Scon after, the lookout said
that he saw another island before us which we sighted from
below lying to W, 5°S, At once, we signalled the Boudeuse
that land was in sight, and set course at the same time for
W. by ¥ N.W. and W, by N.W, to pass to the north of the same
island, ' (1)

In fact, only five islands are listed in the account of
the voyage - one group of four to the South East, which

Bougainville named Les Quatre Facardins,after a popular

story of the day, (2) and a fifth to the West, Thinking

that it should be possible to find an anchorage there, he
turned towards it, but the line of breakers foiled this plan,
To his surprise, he saw men, whom for g moment he took for
European castaways, hardly believing that such a small island
could be inhabited, More appeared, however, and it was seen
that they were natives, 'They carried very long pikes which
they shook menacingly at the ships ...I called it the 'ile
des Lanciers' (3)

On the following day, having sailed WiINW, Bougainville

Caro, Journal, 21-22 March 1768,

§2; Written by the Jacobite, Count Anthony Hamilton (1645(%)
-1720),and first published posthumously in 1730,

(3) On board the Etoile,they called the island 'ile @Garmie!

because of the luxuriant vegetation.Vives, Hournal, p. 98.
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sighted a bow-shaped coral island which he named Harp Island, (1)
The shape of this island ensbles it to be identified with Cook's
Bow Island, which is now known by its native name of Hao,
Bougainville would have liked to have landed here to discover
more about the people and their island, but the dangerous reef
made this impossible, (2) The Frenchmen's curiosity was great,
but all they could do was to speculate about the natives who
lived their mysterious lives on these isolated atolls.

'This land that is so extraordinary, is it newly-formed?

Is it in ruins? How is it populated? The inhgbitants appear
tall and well proportioned., A fine field for conjectures, '(3)
‘Who on earth went and placed them (the islanders] on a small
sandbank like that one, and as far away from the continent as
they are? And surely not many ships hsve passed by here,
because since Quiros, who in 1603 came this way, we are the
first for 165 years to come here, '(4)

Of the six islands listed by Bougainville as having been
discovered on 22 and 23 March 17688, only Hao can be identified
without argument: the description given by the French leaves no
doubt on this point, The identification of the Quatre Facardius

(1) Bougainville, Journal, 23-24 March 1768, 'This land looks
like a harp, the middle of which would be in the water, '
See also Bougainville, Voyage , p.18l, in which he states
that the island presents the appearance of an extended
horseshoe, *

éz; Caro, Journal, 23-24 March 1768,

Bougainvilie,Journal, 23-24 March 1768,

(4) Caro, Journal, 22-23 March 1768, Notice the reference teo
a continent,the 'southern continent' ever present in the
early explorers’minds. Caro was not to know that the islanders
led a fairly nomadic existence, going from one atoll to
another,



- 128 -
and of thg%ges Lanciers, however, was not so easy,
particularly in view of Bougainvillesreluctance to give
the positions of his discoveries - an omission about which
Cook was later to complain, (1) It is therefore necessary
to have recourse to the logs, Bougainville places the
Quatre Facardims in 18°50' south, and Ile des Lanciers in
18932 south, (2)While Caro confirms this by recording the
Etoile's position at the time as being 18943' south, (3)
but for longitudes, it is necessary to estimate the possible
error in the reckoning since the ships' departure from Cape
Pillar., This can be done, with reasonable accuracy, by
comparing Bougainville's stated longitude for Hao - 139951
west of Greenwich - with the true longitude of this atoll,
140943 west; this gives an error of 52' east, (4) In his log
Bougainville estimates the longitude of the Quatre Facardius

as 138005 west of Greenwich, or - after correction 138057"

west, He does not give a longitude for Ile des Lanciers(5)

(1) Voyage of the Resolution and Adventure, (ed.J.C.Beaglehole),
P. 1956,

2) Bougainville, Journal, 21-22 March 1768,

gs Caro, Journal,2l-2 rch 1768,

4) It is inferesting to note that on the evening of the 27th,
Bougainville checked his longitude against an observation
made by the astronomer Vérpon: according to it Bougainville's
reckoning was 39'l5" too far east, Bougainville, Journal,
marginal comment to entry of 27-28 March 1768,

(5) 'our gosition places these islands in 18°50' south and
140025"' west of Paris, the fifth in 18932' south, '
Bougainville, Journal, 21-22 March 1768, His chart shows
§:§Ci§§: as approximately 30" further west than Quatre

ardins,
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From these figures, we can identify the Quatre Facardins,

as Vahitahi, an atoll of the western Tuamotu Group, which

is in 18943' south and 138954' west, The Ile des Lanciers,

to the north-west of the Quatre Facardins, the latitude of which
Bougainville gives a$ 18932' south, must therefore be Akiaki,
the position of which is 18°30' south and 139914' west,

Vahitshi encloses within its lagoon a number of small islets -
of which the Etoile's 1lookout thought he could distinguish
seven to eight,

It is sometimes stated that the Quatre Facardinds group
represents four islands to the south and south-west of Akiaki:
Vahitahi itself being one, with Nukutavake, Pinaki and
Vairaatea, However, Nukutavake is thirty-three miles south
of Vahitahi, while Pinaki is eight miles to the south-west
of Nukutavaeke; as we have seen, Caro states that the ships
were four leagues to north-west of the Quatre Facardius: if
Nukutavake is to be included in this group, we must believe
that it could have been seen from a distance of over forty
miles; furthermore Pinaki - which is not more than six foot
above sea level(l) - must have been visible, if this theory
is to be believed, from a distance of nearly fifty miles;
finally, the charts published with the account of the voyage,
though admiﬁédly not very reliable, show the Quatre Facardius
as a close group of four 1sléts, (2) each of them drawn smaller

than lle Des Lanciers, and none of them 1n the nineteenth

'S' Pacific Pilot (1946 ed,) vol,I1Il, P.96.
2 shou e noted that Bougainville refers to Lanciers,
as am '"tle', hut to Quatre Facardiws as four 'islots :b. 79.
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degree of latitude (the Nukutuvake-Vairaatea - Pinaki group
stretches from 19017' to 19024' south, and across an area of
130 square miles of sea,) To attempt to include the three
southern islands in the Facardiws group is to throw doubt,
not only on the charts, but also on the observations of
Bougainville and of the astronomer Vérron: suffice it to
say in this connection that, when Bougainville discovered Hao
on 24 August, his latitude for this island - 18°27' south -
is only one minute out,

On the following day, the 24th, low-lying land was again
seen to the NW and SW, 'This land appears cut into two islands
and perhaps the track of land which joins them is covered by
water, Bad country, dangerous archipelago, '(1) The double
island is now called by Cook's name of Two Groups - it consists
of Marokau to the North and Ravahere to the South, Bougainville
placed these islands in 1893'S; Marokau cuts across the 18th
parallel and extends somewhat to the south of it; he reckoned
its longitude as 1°17' west of Hao - a very accurafe estimgte;
there can therefore be no doubt gbout that identification,

He sailed to the north of Two Groups, following a north-
west course until he had passed these islands, whereupon he
veered west, On the evening of the 25th,'he was south of
another island, of which he has left no description; however,
from the position of the ships, there can be little doubt that
this was Hikaeru, At dawn on the following day another island

(1) Bougainville, Journal, 24-25 March 1768,
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was sighted, this time to the south; at 9 a.m. another
appeared to the north-west; at midday, the Boudeuse's
position was 17939 south and 142018  west; (1) if we correct
this longitude on the basis of a difference of 52' at Hao, we
get a position of 143010' west: this enables us to identify the
southern island as Reitoru, which is in 17°50' south and 143°05'
west, and which was now lying ESE by 5°S. The island seen to
the north-west must therefore be Haraiki, Later in the after-
noon, the Etoile reported more land to the south-west, but the
weather was overcast, and those on the Boudeunse could not see
it,

'We sailed west and W by % SW until halfpast five,‘xken the
Etoile gave signal of land to the SW...We then sailed WNW; we
were not able to see this land from the top of the masts. The
weather was squally.' (2)

The only island that could have been sighted to the south
at this time is Anaa, which in 17921' south gnd 14E5°31' west,
But this is difficult to reccncile with the position of the
ships at midday on the 27th:17044’ south and 143068' west (corrected
vy 52') for the Boudeuse, and l7°53'south for the Etoile,

Since Bougainville states that he did not begin to veer towards
the north until the Etoile had reported seeing land, and since,

after doing this, he was still in s position more southerly

TI) Bougainville, Journal, 26-26 March 1768, Caro gives the 'Etoile
ereviens positions in the Tuamotuts, which make it clear that
she kept to the south of the Boudeuse,

(2) Bougainville, Journal, 26-27 March 1768.



then Ansa, it is reasonable to believe that what the Etoile

saw was nothing more than a bank of clouds - a belief
strengthened by the knowledge that, if the two ships hsad
reached the neighbourhood of Anaa on 27 August, the error in
the estimated longitude must have increased suddenly from

o the neighbourhcod of 2°92 Finally, on Bougainville's

chart. no ialand is shown weat of Hargaiki: aes we shall
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Christian Majesty Louis XV under the Ministry of César
Gabrielle de Choiseul, duc de Praslin, have discovered and
examined ten islands (1) low and nearly drowned, situated
between 19 and 17 degrees of southern latitude, from the
140th to the 145th degrees of longitude west of Paris (2)
We have named this archipelago, the Dangerous Archipelago,
and we have taken jossession of it on behalf of His Majesty
with the required formalities, In witness whereof we have
drawn up the presént Act of Possession, and have obtained the
signatures of the naval officers and chief Petty officers of
the two vessels under our command, Prepared on board the

royal frigate La Boudeuse on 26 March 1768... ' (3)

The weather, no longer favoured the expedition: from being
overcast, it turned to rain and soon to 'the most horrible
wegther in the world' which caused Bougainville to sagil SSE,(4).
Scurvj began to affect the sailors. 'The poor sailor cannot
get himself dry and, since humidity is the most active agent
of scurvy, we shall soon be infected with it; the storekeeper's
clerk and one of my blacks are very ill with it, ° (5)

(1) In reality 8: Vehitani, zwhich Bougainville reckons as four),
Akiaki, Hao, Two Groups (which he treats as one), Hikueru,
Reitoru, and Haraiki,

22; This wording eliminates Anaa, which is 147051' west of Paris.
Autograph Acte de Possession on parchment bearing 37

signatures, listed in Sotheby's Catalogue of the hi hl
important papers of Louis de Bougainville F, R, S. 29-1811), p. 24
i;; ougainville, Journasl & Marc 68,

Ibid., 31 March - I April 1768,
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In an attempt to halt the ravages of the disease, the sailors
were given a kind of lemondde, but it could only act as a
palliative. It was evident that, unless an island could supply
them with refreshments, scurvy would create havoc among the crew.

Their troubles were nearing an end, however, for on 2 April
a high peak was seen NNE, and another high isiand WNW. The
high mountain Bougainville named Le Boudoir (1) with the alter-
native name of Boudeuse Peak; it was Mehetia $sland, 1427 feet
high, some sixty miles off Tahiti, which Wallis had already
sighted in 1767 and called Usnaburg lsland.(2) Bougainville
estimated its position as 17°51' south and 147050' west, a not

inaccurate estimate. (3)

For the rest of the day, the sea was dead calm, and it was
not until 6 p.m. that a breeze came up; even then it was not

very favourable and he spent all night on various tacks.(4)

(1) Le Boudoir could be translated with justice as the 'bower',
being an isolated garden island, but, in view of the name
of his ship (for 'Boudeuse' as well as 'the surly one' also
means a kind of settee) it is probable that Bougainville
meant it to refer to a small sitting-room. There may have
been an unconscious association in his mind with the word
‘bougeoir' a candleholder, from the shape of the peak.

(2) 'The whole one continuous Mountain which may easily be seen
fifteen or sixteen Leagues distance.' G.Robertson, in
The Discovery of Tahiti, (ed.H.Carrington), p.l1l3l.

(3) ournal, 1-2 April 1768. The correct position of Mehetia
is 17054' south and 148°02' west. Bougainvillie's reckoning
of ¥his longitude is, therefore, rather more accurate than

at Hao.

(4) e.g., SWiW,W,WiNw,N,ESE,WSW. Caro, Journal, 2-3 April 1768.
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On the 4th however, he had approasched sufficiently close to
the western land to distinguish something like a canal thsat
appeared to cut it into two islands, but as they came closer
he 'recognised that it was only a great bay with low land
inside it.' (1)

Then he sailed along the eastern coasst of Tghiti - for
such it was - until he reached the northernmost point. 'On
the morning of the 6th we had reached the northern extremity
of the island.' (2) Behind this lay Matavai Bay, where the
Englishman Samiel Wallis had brought the Dolphin to anchor
less than a year before, and where Cook was to bring the
Endeavour in 1769, but the coast was defended by a long line
of breakers with no apparent opening, and nothing led the
French to suspect that a good anchorsge was so near to them,
They turned back towards the great bay; the boats were
lowered to seek a safe opening through the reef; they failed
to £ind one in the afternoon of the 5th, but succeeded the
following morning; (3) the Boudeuse anchored in what is known
as Hitiaa Lagoon,, It was to prove a 'detestsble anchorage"
that cost them a total of six anchors. (4)

Meanwhile, the island appeared attrsctive. The natives
were friendly and, even while the French had been sailing
slowly along the coast, brisk trading had been carried out
with upwards of a hundred canoes. Indeed, the very friend-
liness of the islanders gsve rise to unusual difficulties
(1) Bougainville, Journal -4 April 1768,

52; Bougainville, Voyage de la Boudeuse, p, 188,
3) Caro, Journal 5-6 April 1768, This opening in the reef is
today called 'La Passe de la Boudeuse, 'and the lagoon is

de
also known asg Port de Bougaiville, Pacifigtﬁilot,vdiﬂ,rdfh

(43 Bougainviii ;
€, Journal, 15 April 17es,
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when the French were endeavouring to drop the anchor,

'T gsk: how could one keep at work, in the midst of such
a spectacle, four hundred Frenchmen, young sailors whoy, for
six months had not seen a woman? In spite of all our pre-
cautions, one young woman came aboasrd onto the pcop, and
stood by one of the hatches above the capstan, This hatch
was opened to give some air to those who were working, The
young girl negligently allowed her loincloth to fall to the
ground, and appeared to all eyes such as Venus showed herself
to the Phrygian shepherd, She had the Goddess's celestial form,
Sailors and soldiers hurried to get to the hatchway, and never
was capstan heaved with such speed. '(1)

On that day, the legend of Tahiti was born, Bougainville,
however, remained csutious and, as desirous of preserving
discipline as he was to prevent his men from falling into a
possible ambush, he issued an order that no one was yet to
set fcot on land, All obeyed except one, the cook, who,
although treated with what could be considered indignity, was
not mishandled, The picture of Tahiti as a South Sea paradise
was to remain unimpaired for many weeks and, in some respects,
for ever., Indeed, to Vivés, the Tahitians appeared so charming
that he wondered how their civilisation could have developed
without the influence of Europe. (2)

Although he was later to draw up a document taking possession

of the island on behalf of France, Bougainville never claimed

21; Bougainville, Voyage de la Boudeuse,p, 190,
2) Viees, Journal, p, 101,
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that he was the discoverer of Tahiti., True, the island
did not appear on any chart, but there were clear indications
of a prior visit by Europeans, A Tahitian had come on board
the Etoile even before the French had found an anchorage; he
had visited the ship, and stayed several nights, It was he
who gave the first indication that they were not the first
discoverers of Tahiti,

'I believe that he knew the guns, (for)] when he saw them
in the great chamber he began to say 'poux poux', and he made
a gesture to show that it caused death, ' (1)

Apart from considersble 'souveniring'! by the Tahitians,
there was little to mar the friendly relgtions, Visits were
exchanged, and the islanders were entertained to s concert on
bass, flute and violin, followed by a fireworks display. At
first, there had been some objections to Bougainville's plan
to erect a siék camp on land, but by making clear his intention
to remain only for a total of eighteen days - and then agreeing,
at the reguest of the natives, to reduce this to nine days -
he overcame it, There were thirty-four cases of scurvy, twenty
of them on the Etoile, (2)

The problem of thefts is a recurrent one in Pacific explor-
ation, It caused much bloodshed and, to many navigators, it
was simply another proof of the amorality of primitive people,

Bougainville, who suffered as much from this exasperating

gl Caro, Journai,4-5 April 1768,
Ibid.,8—9 April 17868,
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frait as any other, takes a more sensible and understanding
attitude than most:

'"No doubt curiosity towards new objects awoke in them
violent desires - and anyhow there are rascsls everywhere, '(1)

It is a temptation that even Europeans would find hard to
resist. To the islanders, the visitors were as strange sas
travellers from outer space, the goods on board were curiosities,
the iron articles unusual treasures., But Bougainville, while
he understood better than most explorers the temptations to
which the natives were exposed, did not fail, for gll that,
to take all possible precautions to avoid incidents and to
orevent thieving.

Incidents became less easy to avold as days went by,
Some days were good, such as the 10th when 'the Chief offered
me one of his women, (2) young and fairly pretty; the whole
assembly sang the marriage hymn, What a country!* What a
peoplet' (3) Yet, later that day, a Tahitian was found killed.

'It must be a cowardly murder, ' wrote Bougainville, who endeavoured

TIT‘Bougainville,'VOya§g de Ia Boudeuse, ' p,197, This did not
grevent him from gilving way to impatience when provocation
ecame too great, 'I fear that we shall have to kill some
in the end, as an example, ' he confided in his Journal on
9 April 1768, Caro wrote that the Tahitian who Wwas =a guest
on the Etoile was 'as great a scoundrel as the others', —
Journal, 9-10 April 1783,

o 1 111 1 ] 2 ] [ ] -
(2) Bougainville writes Ifemmeg’, which could meep yiyes

(3) Bougainville, Journal, 10 April 1768, He does not say
whether the offer was accepted,
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to trace the culprit, (1) On the 12th, three islanders were
bayonetted by some soldiers from the Boudeuse; this time, it
was possible to arrest four suspects,(2) The danger, as
Bougainville knew,was that the Tahitians might seek to revenge
their dead by making a sudden attack on the ships. The weather
was bad, and the Boudeuse, which had dragged her anchors, had
struck the Etoile,inflicting, fortunately, only minor damage.
Bougainville did not want to incur the hostility of the natives
in addition to these other troubles; he sought to placate them
by punishing the soldiers. M. de Bougainville wanted to make
ihem draw lots asmong the soldiers in order to hang one, but as
it was nearly dark, M, de Bougainville had them taken on board
and put in irons,' (3)

In the night, the Boudeuse's cables gave more trouble,
The anchorage was indeced detestable; in a gale one of the
ships might easily drift'oqéo the reef or ashore, It was more
than ever important to maintain friendly relations. 1In the
morning, the Prince of Nassaw was despatched on a diplomatic
mission; his noble manners, his courtier's tact restored
friendly relations, Shmdms Confidence, however, was weakened:
the more prudent among the natives, remembering the troubles
with Wallis the year before, were fleeing inte the hills,

taking their belongings with them, (4)

ilgIbid , 11 April 1788,

2 gh; gulgritg were apprehended bg the(Prince of Nassau; see
.F.P, Fesche, La Nouvelle Cythere, (ed,J.Dorsenne), pp.=24-5,

éigggig, Journal,12-13 April 1768, '
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The stay was nesring its end, Bougainville had promised
to leave within nine days, and it was wise to depart as soon
as possible from this unsafe harbour, As a parting gesture,

a garden was prepared in which wheat, maize, beans, peas,
lentils and other vegetables were sown, (1) Bougainville also
gave turkeys and geese in the hope that these, like the plants,
might multiply and help to supplement the Tghitian diet.

The Act of Possession was buried 'at thirteen paces from
the shore and one hundred and eight paces from the river where
we obtained our water'(2) The copy given by Bougainville reads
as follows (3) 'The year 1768 the 12 April we, Louis-Antoine
de Bougainville, colonel in the infantry, captain of the king's
ships, commanding the frigates the Boudeuse and the Etoile, by
order of His Most Christian Majesty Louis XV, under the ministry
of M,de Choiseul, Duc de Praslin, we have taken possession of
" an archipelago, stretching from the 18th to the 16th degrees of
longitude west of the Paris meridian, in proof of which, in one
of the islands of this archipelago,situated in 17034' of
southern latitude and approximately 151° of longitude west(4)
which we have named New Cythera, (5) we have left the present

él} Bougainville, Journal, 14 April 1768,

2) St.Germain, quoted in de la Roncidre, Routier Inédit, ps233.

3) The version given by St.Germain differs in minor points,
notably by omitting the reference to an archipelago but
adding that the island is situated in 'the Western Sea, '
However, St, Germain quotes in full the minuted document
claiming the island for France, which is far more detailed,

(4) The anchorage at Hitisa is on 17035' south, and 151037' west
of Paris, egquivalent to 149017' west of Greenwich,

(6) This was considered appropriate in view of the Tahitian
attitude towards love, Cythera is a Greek island where
Aphrodite is reputed to have risen from the waves; an
important temple dedicated to the goddess had been built on

the island in e1 i
impressed the Frggghcal o
social vipty ’

Sexual f
some of who reedom in Tahiti strongly

reé, as we shall cee. m sought to praige it as g
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inscription corresponding to the Act of Possession signed by
our officers and chief officers, whose names are appended, in
a bottle' (1).

Even as they left, danger threatened them. For no sooner
had they got half a league out than the breeze died down, and
the Boudeuse was left to drift back towards the reef; half an
hour elapsed before a light wind came to free them from the
current, (2)

Shortly before the departupe, Ereti, the local chief who
had befriended them, came aboard with another Tahitian who,
80 it later proved, was his brother and also the man who had
spent several days on board the Etoile, Ereti explained that
his brother, Aoutourou (3) wished to sail with the French to
visit their country and to return later to Tahiti, They were
glad to encourage him to do so, since their stay in these
islands was necessarily a short one; he would be helpful as
an interpreter and guide if they came across other islands
inhabited by people of his race. And he would be invaluable as
a source of information on the customs, language and resources
of his island, Ahutoru, who later gave rise to Marion du Fresne's
ill-fated expedition, ensbled Bougainville to correct some of his
opinions about the island (4). The Prenchman hed nothing

ougainville, Journal, 14 April 1768,

ggg_ﬁb;d.,ls AprilTI768; &aro, Journal, 1l4-15 April 1768,
3) The French phonetic rendition of his name which was probably

Ahu-toru, See Teuira Henry, Ancient Tahiti, p.17. At first

Bougainville called him 'Louis de re’, Caro, Journal,
15-16 April 1768,

(4) It was from him that Bougainville learned that an English ship
had already discovered Tahiti,Bougainville, Voyage, ».232
Strangely enough, when Cook mentioned Ahutoru to Ereti, the
chie{ %?owed no interest whatsoever, See Voyage of the
E8sclution and Adventure: (eg, J.C.Beaglehole), p.205
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But praise for the place, its climate, the apparently easy

life of the natives and what he saw and understocd of their
institutions, Until Ahutoru had learned enough French to

gshow him the reverse cf the medal, he believed that here was
procf conclusive of the theory, so popular in France at the
time, that Man in his natural ctate was good, and that only
civilisgtion corrupted him, It was an opinicn that he reviged
as the enchanted island receded intc the distance, but the
Parisien philosorhers later welcomed the smiling Tahitian,
whose guprposed way of life dovetailed so nestly into their
theories,

But a less rosy view was taken by St. Germain who, as =
newly—married mzn separated from his wife, had presumably
been unimpressed by the generous attitude of the Taghitisan
women, 'This pcor wretch' he wrote of Ahu~-toru, 'will long
repent the fcolish thing he has done, Vecause I consider his
return to hls homelend as impessible; he will be happy if
the sorrow of remaining a long time at sea does not deprive
him cf the temporary pleasure that will be his when he sees
Paris: his main motive is the desire thst he has of marrying
for a time some white women' (sic). (1)

Ahu-toru wes most anxious to guide his new friends to
neighbouring islsnds in the Society group, as it was to be
called, and he impressed the French with his knowledge of astrazl
navigation. (2) Rather logically, he stressed the attractions of
the island women in some of the vplaces where he hoped the French

could te persuaded to land: having seen the interest

(1) Routier Tnédit, p.284. (2) 'The Indisn showed us the Great Bear,

the in and the oth
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displayed by them towards the opposite sex in Tahiti, he
naturally concluded that this was one of the main purposes
of the expediticn, But Bougainville felt that the supplies
they had on board did not allow a leisurely voyage among the
islands, He therefore neglected Ahu-toru's insistent advice,
and thus failed tc locate the large Leeward Islend group north-
west of Tahiti, leaving this rich crop to be harvested by Cook
in the following year, Perhaps Bougainville did not believe
that Ahu~toru's islands were anything more than the astolls
similsr to those he had seen in the Tuamotus, for, soon after
the departure from Hitiea,a group of three smgll islands came
into sight which then merged into cne low atoll,

The ships had sailed north=-north-egst for apprroximately
thirty miles, and then veered north-north-west, On 16 April,
at 10 a.m,, 'we saw land to leeward having the appearance of
three islands; cne could still see the extremity of Tahiti,

At midday, we saw rerfectly that what we had taken for three
islands was only one .., this island was of moderate héight.(l)
This would indicate that the French were in sight of Tetiaros
atoll, to the north of Tahiti; Bougasinville shows on his chart
two islsnds to the north of Tahiti Letween 16°60' and 17905
south - and the latitude of Tetiaroa is 17°03"' south, (2) why
there should becggéfﬁaghfgfands named Qumaitia where he reports

having seen first three and then one is not clear - unless thig . l:o

represents some further lsnd which he suspected lay behind, The

(1) Bougainville 's Voyage, p, 233, A great degl hinges'on the last

:entence: 'une hauteur médiocre, ' which has a pegorative under-
one,

n
(2) Bougaiville's latitudes,when given, gre fairly accursate,
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chart, however, is more complicated, because it shows two more
islends, Heeri snd Papara, to the west of Tahiti; approximstely
where Moorea and Tubuail Manu lie,

Little sense can be made out of the chart if it is taken
toe strictly in conjunction with the printed text or the log,
for it represents btoth what Bougainville saw and what he tried
to understand from Ahu-toru, Thus it appears reasonable to
believe that he saw Tetiaroa, as he must have sailed quite
close to it: he sccordingly set this down on the chsart, and
asked Ahutoru to name it., The Tahitian believed the Frenchman ‘
to be referring to the farther land which could te seen ’panéessus ‘
cette nouvelle terre', and he named it Qumaitis., If we presume
that Bougainville was now to the north-east of Tetiarca - g
reasonable hypothesis for the afterncon of the 16 April - the
high pesk of Mooreas would te in g line with the lowland of
Tetiaroa., Ahutoru was possibly referring to a village on the
south-west coast of Moorea, Mahatea, where he may have been
urging Bougainville to go,

Bougainville then asked for the names of other islands.
Ahutoru gave two names - Papara, a district of Tahiti itself,
which would also be to the gouth-west of the Boudeuse, and
Heeri, which could be Mt, Ohiri cn Tahaa, whose 1936 feet =
-high peak Ahutoru thought he could distinguish on the'horizon.
But either now or latera Ahutoru gave a further list of names

to Bougainville who, since there was nothing on the horizon to
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which they could be assigned, did not include them on his
rough chart.

'Aoutourou has spoken to me of several islands, some allied
with Tahiti, others always at war with her. The friendly

Maoroua,
islands are: Aimeo,/Aca, Oumaitia, Tapoua Massou; the enemy
ones are: Papara, Aitea, Otaa, Toumaraa, Oopoa. These islands
are as large as Tahiti, the island of Paré, where pearls abound,
is sometimes allied, sometimes at war with Tahiti.' (1)

The names given can serve to illustrate the confusion which
existed in the Frenchman's mind. Maoroua is Moorea, (although
Maupiti is sometimes known as Marua),(2), Tapoua Massou is
Tubuai Manu, Aiatea is Baiatea and Otaa is Tahau; Aimeo is a
former name for Moorea,(3) and Oumaitia we have already seen,
may be part of the same island; Papara and Paré are districts
of Tahiti, Toumaraa is Tumaraa, and Oopoa is Opoa, both being
districts of Raiatea; Acaa remains unidentifiable. All these
are listed as friendly or unfriendly 'islands' close to Tahiti.

The conclusion would appear to be that the French discovered
Tetiaroa, and saw indistinctly Moorea. That they saw anything
of either Huahine, Tubuai Manu or Tahaa seems hard to credit.
The two ships sailed on, eager only to avoid meeting further
reef-fringed atolls. By 18 April, they had sailed beyond the
fifteenth parailel, and the entire Society group lay far to the
south.

Land was not seen again until 3 May at dawn. At 6.30., a

(%) Boneglayilie, Yorage, P B2 Pacific, p.E=E. 79,

(3) Teuira Henry, Ancient Tahiti; p.89.
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high islsnd appeared to the north-west (1), They sailed
towards it, and it was seen that there were three islands
altogether; canoes came out to them, but Ahutoru could not
understand the language of the natives who manned them, The
pecple were not related to the Tahitians, and lscked the charm
of New Cythera, for 'as woman who has come out in one of the
canceg is hideous, ' (2) The French had reached the Samoan
group to which, on account of the numbers of canoces they saw
there, they gave the name of Navigators' Islands, (3)

These first three islands form the Manua group - Tua, and
the two smgller islands of Olosega and Ofu, Tua is cone-shaped, ‘
end rises to 2,000 ft., On the morning of the 5th, the French
sighted a long and high island.to the northwest- Tutuila - and,
as shown by Bougainville's charts, they had a distant view of
the southern coast of Upclu in the evening, Nothing more was
seen on the sixth, the weather was becoming overcast, asnd the
winds were capricicus, 'How much patience, my God, does this
navigation require!’exclaimed Bougainville, (4) while Caro

records the weather as 'trés pitoyable'(5)

768,

On the Etoile,the islands were named 'The Three Cousins, '
Vivés, Journal, p,117

(4) Ibid,,9-10 Nay 1768, Bougainville, in fact had little patience
according to a note by his son Hyacinthe, in I.N,N.A.F.9407-57.

(6) Caro, Journal, 9-1C May 1768,
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The absence of charts, the possibility of a sudden reef
appearing ahead, the steadily worsening condition of the
gsupplies, all these ﬁere beginning to fray their morsle

'For my part, I believe privately that we are making
here a voyage that is very thorny, snd one in which we are
running great risks, in addition to the length of a pasgage
such as we are making, the sufferings and fatigues that we
have to endure which do not cease to be very great and hard,
for it must be borne in mind that in ten days we have been
at sea for six months since leaving Montevideco, and those
who come after us, if ever any do come, will still have great
risks to run, (1)’

They still had many islands before them, After gailing
westwards, they saw, on the 1llth at dawn;'a fairly high land
which appears to cut into two islands, to the WSW, distance of
approximately eight leagues,' At first Bougainville called this
La Solitaire (2) then changed it to 1'Enfant Perdu, They were in
fact Hoorn Islands, Futuna and Alefi, which are easy to mistake
from a distance for a single twin-peaked island, The position
of the Boudeuse at the time was 14°15' south by 178%944"' west of
Paris, This, corrected by a lunar observations of Véron's on
the previous day, gives a truer position of 14015 by 18¢49’,
Since Futuna and Alofi lie in 14015' south and 180025"' west of

Paris, Véron's work is shown to be remarkebly asccurate for the

time,

él) Caro, Journal, 4-5 May 1768,
2) Bougainville, Journal, 10-11 May 1768,
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The passage of the French expedition in these parts is
commemorated in the name of the Alofi pesk, which is now
known as Mt, Bougainville,

Ten more days were to pass, on a course that took them
WSW then W, before land was again sighted - this time the
archipelago of the New Hebrides, Meanwhile the weather was
bad, and the health of the officers and crew was once more
cgusing concern, 'Frightful weather, We have now been at
sea six months., We have refreshments left only for the sick,
Firewcod is going to run out, Seversl officers have the mouth
heated and the gums affected by scurvy., For my part, I am no
longer master of my impatience,' (1)

There was not only scurvy on board, but g disease which, to J
the ssilors, could only be what was called ‘'the venereal distemper,

'"We have begun to notice that some ssilors, two in number, J
have caught an illness, it is believed at the island of Cythera;
it has manifested itself by chancres, ' wrote St. Germain on the
l6th. (2)

On the following day, he reports that six socldiers are
suffering from the same trouble, On the 22nd, he becomes more
specific., 'Several cases of venereal disease have cccurred on
the storeship 1l'Etoile and several more on our ship, I must
say, in praise of the continence or good fortune of the

officers, that none has been affected in this way, '(3)

(1) Bougainville, Journal,13-14 May 1768, Two days later, he
commented: 'this is not living, it is dying a thousand deaths, '

ézg De la Ronciére, 'Routier Inédit,' p.236.

3) Ibid.,, p.236.
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Vives gives the eventual number of the sick as being
approximately twenty on the Boudeuse and twelve on the Etoile, (1)
Ahu-toru was among the sufferers, but 'it appears that in his
country, they worry little about this disease',(2) The question
of whether the disesse was endemic in the islande and, if it
was not, of which navigator was responsible for its intrcductien,
is of some importance, for it has led toc a controversy between
the French and the English, which has not yet died down, (3)

The easiest answer would be to state that the first ship-
load of sailors and marines to enjoy the favours of the island
women was responsible for introducing at the same time & disesse
with which seamen especially are familisr., This would give the
dubicus honour to the men of Wallis's Dolphin, Did not the
Tahitians call it 'Apa no peritane' - the British illness?®
However, although twenty men of the Dolphin's crew were affected
when the ship sailed from Plymouth, all, with one possible
exception, were declared cured by the surgeon long before Tahiti
was reached; nor were any cases reported after the call there,
This would place the onus squarely on Bougainville, who did not

deny that his men had suffered from it at some time, (4) Either

1
2
3

Viveés, Journal,p,112; de la Ronciere, 'Routier Inédit, ' p. 236,
Bougsinville, Voyage de la Boudeuse, p, 242,

The French case is put by de 1la Roncidre in 'Routier Inédit,
PPe 235-6; the British case is summarised by H, Carrington, in
The Discovery of Tahiti, pp. 284-7, while g suggestion that
would tend to exculpate both sides was put forward by Sir Jos-
eph Carruthers in Captain James Cook R,N. One hundred and
fift ears after, pp,1lE55-70, as well as by J.C.Beaglehole in
The Exploration of the Pacific,p.246, and more recently by S.M.
Lambert in A Doctor in Paradise, pp, 30-2, The question has been
most recently discussed, from the French point of view, at a
meeting of the Société Frangaise d'Histoire de Medecine, but

no new csvidence was adduced, see Jou l de 1
Occanistes,vol, T no, ¥ o fro2 Boclété des
. Occfanistes, ’ I, Dec,1945;p, 37, (4) 7T had t ken all

€ Precautions s N
rage de lg Boudeusef)egg%tégi]%%%ﬁ%d.%ﬁghtranbmiﬁ\[itJ ¥ them.qBougainville,
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way, Cook's men were absolved,

Bougainville refuted the claim that the French had
brought the disease to Tahiti: in his first edition, he
contented himself with saying: 'I do not know whether the
Tghitians owe to the English, as well as the discovery of
iron, the introduction of the veneregl diseases which we

found established there,' (1) But, in his second edition,

published in 1772, he replies to Cook's accusations saying:
't is with as little justification that they accuse us of
having brought to the unfortunate Tahitians the illness that
we could suspect more justly was communicated to them by

M. Wallas's (sic) crew. (2)

Vives, the surgeon, sprang to the defence with more
energy. 'As to the seeds of this illness, it is certain that
they were not brought by the French into this country, where
it seems to have been current for a long time; I do not say
this from ﬁearsay: But I have seen two women who gave me
sufficient proof.y I have, in addition, the report of my
second surgeon; furthermore (that] of Boutaveris (3), a native
whom we had on board, who, on the third day that he arrived,
gave us his personal news, by which he made us understand that
they were subject to it in his country, but that their doctors
cured it by means of plants.,' (4) Similarly, La Giramdais had
gigiﬁiﬁf-ﬁfﬁﬁzi—ffalfcs mine,

2)Bougainville, Voyage (1772 ed. ), vol,II, pp.I1I5-6, The other

accusation was of having flown a Spanish flag at Tahiti,

(3)Ahu-toru, who had exchanged names with Bougainville, and who
was later known by this Tahitian approximation of the French-
man's name,

(4)Vivés, Journal p,111-2; de la Roncidre, 'Routier Inédit, 'p.236.
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written in his Journal, upon his arrival at Tghiti: 'the
venereal disease is very common there, ' (X)

This does not necessarily prove that venereal disease was
endemic in Tahiti., 'For a long time' does not always mean the
same to natives as it does to us; it may well refer to a period
of twelve months, Vivés could thus have been misled by Ahu-toru,
who also told Bougainville that 'in his country, they worry little
gbout this disease,' The later - and far more serious - manifest-
ations of syphilis would not have declared themselves in the first
twelve months, and the Tahitians would not have found too much
to worry about at first, If Ahu-toru and Vivés are to be
trusted, the disease existed on the island in 1768 - and the
men of the Dolphin should bear the blame,

Yet, the disease might have been known to the Tahitians
long before the arrival of the first Europeans, Although some
anthropologists are gquite adamant that it was unknown in
Polynesia until then,(2), others point out that the Bpanish
could have brought it from Americs, where it is believed to
have originated, to the Marqguesas and the Tuamotus in the 16th
and 17th centuries, whence normal intercourse between the islands
could have brought it to Tahiti,(3)z others again suggest
evidence of voyages from America to Polynesia before the New
World was discovered,(4) It is a question that could probably
only be settled by an examination of pre-European Tahitian
gszaélrandais,ﬁournal,s April 1768.

2)Bengt DanieX¥son, Love in the South Seas,p.102.

3)H, Jacquier, 'Le Mirage et l'€&xotisme Tahitiens dans 1la
Litterature,' in Bulletin de la Société des Etudes Océaniennes,
Vol. VII’ No. 2y D. 64, v

(4)J.Hornell, 'Was there pre-Columbian contact between the people
of Oceania and America??, in Journal of the Polynesian Society,

1945, p, 167-91.
the Badirla, o0 2180 Thor Heyerdahl's Awrican Tndians in




skeletons, and one which still leaves us with that damning
appelation 'Apa no péritane.'

It is at this stage that the suggestion that Ahutoru
was referring to yaws,and not syphilis, must be considered,
Yaws is a tropical disease, endemic in the Pacifie, caused
by a virus very similar to the causative organism of syphilis, (1)
and the symptoms, which include ulcers, are very similar in
both cases, (2) This, therefore, reconciles the statementgbf
Ahu-toru and Vivés with those of Wallis,

But this theory brings us back very soon where we were on
the question of venereal disease, because it does not explain
why Bougainville and Cook's men were infected with 'yaws ',
while Wallis's got off scot-free, Nor does it solve the problem
of the eventual introduction of veneresl disease, Yaws, to
some extent, gctsas an immuinising agent against syphilis, It
i1s significant that, today, Pacific islands where yaws remains
a problem are free from syphilis - this is the case in Samoa,
the Solomons and the Gilbert and Ellice group, (3) Conversely,
where yaws ;;b being eradicated, such ss in Tahiti, syphilis
is on the increase,

We cannot attach too much importance to the silence of
Wallis % surgeon. When he assured Wallis that 'no man on board
(1) The micro-organisism in yaws 1s Spirochaeta pallidula; in

syphilis, it is called S irochaefg__ETTTEET-ETEEFE_Tg also

the possibility of yaws‘m%m syphilis,

(2) Bougainville stated that 'They {the illnesses) showed all

thi ;;mptons known in Europe'. Voyage de la Boudeuse, (1772),
vol,II,

(3) South Pacific Commission Technical Information CGircular No. 2,

Project H,9, Venerea Diseases, August 952, p.l.
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was affected with any sort of disorder, that they could
communicate to the Natives of this beautiful island') (1),
he was speaking during a discussion on whether to curtail
the Liverty men's shore leave, something to which he objected
as being likely to harm the sick men's recoverj. Furthermore,
it should te remembered that a venereal infection rendered the
sailor liable to loss of pay - a practice &8 which did not
encourage him to report to the surgeon,

It could be, therefore, that the twenty men on the Dolphin,
who had been suffering from the disease(2), transmitted some
of the germs to a small number of yaws-free women, The women,
being themselves uncontaminated, would not cause a serious
recurrence of the disease among the sailors, A year later,
hoﬁever, the disease would have become established in the
island and called the 'British disease'. Bougainville's
salilors, and Cook's after him, would have had intercourse
with women who were no longer free from the disease, and they
would have suffered correspondingly greater ill-effects, This
could explaein why the men of the Endeavour in 1769 would have
been more affected than the men of the Boudeuse and of the
~Etoile in 1768, (3) just as the men of the Boudeuse were more
affected than those of the Dolphin,

While all these discomforts were being endured, the two
ships were continuing their westward progress. Elewn days
after sailing from Hoorn Islands, that is, on 22 May 1768,
land appeared ahead, '... Two islands, with a pass between the
yig—ﬁdbertson, The Discovery of Tahiti,(ed,Carrington), p.186.

2) In the eighteenth century, the disease could be treated,
but a definitive cure was rare,

(3) Cook's men, it is true, stayed far longer in Tahiti, but

Bougainville's sailors enjoyed an impressive hospital
during their brief stay. ’ ety




- 154 -
two, some two leagues in width; what we saw stretched from
the north-west by 5 degrees west to south by 4 degrees east.
We sailed close to the wind, but, not being sble to reach the
strait between the twq islands, I bore away along the coast of
the northernmost island to pass to leeward, and I named this
island Aurora and the southernmost Pentecost from which it is
separated by a strait. ' (1)

The two ships were in sight of the New Hebrides, but the
name that Bougainville gave to the island group was 'The Great
Cyclades' - again a derivation from the Greek. Aurora Island
is Maewo, while Pentecost, although still known by that name
today, is also known by its native name, Raga. The strait
between them is Patterson Passage. As Bougainville reached the
north-east cape of Maewo, he saw far to the north a single peak,
muach like Mehetia; this, which was the small island of Mersa Lava
in the Banks group, he called the Pic de 1'Etoile, Just as
Mehetia had been called the Pic de la Boudeuse, Rounding the
northern point of Maewo, the two ships saw another island to
the southwest and more land stretching from west by south-west
to north-west, It was - there seemed little doubt about it -
the land which Quiros had discovered in 1606, and to which he
had given the name of Austrialis del Espiritu Santo,

‘We believe, following Quiros' mémoire, that this land
(is the one] he found in this region, and which (he) marks as
being that of the Holy Ghost, and where he entered by a kind

(1) Bougainvi’ls, Journal, 21-22 May 1768. The 22 May 1768 was
Whitsunday, #he Feast of the Pentecost,
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of gulf between two headlands, after having eovered twelve to
fifteen lesgues and found himself in a very gecd harbour, and
in g fine bgy where he anchored in six fethoms, sandy bottom,
where he stayed for over a month', (1)

The French unfortunately missed Quiros' anchorage in St,
Philip end St, James Bay, since, instead of sgiling westward
towards the island of Espiritu Santo, where they would hgve
found it, they veered south towards the new island they had
seen to the southwest. On the morning of May £3, being in
need of water and of what refreshments the island could cffer,
Bougainville sent two boats ashore; the Etcile contributed
one armed boét. Firewocd was cobtained, as well as bananas and
coconuts, in exchange for small gifts of trinkets and red c¢loth,
Bougainville himeelf, accompanied ty the Prince of Nassgu,
landed in the afternocon, The presence of the awe-inspiring
ari;tocrat was of value for, when the natives began to display
gome hostllity, he advanced towards them and quelled them by his
bearing and his obvious courage. (2) A 'prise de possession' was
bturied at the foct of a tree, in accordance with the usual custom;
the Spanish might have a prior claim, but they had displsyed no
interest in these islands for nearly two centuries: it was more
likely that a more energetic nation like France would add the
Great Cyclades to her empire, Little did Bougainville think

that, one day, under the name of New Hebridee, bestowed on them

(1) Caro, Journal,2I1-22 May 1768, The French were able toc refer
to the records in the. ships' libraries, 'having all the
mémoires and all the journals of gll the navigators who have
passed this way, ' Ibid,,same dste,

(2) Bougainville, Voyasge de la Boudeuse, De 244,
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by Cook, they would be Jjointly administered by France and her
traditional rival, England,

Just as the party was about to leave the island, in the
late afternoon, the natives suddenly attacked with arrows
end stones; s few musket shots were needed to disperse them, (1)
Communication had not been easy, since Ahu-toru did not spesk
their langusge and their appearance was remarksbly unsavoury.

'Many of them were covered with running scabs, others
with horrible sores that covered part of the body.' (2)

st. Germain, repelled by thelr appearance, was cauticus in
his dealings with them, 'I refused their rush mattings, ' he
wrote, 'The wounds with which these people are covered and
which csused us to give to this island the nsme of Lepers
Island made me fear that these diseases are communicated by
clothes which they have worn,' (3)

The symptoms dencted leprosy, yaws ahd tropical ulcers -

perhaps a skin disease known as leuccdermia,or an attack of

the ringworm called bukwa « (4) Yet the natives of Aoba, Oba
or Omba, as the island is now veriously called, are today
cleaner and healthier than those of the surrounding islands(5)
It seems obviocus that Bougainville landed among an afflicted

section of the population; there is plenty of evidence thsat

1) Caro, Journal, 23-20 May 1768,
2) St. Germain, Routier In€édit, p.240.
5 Ibido ? po 241

4 Tﬁe Voyage of the Resolution and Adventure, (ed, J,C, Beaglehole3

457, nb,
(5) Senifio Tsiands Tesr Book, 8th edition (1959), Pe 4253,
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Aoba once supported a much bigger population, something which
is true of most of the New Hebrides; contact with the less
savoury side of FEuropean civilisation is at the root of this,
but it may hsve been accentuated by widespresd tropical disesses,
such as those seen by the French in 1768,

From Aoba, the Boudeuse and the Etoile sailed west,
passing between Malekuls and the small island of Malo, through
the strait which today still bears Bougainville's name,
Bougainville sighted, but did not name, Espiritu Santo, the
igland where Quiros had lgnded in 1606, but it is not clear
whether he realised the extent of the island which he had first
seen on the 22nd, (1)

Bougainville's belief that these islands were indeed
identical with Quiros's lendfall raised another question - was
there lend nearby? On Vaugondy's map in de Brosses's Histoire

Hes Navigations sux Terres Australes, Espiritu Santo was shown

as an extensicn of New Holland, although de Brosses, in the text,
expressed uncertsinty on this point, and considered it more likely
that Quiross discovery wax an island,

'To solve the problem, it would be necessary to follow the
same parallel for a distance of more than 350 leagues, I resolved
on this course, although the state and the quantity of our supplies

warned us to seek promptly some European settlement.'(z)

§lg Anbryn and Malekuls were both sighted but not named,
2) Bougainville, Voysge de la Boudeuse,p, 252,
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It was something which no one had yet attempted. Quiros
had sailed north towards Manila from Espiritu Santo; Tasman,
Roggeween, Byron, Anson, Carteret, Wallis, had all kept well
to the north of the New Hebrides, pressed by the need for
refreshing their crews, and uncertain of the existence of =
passage south of New Guinea, Only Torres, on a voyage that
had received no publicity, had penetrated into the Corgl Seas,

By the time an expedition, particularly an ill-equipped cne
such as Wallis and Carteret's, had battled its way across the
Pacific, it was in no fit condition for further exploraticn,
and it made with all possible speed for known Eurocpean settle-
ments - Guam, the Philippines or the Dutch East Indies,
Bougainville himself was no better off than his predecessors -
his stores, in particular, were extremely low - but he wsas
prepared to pay a heavy price to solve the riddle, Within a
few days of having made this decision, he was to write 'at
supper, we ate some rats, and found them very good, '(1)

While these serious problems were plaguing him, Bougainville
went on board the Etoile to consult Chesnard de la Girandais,
end he found time to elucidate a comic opera mystery, Rumours
had begun to circulate about Baret, Commerson's faithful servant,
soon after they had left France, but it was not until the ships
reached Tahiti that they crystallised into a certginty - Baret
was a woman, The Polynesians had‘never had any doubts about it,

and they, including Ahu-toru, failed to understand why Baret

(1) Bougeinville, Journal, 29-30 May 1768.
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ghould refuse them the favours which their own women were so
light-heartedly granting to the French, Baret confessed to
Bougainville that she was an orphan ruined by a lawsuit, that
she had taken to wearing men's clothes in order to get work,
and that curiosity had led her to join the expedition, Such
a statement tended to exonerate Commerson of any improper
complicity, However, Commerson, s widower since 1762, had
employed Baret as a 'gouvernante' since 1764,(1)y to look
after his son, so that he was clearly a party to the impersonagtiocon,
To conscle her, no doubt for the jokes of her shipmates, snd as
e reward for her devotion he left her 600 livres in his will, (2)

Bougainville, who records this incident in an impassive
style, does unbend sufficiently to record that 'one must agree
that, if the two ships had been wrecked on some desert island
in this vast Ocean, fate would have played a strange trick on
Baret, !

St. Germain adds this comment, 'I believe that this girl
will be the first of her sex to have circumnavigated the globe, '(3)
This can only remain a matter for conjecture, for there would
be few officiasl records of such unofficial passengers, but
Jeanne Baret is certainly the first known female circumnavigator,

0f greater moment, however, was the gquestion of sailing
into the great blank west of the New Hebrides, The ships were
in fact heading straight for what is now known as Queensland,

Elg de Montessus, Mart%rologe et—ﬁiographie de Commerson, p.l09 .
2) She disembarked with Commerson at the Ile de France and
later married a loeal resident, In his will, Commerson

also left a sum of money for the granting of an annusgl

(3) De 1s Ronciére, Routier Inédit, p, 237
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and for the Great Barrier Reef that was to bring Cook's
Endegvour so close to destruction a few years lster,
Fate, kind ss ever to the Frenchman, issued a warning to
Bougainville on June 4,

'At around eleven in the evening, the Boudeuse, which

remained a little ahead of us veered suddenly to starboard,
and fired several shots, which is the signsl of danger. At
once, we saw land to south by south-west, a short league

away. It seemed very low,.. At eight in the morning, we

sighted a small sandy island south by south-east, approximately

two leagues esway; it seemed to be at the most g quarter of a
league long and very low, '(1)

Carc called this reef 'l'ile des foux' - Gannet Island.
Bougainville gave it the more classical name of Diane Reef,
Bougainville places this reef in 15°31' south and 150946 east
of Greenwich, Caro in 15°35' south and 147°28'° east, However,
de la Girandais was not sure that the islet seen at 8 a.m, on
6 June was thedame as the one sighted on the previous evening
at eleven, in the intervening time the ships had sailed NELE
and WzSW. A further warning was given on the 6thy; The ships
had sailed west 3° south and seemed to be approaching land.

'In the past twenty-four hours, many pieces of wood and

some fruits have passed alongside, The sea is also much calmer,

I have no doubt that there is land to the south by south-east, '(2)

%13 Caro, Journal, 4-5 June 1768,
2) Bougainville, Journal, 5-6 June 1768,
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At 1,30 p.m, on the 6th, breakers were sighted covering
a wide area, and again at 35,30 'A third warning that I
should not persist in seeking land along this parallel,...

At half past six, I set course =8 NNE, ' (1) The latitude
which Bougainville gives for this second group of breakers -
15034 ' south - corresponds to the position of what is now
known as Bougainville Reef,

Thus, he turned away from Australia, which some of his
sailore already claimed to have seen, (2) It was agreed by
all thst it was unwise in the extreme to spproach any nearer
to this dangerous coast. Caro, on the Etolle, summed up the
general feeling on his ship when he wrote, 'it would appear
that this part of Newvﬁolland is as full of shoals and reefs
as the other,' (3) Bougaiaville, on the other hand, Tel?t it
inecumbent on him to Jjustify his decision at greater length.

'I had in mind to look for land along the parallel of 15
to 16 degrees south, though not because 1 am not convineed that
the land of Austrialia del Zspirita Santo is any other than
the archipelago of the Great Cyclades ... However, since

Bellin (4) places - I do not know for what reason - this austral

Bougalnville, Journal,6 - 7 June 1768,

23 tSeveral thought they had seen a low lying land to the South
west of the breakers, 'Ibid,,6 - 7 June 1768, It is so marked
on his chart.,

3) Caro, Journal, 6 - 7 June 1758,

§4g Jacques Nicolas DBellin (1703/1772) was the author of the
Neptune Francais,of L'Hydrograohic Frangaise, and of Petit
ItEas VMaritime the last two containing charts of most of
The coastlines of the world, He also drew the maps for
Abbe Prévost's Histoire G€nédrale des Voyages.
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land in 148° of eastern longitude (of Paris], I wanted to
advance as far as that point, which would have enabled me to

pay a tribute to the ability of that geogrsvher, or else to

pey a visit to a coast which, so far, remains unknown, If,

liowever, I base myself on the latest asstronomical observations
of M, Verron, I have passed the limit set by Bellin, since
yesterday at midday I apparently was in 146040' of longitude,
though according to my dead reckoning I was still 30 leagues
from sight of land, The consecutive appearance of these three
sets of breakers does not allow me to continue to seek here
the continent of Quiros, These approaches are in no way like
those mentioned by that navigator,.. These breakers, so great
in extent, announce a low coast, and, when I see that Dampier,
in this same latitude of 15035', forsakes the western coast
of this barren land, where there is not even water to drink,
and the approaches to which bristle with shoals and reefs, I
deduce from it that the east coast is no better.,, In addition,
these pieces of wood, these fruits, this seaweed, that we are
finding, the calmness of the sea, the currents, everything
tells us that, for‘several days, we have had land to the
south-east... I believe that it runs south-east and north-west
like the reefs that defend it. '(1l)

He sailed away, believing that this land offered no facility

for establishing a colony that would be of any use to the

(1) Bougainville, Journal,6 - 7 June 1768,
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metropolis, (1) for,practical as ever, and remembering de
Brosses, he never forgot the possible practical benefits
that might acerue from his voyage., It was a conclusion
that Cook was brilliantly to explode, but that the French
were to cling to for long enough to enable the British to
grasp a great opportunity; later French navigators, calling
at Port Jackson, were bitterly to regret France's failure to
seize the chance of settling Australis, Bougainville, however,
has a double justification for his decision to sail northwards -
his stores were seriously depleted, and the reefs were fore-
runners of the Great Barrier that would have led his expedition,
in all probability, to total disaster,

He might hage sailed round Carpentaria, through the straits
of Torres: Vaudgondy's map in de Brosses's book does show a
strait between New Holland and New Guinesa, but most peopnle
doubted the exi;ﬁence and the practicability of this strait,
since at the time there were only unconfirmed rumours of Torres's"
voyage., The maps of this area were sufficiently vague to make
him hesitate to go forward on the mere strength of Vamgondy's
uncorroborated opinion, for if he were wrong Bougainville would
find himself imprisoned in a wide gulf from which he would
only emerge after much perilous battling against the prevailing
winds, It was another risk that conditions on board did not
allow him to take,

Land was sighted ahead along the northern horizon on June 10

(1) Ibid.,6 = 7 June 1768-
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'extremely high in the interior, with magnificent lowlands
along the sea shore,'(1l) At first he found himself ecaught
in a bay - the Cul-de-Sac de 1l'Orangerie - which did not
appear safe enough to him to attempt a landing, He was now
at the south east tip of New Guinea, An attempt to turn it,
in order to make for the northern coast that would take him
to the Duteh settlements,was foiled for several days by winds
and by the fast current which flows towards Torres Strait, It
required arduous tacking to make any progress eastwards, and
then he found his way north barred by a succession of breakers:
Long Reef, Calvados Chain and the coral reef lining the island
of Tagula. The French could distinguish g series of islands
behind the breaskers and along the horizong they named this
the Louisiade# Archipelago, in honour of the ageing Louis XV.
Eventually, after a fortnight of wearying manoeuvres they
reached the end of the chain~Rossel Tsland - and hailed the
easternmost point as Cap de 1la Délivhrance. It was not a day
too soon - the food rations had again had to be cut down, and
strict measures taken to prevent the men eating the very leather
off the yards, It is St. Germain who, naturally, enlarges on
the growing famine, Towards the end of May, he had written
wryly that he had shared a rat with the Prince of Nassau, adding
'Happy we shall be if we can have one often, without the others
beginning to acquire a taste for them, ' (2) However, as the days

went by and conditions worsened, his moderate sense of humour left

him,

d¢, 9-10 June 1768, oee Map 16.
Ez; De la Ronciére, Routier Inédit, De 243,
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'For a long time, I had been asking the steward to give
me a list of what he was giving to M. de Bougainville,..

M, Duclos, the supply officer, in the presence of M, Vé&ron,
pilote observateur, and of M, Lavaisse, chaplain, told me

that it was none of my business and gave me no satisfaction,..
M. de Bougainville has eighteen people at his table,., (He) has
two cooks, a valet, two butlers and three negroes..,. I csnnot
prevent myself from pointing out here that, if it is hasrd for
officers to find themselves reduced to the rations of the crew,
it is much worse when they see that the commander never eats
with them, although he should keep no other table, '(1)

St. Germain tempers these dark insinuations by stating that
Bougainville receives only chocolate, barley water, milk and
eggs, in addition to the normal fare - so, presumgbly he
succeeded in discovering what the steward was giving the
commander - but, he adds, 'this food added to the rest makes
his state of health very different (from ours]; his complexion
proves this, and he enjoys a most satisfactory fullness of
figure, which is something of an insult to the lesnness of
our faces, '

It was & time when the most adventurous among them began
to reflect on the wisdom of embarking on such expeditions,

'0h, Bellin, how much are you costing us?' exclaimed Bougainville, (1)

(1) Ibid., p.244., See also Lefranc, Les Compagnons de
Bougainville, p,98.
(2) Bougainville, Journal,22-23 June 1768,
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when he was once more compelled to reduce the rations. Caro,
in his awkward style, echoed the choruses of 'never again.'
'I shall be well taken in if ever I have to make a second
time s voyasge around the world, '(1l) But, for St, Germain, it
was the ocecasion for a sour, but by no means unsound reappraisal
of the entire circumnavigation:

'We feel all the more keenly the careless manner in which
this passage has been prepared in that it is causing us to
lose the fruit of all our labours, Since Cythera, we have
discovered seversl lands of the finest appearance,..But, hard
pressed by the lack of food, we were unagble to visit any,
What can we say even about Cythera? Have we seen the interior
of the country? 1Is M, de Commerson bringing a list of the
treasures that it contains or may contain in the way of
natural history, plants or minerals? Did we sound the coast?
Do we know of a good anchorage there? Of what use is this
voyage to the nation? How desirable was it for us to have
been gble to travel further west? We might perhaps have
blazed a trail useful to the nation, or at least msde some
glorious discovery, The only thing I see, therefore, gbout
this enterprise is, so far, the heavy gost of fitting out
two ships ..."' (2)

St. Germain has been dismissed as a sick and embittered
man - which, no doubt, he was - but the gquestions he gsked

did require answering, for they must affect our Jjudgment of

(1; Caro, Journal, 23-24 June 1768,
(2) De la Ronciére, Routier Inédit, pp. 244-5,
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the contribution of Bougainville's expedition to 18th
century knowledge. We can dispose of his basic complaint -
that the ships were ill-gpprovisioned - by remembering that
this was France's first attempt at Pacific exploration, that
lessons had to be learned, and that the mistake was not
repeated, for considerable care and planning went into
future French expeditions, Bougainville, after all, was not a
sailor by profession, and he had little experienceAto g0 by.
Furthermore, his circumgnavigation was, in the magin, an
epilogue to a diplomatic dispute, a postscript to a squabble
between the great powers of Europe; as such, it was affected
by a time factor that allowed for comparatively little
planning, It was a gesture made by the king to a faithful,
disappointed courtier, and it would be churlish to complain
that it was not greater than it was.

The main criticism that Louis de Bougainville must answer
is whether, with the means at his disposal, he might have done
more, We have already seen that his published account éontained
¥ too few navigational details, and that his charts lack
accuracy.When he returned to France, interest in his voyage
centered on Tahiti, Very well! 'What can ie say even about
Cythera?' Not much, for sure, and much less would have been
said, had not Ahu-toru sailed on the Boudeuse, What the French
said about Cythera referred mainly to the willingness with
which the Tahitian women displayed the charms of natufe.

But what of the flora and the fauna of the island? It is

unreasonable to expect the French to have penetrated into the
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interior in the space of nine days, for the mountainous
interior of Tahiti is far from easy to explore, but when
we compsre Bougainville's expedition with lster voyages,
such gs Bgudin's and Freycinet's, we realise how little
information, how few specimens, the French brought tack,
Ste Germain is unfair to Commerson whose energy never
flagged, but Commerson died at the Ile de France, his notes
remgined lsrgely unpublished, and his ccllections became
partly dispersed,

Nine days in Teghiti shceuld, asc St, Germain suggests,
have enabled the ships' beats to sound the cosst, That the
gocd anchorage cf Matavai Bay and the better cone of Papeete
escapred their notice is unfortunate, even ify, a full
exploration of the coast could te ssid to fall cutside the
set purpose of the expediticn, But can Bougainville escape
altogether the challenge in St. Germain's often misqucted '0Of
what use is this voyage to the nation?'! - a challenge that
was only whispered, in view of Bougainville's populsrity and
charm? No doubt, en experienced ssailor and gecographer could
have done far mcre - but of how many explorers cculd the same
not be sald? What Bougainvillie did achieve was great encugh,

It is somewhat ircnical that, as St. Germain was penning
those famine-~inspired words, the Boudeuse and the Etoile
were on the verge of new and important discoveries, The
Louisiades had Teen a trial to them, but France was charting

them for posterity. Now, on the last day of June 1768, as the



NEW
BRITAIN
N
SNORTLAND Q f
/
TREASURY 1f s
/
/
’
/
— - e
-
I
|
|
|
]
|
WOODLARK
e i
- . l
. |
I
i
|
) |
, [
LI /
‘7 !
MISITMA !
V72 /?:w = o
p '
Ty pvtr /"a‘h l
o©
,, e '
; 7, ( ROUTE OF
s -~ % 8 - te
v, RPN ) ROSSEL, [ BOUCGAINVILLE
Vs s “
X S 1768
TAauL;;)/." .
Nel6a




- 169 -
ships salled in a northerly direction to avoid the danger of
meeting further reefsg, end of coming too clese to the north-
west coast of New Guinea, the French sighted land ahead -
land which did not appear on the existing charts, 'What then
is this land that stretches nearly up to the 8th degree of
latitude? The southernmosf part of New Britain snd of Dgmpier
Straits are {sic] at most in 6030'. I hope that shortly we
shall be gble to solve this gecgraphical problem,' (1)

But the problem was not to be solved until much later, -
and not by navigators, but by academic geographers, Bougainville
was in sight of the Solcmon Islands discovered by Alvaro de
Mendana exactly two centuries earlier, and not seen by any
European, except Carteret in 1767, since that time, But
Bougainville did not recognise them, ss=sucik, for their location
on charts wes erratic, and he was, furthermore, in a part of
the Solomens which Mendafia had not seen, When his account of
the voyage was published in 1771, the Solomon Islands were
shown as a small group north of Hoorn Islands, and to their
name was added the note: 'Whose existence snd position are
doubtful, (2)

The Boudeuse and the Etoile sailed first past the small
islands of Gannonga, Baga and Vella Lavells in the southern
group, then past the Treasury Islands in the southwest, (3)

and towards a larger island to the north, to which the French

ilg‘%gugainv%l%e, Journal, 30 June - 1 July 1768,
vés, states That the newl -discovered
'Dangerous Archipelago, ' Thgs was SD1y tho tome

resumgbl
name given on 4he Etoile,unless 1tP ably the temporary

(3) g. o4, is simply an error.Journal,
aro, Jou - >
streic rnal, 27-28 June 1768, reports seeing five islands

ng Irom -
the 28th, north-west by north to east gt 8 a
o, on
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gave the name of Choiseul, (1)

They attempted to anchor off Choiseul, but darkness and
the tide foiled the attempt, and the few natives they saw
encoursged them to sail away., The dark Melanesians were
obviously more warlike and of a less happy disposition than
the 'Indisns' of Tahiti,(2) Bougainville then veered to the
north-west, towards a larger island which still today bears
Bougainville's name, as does the strait that divides it from
Choiseul Island. They sailed along the northern ccast of
Bougainville Island, past the smaller island of Buka (3) which
they left behind them on July 4,

Two dayé later, they reached New Ireland where, at last,
they found a haven in a bay they called Port Praslin (4).
However, zs they were unaware of the discovery of St, George's
Channel, they believed themselves to be in New Britain; Carteret,
indeed, had preceded them, not only in St. George's Channel,
but slso at Buka, Port Praslin - or, as it is now known
Kambotorosch Harbour - was close to where the Englighman himself
had anchored a short time before,

A sailor, looking for cockles along the shore, found a
lead plague buried in the sand, with the remains of an English

inseription, Looking for further traces, they found signs of

(1) After César-Cabriel de Choiseul, duc de Praslin, minister
of the navy from April 1766 to April 1771.
(2) Bougainville, Journal,30 June - 1 July 1768, The French had
to fire in self-defence, and a number of natives were killed -
'Un grand nombre, ' says La Giraurdais, Journal,l July 1768,
(3) 'Three canoes with negroes surrounded our ship...They repeated
several times 'a boca, boca'; de la Ronciére, Routier Inédit,
P. 246, 'A boca' is a native call for attention, probably most
easily translated as 'Hey, over here!)
(4) It did not receive this name until later, The first name

chosen by Bougainville was Port Duverseau,

Journal, 13 July
176e8,
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an English camp, some three miles to the north, dating back,
they estimated, some four months,

Port Praslin had a good beach, four brooks, plenty of
firewood and no inhsbitants; the anchorage was safe and so
convenient that those on the ships and those on shore were
within hailing distance of each other; the sick could walk
along the beach in safety and even in the surrounding bush,
btut there was very little in the way of fruit,

.Each one busied himself, The ships were cleaned, stores
were brought up from btelow and examined, before being shared
equally between the Boudeuse and the Etoile; Vérron observed
an eclipse of the sun which enabled him to fix accurately the
position of the port, (1) Commerson botanised and the Prince
went hunting; a ssilor was bitten by a snake, while another
died of an illness which Bougainville takes pain to point
out was not scurvy, and which may have been the result of the
welcome at Tahiti, (2)

The food problem made it imperative for them to devart,
The last few days were marked by incessant storms and by an
earthguske; the stay had been a welcome bresk, but hardly a
plegsant one, It rained continually and their departure was
delayed for several days while they awaited an improvement in the

weather (3) Bougainville gave full rein to his ire,

(I) 4049727" south by 149044 '15" east of Paris, Ibid.,18-19
July 1768,

(2) 'His illness was complicated and had no relation to scurvy, '
Ibid., 10 July 1768, 'Une inflammation du bas-ventre,' states
Vivés, Journal, p.125. -

(3) Caro, Journal, 22 July 1768. The anchorage was called 'Port-
a-lg-PIluie; ' Vives, Journal, p, 125,
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'Shall I always have to write - bad weather, strong
wind, gale, continusl rain? Our crews are overburdened;

this land provides them only with an unhealthy air and an

excess of work...The only refreshments which the woods provide

us with are some lstania and cabbage palms, and even then they

are few in number and we must fight over them with enormous
ants, droves of which have forced us to sbsndon several of
these trees which we had already felled, '(1)

Before he left, he had taken possession of the island,
in spite of admitting that the British had got there first,
It cost nothing, end it was a gesture that would look well
when the French reported to Paris., The Englishman who had
anchored just north of Port Praslin had indeed left his own
inseription behind, but it had not stoodtup very long, since
the Freneh had dug up a fragment of it from the sand, St.
Germain duly set to work to claim the island for France.

'In the year 1768, on 12 July, we, Louis Antoine de
Bougainville, colonel in the infantry, captain of the King's

ships, commanding the frigate La Boudeuse et 1'Btoile,in the

name and by order of His Most Christian Majesty, under the

ministry of M, de Choiseul, Buc de Praslin, have tsken possession

of these islands, in testimony whereof we have left the present

inscription, corresponding to the Act of Possession which we

are taking to France, (2)

lg Bougainville, Journsl, 18-19 July 1768,
2) De la Roncitre, Routier Inédit, p.247.

<
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on the 24th, the ships sailed at last, leaving their
inscription to moulder into oblivion on an island which
the French had misnamed,(l) gince they were naturally
unaeware of Casrteret® discovery of St. GeorgelChannel,

Their route now led them north, not realising that they
could have shortened the journey by sailing westward into
St. George's Channel, They were frequently surrounded by
ecanoes from New Ireland or from one of the offshore islands,
and attacks by natives were not rare. (2)

Le Giraudaids underlines the freguency of these incidents:
'Every day there came to us canoces with 30 and 40 (men] to
try to capture us, and (they) were forced to return carrying
the wounded and the dead, sometimes the water around their
cgnoe was red with it, and some of their csnoes sunk to
the bottom with muskets and blunderbusses, They threw stones
on board as big as two fists,' (3)

Bougainville named these islands after his officers -
Duclos hed alresdy hsd a small island in St. George's Bay
named after him (4) it was now the turn of de Bournand
(Feni Island), d'Oraison (Tanga Island), du Bouchage
(Lihir or Lihur Island) and de Suzannet (Tabar Island),

each one in order of seniority.

(1) "We have at last left this barren and damp hole..,.The land
which I believe to be New Britain,..I suspect that we are
leaving the bay which Dampier calls Bay St, George, 'Bougain-
ville, Journal, 24-25 July 1768,

ge; E.@s Caro, Journal,entries of 27 to 31 July 1768,

3) La Girandeis, Journal,28 July 1768, La Girandais's spelling
is as erratic as his gyntax.

(4) Bougainville, Journal, 6 July 1768,
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By early August, the ships had turned the northern
i5land of the New Ireland chain, and were making practically
due west towards the Dutch East Indies, They sailled north
of the main Admiralty group until they were close to the
Tgquator, It was Commerson'’s turn to give his name to an
island - and his, Sae, still retains it today, One island,
which they sighted on the 8th, part of the Kaniet group,
appeared to support a large population, to judge by the
number engaged in fishing, and as none of them stopped work
to approach the ships or seemed disturbed in any way by the
strange vessels, Bougainville named 1t Anchorites Island,

On the following morning, a line of low islands appeared,
'well wooded, but protected by reefs, Disastrous encounter,
T have named this chain of islands 1'Ecliiquier, '(1) This
unwe lcome chain of dangers was the Ninigo group, north-west
of Manus Island.L'Ile de la Boudeuse is Liot Island, and
several islets shown on the chart to the west of it may be
an approximate indication of Wuvulw. Bougainville was now
sailing on a south-westerly course and, on the 1llth, land
was slighted to the west by south-west, which was obviously the
northern coast of New Guinea, (2) It was therefore necessary
to seek a more northerly latitude, to avoid it, and he spent
the remginder of August close to the Hguator, Meanwhile, scurvy

was spreading rapidly and, by late August, the surgeons counted

(1) Literally: the chessboard of the excheguer, but, in fact,
a reference to a line of ships in bow and quarter line
arrangement, Bougainville, Journal,8-9 August 1768,

(2) Caro, Journal,l0-11 August 1788,
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forty-five cases,

'Each day brings new victims, What food, good Lord, is
ours! Small guantities of putrid bread, and meat whose smell
can be suvported only by the most dauntless, once the salt is
soaked off it., In any other circumstances, our salt provisions
would all be thrown into the sea., ' (1)

The Etoile was forcing the Boudeuse to take in sall;
the flute was wallowing and creaking abominably, 'That ship
is not going at all well,' commented Bougainville, (2)

'People have long argued sbout the location of Hell, frankly,
we have discovered it,' (3) On 19 August, they killed and

ate their last dog; on the 24th, the first death from scurvy -
that of Denis Coutoux, the boatswain (4) - was reported; on
the 26th, they finished the last of their vegetables. (5) Yet,
in spite of all his troubles, Bougainville was still able to
appreciate a fine tropical night and to round off his log with
a poetical ﬁhrase.

'The night was more favourable to us, thanks to Latona's
daughter, whose silvery light enabled us to tack between the
rocks and the islets.' (6)

Bougainville, Journal, 12-13 August 1768,
Bougainville, Journal, 14-15 August 1768,
Ibid, 36-17 August 1768,
Told, ,23-24 August 1768,
Tbid. ,25-26 August 1768,
Thid, , 26-27 August 1768,

P RN
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A few days later, the long struggle around New Guines
was ended, for he reached Ceram Island, the first of the
Moluccas. Hoping to get a good reception, he flew a Dutch
flag, only to find the place deserted - the natives were in
revolt ageinst the Dutch company and, taking the French ships
for a punitive expedition, they had fled to the hills, There
was nothing for it but to sail on to the next island - Buru -
where an important trading post of the Dutch East India Company
was established, It was, strictly speaking, out of bounds to
all except Dutch ships, but Bougainville's written request for
help was accepted, and during the six days' stay, he took on
board rice, oxen, sheep and other supplies - highly priced but
badly needed,

The two ships sailed from Buru on September 7, but the
French were not yet at the end of their troubles, although
their first contact with Buropeans since they had sailed from
Buenos Ayres nearly ten months earlier was pretext enough for
celebrations, (1) The Dutch had refused them a pilot to assist
them through the labyrinth of islands that lay in front of them,
and the vague French charts they had on board were more likely
to confuse them than to help them, It was the policy of the
Dutch to keep out all intruders, and to defend their monopoly

by publishing no information about East Indian waters, and by

(1) September 10: Julien Launzi died, having been attacked by
scurvy. 'He was beginning to convalesce; two bouts of brandy

killed him, ' Bougainville, Voyage de la Boudeuse, pp.320-1,Carc

Journal,l0-11 September 1768, reports this and